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Passionate about

animal care

CVS Group plc is one of the leading
integrated veterinary services providers
in the UK, the Netherlands and the Republic
of Ireland. Our success is derived from
the passion our people have for providing
excellent care for animals.
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Operational highlights

» Our people have demonstrated resilience and
continued excellence throughout the year despite
many challenges across our industry

- As well as offering first class care to sick or injured
animals we are continually improving the levels of
preventative health care through our Healthy Pet Club

+ Qur annual Quality improvemen report reflects
our commitment to pattent safety and consistent
clinical improvement, and has gained us significant
recognition in the profession, not least by our regulator
the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons ("RCVS"}

+ We are committed to enhancing the clinical
services we offer, particuiarly in the quality of
our facilities and as such we have completed
13 refurbishments and relocations in FY21

» We have continued to organically grow our revenues,
supplementing this with nine synergistic acquisitions
during the year

Read the report at
cvsukltd.co.uk



THANK
YOU

CVS cares about the contribution
of our colleagues and we want to
thank every single one of them
for their extraordinary efforts to
provide the best possible care
for animals, and for delivering
exceptional performance across
all our business areas.



CVS
‘Thank
Holiday’

In recognition of the
support that we received
from colleagues during
the initial COVID-19
lockdown period, we
offered all our colleagues
an additional day’s

holiday in December 2020.

Early
bonus
payment

in March 2021, to
recognise the significant
efforts of our colleagues
in recovering from the
COVID-19 pandemic, we
made a partial early
bonus payment to clinical
colleagues and gave
shopping vouchers
to all colleagues.

‘Holiday
of a
lifetime’

In April 2021, we ran
a prize draw in which
all colleagues who
successfully referred a
friend to work for CVS
were entered into a prize
draw to win a ‘holiday
of a lifetime’. This was
won by one of our
valued nurses.

Wellbeing

Our people are our
biggest asset and they
have demonstrated
resilience and dedication
over the past year. We
improved our wellbeing
offering in 2021, rolling
out a new dedicated
Wellbeing Hub
with support and
resources available
to all our colleagues.



Highlights

Financial highlights'

- Profit before income tax increased by 234.3%
to £33.1m from £9.9m.

+ Leverage® fell to 0.68x from 1.1dx as a result of
strang EBITDA growth and reduction in net debt.

Revenue increased by 19.2%, ta £510.1m from
E427.8m, with strong Group like-for-kke? growth
of 17.4% benefitting from favourable market
dynamics and a continued focus on providing
high quality care 1o our clients and their animals.

The Group delivered adjusted EBITDA growth
of 37.3%, to £97.5m from £71.0m, through an
increase in revenue across all divisions and
effective management of costs.

« Cash genevated from operations decreased to
£80.3m from £94.8m despite the increase in
adjusted EBITDA, due to VAT and taxes deferred
in the prior year due to COVID-18, paid in the
current year.

Revenue (Em) Adjusted EBITDA" (Em) Adjusted profit before Adjusted earnings
income tax® (Em}) per share® (p)

£510.1m £97.5m £66.2m 751p

+19.2% +37.3% +73.3% +78.8%

2021, 5104 2021 975 2021 662 2021 75.1

2020 4278 2020 710 2020 38.2 2020 42.0

2019 | 406.5 2019 ! 54.5 2015 | g 201 ' b6

2018 | 327.3 2018 ! 476 EER 360 2018 uaL

2017 | 2718 017 ! b2 3 2017 ! 335 2017 * 428

Proposed dividend Cash generated Profit before income tax  Basic earnings per share

per share (p) from operations (Emy) (Em) ()]

6.5p £80.3m £33.1m 27.3p

n/a -15.3% +234.3% +237.0%

2021 65 2021 80.3 2021 334 2021, 27.3

2020 nlo QDEDj 4.8 2020: 9% 2020, B

2019 55 2019 j 521 20 M7 2019 1.6

2018 5.0 2018 | 46,7 2018 | 4.1 2018 ( 16.0

2017 1.5 2017 a2 2017 4.5 2017 185

1 Agusted financial measures (adjusted Earmings Be'ore Interest Tax Depreciation and Amorusaton { adusted ERITOA), adjusted proft hafore income tax

&%)

al

and achusied eamirgs per snare) are definad pelow. and reconc leg o the finanoial measwres defined by itespzhionasl Financ,sl Reporing Standards
{IFRS T on pages 90 and N8 IFR3 16, 'Leases’ has been applied prospectively ana, tharafoie yvagrs 2016 and oo are all stated bofore the impact of IFRS 16

<pasted for the number of warking days Far exarmole,
ke caloulanens

Like-for-like sales shows revenue generated fram hike-for-like operations comparedto the poer vea
for a practice acquired in September 2019, revenue s Included from Septenper 2020 10 the [ke-io

Leverage an a bank test basis s drawn bank debt iess cash at bank, dwided by adjusted FRITNA anruatsed tor the effect o acguisitions, Ncluchng costs
relating 1o business comb nations and exclud ng share option costs, priarntg the adopton of IFRS 16

Acusted EBITDA (Farnings Befare Interast, Tax, Depreciation and Arnorusabiont s prof £ hetore ncome “ax adistec for interest (net finance oxpeniise).
deprecianon amortsatian, costs relaling 10 business combinatiors and exe merma. Adusted FRITDA 5 useud a5 a fng noal netng that removes
e cust of debit, costs relatng 1o depreciation and amorisabon and co2-01 Losty o acneve J orrehseu earmgs Tgure that s rot aistorted oy
ireegqular tems or structural iInvestment

Adjusted profit before ncome tax s cafoulated as profit before amortiSEToN, WxaLGN COSts ielat My 10 busie s cumpiranons and exceptioral tems

Adjusted earnings per share s calouiated as adrusted profit befara income tax fess appl cable taxanon aviazd by the we ghted aversce numne”
of Qrchinaty shares in issue in the yaar
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Strategic roadmap

Delivering our
vision for the future

Our purpose

Cur purpose is to give the best possible care o animals

Our key strategic pillars

1.

We recommend
and provide the
best clinical

care every time

2.
We are a great

place to work and
have a career

Discover more about our strotegy on pages 22 and 23

Qur values

Customer focus

Our dedication to our
custormers is at the heart
o our business and we
are focused on our
customers” and therr
anwnats’ needs

Underpinned by our commitment to Environmentai,

Commitment to
excellence

Wea consrantly strive
10 actueve The ighest
possible standards in
the gualty of services

and products we provide.

Social and Governance (*ESG™)

Read more about our approach te ESG on pages 42 to 48

2 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021

Qur vision

Qur vision is 1o be the veteninary company people

rmast want to work for

3.

We provide great
facilities and
equipment

Success through

our people

We agirm 1o attract, develop
and retain the best people
and to be the veterinary
company people most
want to work for.

L.

We take our
responsibilities
seriously

Honesty and integrity

We treat our colleaguss
and custormers with
honesty and respect. We
strive to achieve fong-term
relationships with our
customers and suppliers,
and ensure safety and
accessibifity in all areas

of our business.



At a glance

A fully integrated veterinary

services platform

Breakdown of revenue

854% 5.3% 1.5%

Veterinary
practices

Qur first-opinion and
referral practices provide
specialist treatment for
COMPANIoN, &quineg and
farm animals. We provide
high quality healthcare
either when required, or
through our preventative
healthcare schemes- the
Healthy Pet Club ("HPC™)
and Healthy Horse
Programme ("HHP").

We also operate buying
groups, a veternnary
consumable business,
“Vet Direct”, and we
supply a number of
ownr-brand medicines
and products.

Laboratories

Cur taboratories provide
diagnostic services to
CVS velerinary pracuces
and third parties. We
offer an extensive range
of tests with the ability
1o talor specific probles
to our customers’ needs
Qur team of pathologists
and experts specialise in
a variety of disciplines i
all areas of the laboratory
and their aim is to offer
alevel of service and
expertise beyond our
customers' expectations.

Crematoria

Our crematoria provide
pet cremation and
clinical waste services
to CV5 practices and
third-party practices,
and cremations o
animal owners.

We offer a range of
services to help our
clents remember

and say gaodbye

o their pets

Discover more about our operations on pages 28 to 35

* kevenue share before intercompany sales between practices
and othar divisior s.

Our locations

We have a sohd geographical spread across
the UK and a presence in ihe Netherlands
and the Republic of ireland.

Key

Vetenrary practices (h08}
Laboratorigs (3)
Crematona (7)

7.8%

Online retail
business

Our online retall

business, "Animed Direct”,

sells prescription and
non-prescription
medicines, premiurm
net focds and an
ever-increasing range
of pet care products,
which can be delivered

directly to oLr customers’

doors, saving them tirme
as well as money.

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021 {
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investment case

Foundations are in
place for future growth

CVS is a high-performing business with
a fully-integrated model which positions

it well for further growth.

Market

Sizeable end growing
mMarket wih consumers
spending mare on
ther pels

Discover more about our
markets on poges 13 to 15

Strategy

Ciear, pecple-focused
strategy to drive
arganic growlh

Discover more about
Qur strategy on pages
22and 23

Business model

Fully integratec modelwith
fyar-opin on cracices,
supnorted oy specalst-lec
rriviti-ciscipimar s referral
hosgpitals, taboratones,
crematoria 37 an onling
retat buzness

Discover more about
our business medel on
pages 16 and 17

4 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021

Sectors

Attractive sectar which has
proven resilient despite
COVID-19 restrictions

Discover more in our
Operational review
on pages 28 to 35

Management

Strong rmanagerment team
with a broad range of
experience and expertise
of which 50% of our
Executve team are
VETBINATY Sufgeons

or nurses

Discover more about
our Board of Directars
on pages 58 and 59

Acquisitions

Increased opportunity for
acquistions 1o supplement
organic growth

Discover more in our
Chijef Executive Officer’s
raview on pages 9 to 11



Strategy in action

We recommend and provide
the best clinical care every time

Service quality
is driving
client value

During the year, we have made efforts to reduce the prescribing
of Highest Priority Critically Important Artimicrobials ("HPCIAs™),
for which we have been internationally recognised. Thanks to tne
excellent work of CVS practices, we now have an evidence based
framework for reducing HPCIA prescriptions in companion animat
practices. The CVS Antumicrobial Resistance pelicy is shaping the
approach to antimicrobial prescnbing across clinical and
laboratory teams, and this framework will be used Group-wide,
with the hope of realising benefits on a larger scale.

This ts just one example of how we recommend and provide the
best clinical care for our patients, which 1s one of the reasons for
our high client loyaity.

+8.4% +c.31%

Membership of our preventative Cases seen by our specialist

healthcare scheme, Healthy Pet referral hospitals have grown

Club, has grown 8.4%, by ¢.31% compared te FY20

te 450,000 members

+c.23%

QOur companion animal and
new client registrations have
increased by ¢.23% in 2021
compared to £Y20

CVS Group plc Annual Report and Financiai Statements 2021 |
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Chairman’s statement

Well positioned to deliver further
growth in shareholder value

66

CVS has emerged as a stronger
business in light of actions
taken to manage the business
through the COVID-19
pandemic, with excellent
growth opportunities ahead.”

Richard Connell
Chairman

& | CVS Group plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021

Introduction

When i wrote to you tast year, CVS was emerging from the
first phase of an unprecedented period of disruption caused
by the COVID-19 pandemic. Over the past year, we have
continued to face challenges but have taken a number of
apprapriate and decisive actions as a Board. Through this
effective leadership, combined with the orgoing dedication
of our colleagues. { am delighted that CVS has demaonstrated
the resifience of its business model and has emerged as a
stronger business with excellent growth coportunities ahead

The fundamental strength of CVS is our people and this has
been & key factor in cur strong performance over the past
year CVS colleagues have contmued to work tirelessly to
provide high quahty care to our clients and thelr patients
and, on behalf of the Board, | would ike to take this opportunity
to thank them all for their hard work and commitment.

Strong financial performance

CV5 has delivered improved financial performance in the
past financial year as a result of positive momentum in
trading across the Group

We generated revenue growth of 19.2% which reflects strong
organic growth, with like-for-like sales increasing by 17.4% for
the Group. This reflects an increased chent base and our
contnued focus on delivering rugh quality clinical care. We
completed nine acquisitons during the financial year and
revenue of £68.1m was generatea from these (2020 four
acquis't ons with revenue of £4.3m).

Cur adjusted EBITDA increased by 37.3% to £875m
(2020, £71.0m) reflecting good performance across all
areas of our business and ciose control of expenses
Adwsted EPS increased by 78 8% 1o 75 1 (2020: 42 0p).

Profit before income tax ncreased by 234 3% to £33.7m
(2020 £9 9m). This dual benefit of the increase in revenus
and tne careful management of costs has resultea in a
significant improvement in returns. Basic £PS 'ncreased
by 237.0% 10 27.3p (2020: 8.10).

We contnued to generate strorg cash flow from aperations
of EBO 3m (2020. £34 8r), with the year-on-year decrease
of 15.3% due to the repaymem of VAT of £35.0rm 1o HMRC,
which was deferred from 2020 under the COVID-19 VAT
Deferral scheme.



Strategic progress

We have a very clear purpose to provide the best possible care
to animals and this is underpinnad by our vision to be the
veterinary company pecple most want to work for.

In recognition of the assential part our colleagues play in the
success of CVS, we have continued to review reward and
henefits across CVS to ensure we remain well positioned to
retain and attract the very best talent In the profession. We also
support employee sharehoiding in CVS and, with this in mind,
we Increased the discount to 20.0% for our latest employee Save
As You Earn scheme which launched in November 2020

We centinue t¢ expand our colleague base in response 1o
the Increased demand for our iIntegrated veterinary services,
particularty in light of a growing pet population. In the year
ended 30 June 2021, CVS employed an average of 7,241
colleagues (30 June 2020: 6,761) including 1,262 veterinary
surgeons {30 June 2020:1,781) and 2,548 nurses (30 June
2020 2,359) who we support through cur comprehensive
training and development programmes.

We have delivered strong underlying financial performance
over the past yvear from a focus on organic growth through
the delivery of first class clinical care. We continue to invest
In improving our practice facilities and clinical equipment,
completing 13 practice refurbishment and relocation
projects in the past financial year. We have also announced
plans to create a specialist, multi-disciphnary referral hospital
in Bristol and look forward to welcoming our first clients to
this new facility in 2022.

Alongside our focus on organic growth and our continued
investmenrt In pracuce and clinical facilties, we are well placed
to make further acquisitions of first-opinion veterinary
practices. Acquisitions can widen our offer of high guality
and integrated vetennary services, whilst augmenting cur
organic growth, positioning CVS well to deliver further
growth in shareholder value over the medium term.

Governance and the Board

We remain comrnitted to the highest levels of corporate
governance and, as an AIM-quoted company, we voluntarily
adopt the FRC UK Corporate Governance Code (2018}

We are committed to ensuring we have the right balance of
skills and experence within the Board. In July 2020, we
appomnted an acditional Non-Executive Director, Richard
Gray Richard is the Chair of the Nominat.ions Committee,

Our Senior Independent Non-Executive Director,

Mike McCollum has announced his intention to stand down,
after serving for eight and a half years, and will leave CV5 at
the end of his current service agreement, which expires on
23 September 2021 On behalf of the Board, | would like to
take this opportunty o thank Mike for his tremendous
service and to wish him every success in the future.

The Nominaticns Committeg is proposing tnat we

appoint David Wilton as a new Non-Executive Director

on 24 September 2027 to replace Mike McCollum as Audit
Committee Chair Davidis a Chartered Accountant and has
a wealth of expenence in senior financial roles, most
recently as Chief Financial Officer of Sumo Group ple. In
light of Mike McColluny's departure, Deborah Kermnp will
become the Senior Independent Director.

On 16 August 2021, we appoiniad Jenny Fatrer as our new
Company Secretary Jenny s a Chartered Governance
Professional a1 has a weaith of experience in company
secretanal roles

I armn delighted to welcome David and jenny to CVS.

In the yvear, we consulted with major shareholders on
governance and other matters and, in ight of their feedback
and independence considerations, | stood down from all
Board committees with effect from 30 Aprl 2021

Dividends

The robust performance celivered over the past year
demanstrates both the resilence of our bus.ness and

the strength of our Integrated veternary services model,
The Group continues to be hignly cash generative, and
despite continung strong levels of investment in facilities,
equipment and acquisitions m the year, we reduced our net
debt by £11.9m over the course of the year.

In light of the improvements in financial performance and the
continued strong cash generation, the Board 1s recommending
& return 1o our progressive dividend policy, with the payment
of a final dividend of 6 5p per share (2020. £nil).

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021 | 7
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Chairman’s statement continued

Shareholder engagement

During the year, the Directors regularly held one-to-one
meetings and calls with existing and potential new shareholders,
hosted a number of roadshows and attended saveral virtual
broker conferences.

We appointed MHP Communications as our financ.al pubhc
relations ("PR”) agency 1n the year and we will continue to
develop our shareholder engaagement and regorung in line
with best practice The Executive Directors beld the Group's
first ever live webcast of the Groun's interiin results
presentation i March 2021 and we will cortnue (o nresent
future resuits 'n this way, with a replay facility availabie.

Qutlook

The veterinary sector 1s undergong stractural growil,
through a number of continuing trends inclucing the
humanisatuon of pets, an increase »n the demand for
cornpanion arimals acceleratec by COVID9 restrchions,
consumers who are keen o provide the best possble care to
therr pets and clinical enhancements which are ncreasing
the range of services we can offer 1o achieve tre hest
potential outcomes

Our fully integrated veterinary services madel, witn first-on.ron
veternary practices supported by speciahst referral hospitals,
laborawories, cramatora and cur online retal busmess alf
nosiron CVS well 'o benefit from these favourable sector

and consumer irends Through our improved financia!
performance and strengthenad balance sheet, we are viell
placed to invast furthar in our people, our tacilities and climeat
eguipment, and in selective acqasicons to drive growih and
enhanced returns

As we continue to expand and develcr cur basiness, our
focus will nghtly remain an attractir g and tetainmg tie L ery
best telent and working as & tean e prov oz the hghest
qJalty care ta our clients and ther animals

i look forward w th conficence to a successfll

futare

Richord Connel}
Chairman
23 September 2021

8 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021

We care by taking a leading role in driving
standards and responsible practices across
the profession

Inour companion animal practices, we are using
an evidence-based framework to report on
antibiotic prescnptions and promote responsible
prescrining of antimicrobials. We encourage our
practices to participate in ‘Farm Vet Champiors’,
sponsored by RCVS Knowledge, a chanty pariner
of the Royal College of vetermary Surgeons. This
anline learring platform supports farm vets to
establish good antmicrobial stewardshp In
equine practices, we are working to baseline
gnd benchmark prescribing aata and develop
antirnicrobial stewardship guidehnes



Chief Executive Officer’s review

Care at our heart

66

| am immensely proud to lead
our team of highly skilled and
committed CVS colleagues who
provide outstanding service to
our clients and their animals.”

Richard Fairman
Chief Executive Officer

Introduction
| am pleased to share our 2021 Annual Report and
Finarcial Statements.

We have celivered a strong performance in the past financial
year. Ouar businass model has proven to be resilient, despite
the difficult backdrop of COVID-19, and we have asrich a
propesitior as ever, focused on providing the very highest
stancards of clinical care. This .5 all due o the efforts and
collaboration of our outstanding team of colleagues.

Taroughout the past year, we have had to respond to
evolving regulatory guldance and new ways of working in
order to provice ongoing care to arimals, whilst keeping
our colleagaes and chents safe

I would ke to take this opportunity to thank all CVS colleagues
for therr professionalism, sheer hard work and continued
commitmeant to providing the highest levels of service.

Favourable market and consumer trends

We nave seen a continued increase in pet ownershio in the
past vear and whilst there s no definitive pet population
data avallable, results of a recent survey published by the
Pel Food Manufacturers Association indicate that ¢.3.2 milion
UK households have acquired a puppy or kitten since the
start of lockdown restrictions and that there are now over
24 mitlion ¢ats and dogs in the UK. Thisis clearly a positive
trend for CVS, and whilst there are short-term benefits
from first consultations, vaccinations and in some cases
neutering procedures, we anticipate the benefits to be
recognised over the mecwum term as these puppies and
k'ttens reach t1er rmature stages of life and reguire more
vetermary nlervention,

We continue to see a favourable trend of humanisation
of pets, with consumers willing to spend more on locking
after their animals. In rmany households, pets are seen as
a core member of the famity and as with human health,
improvements in chnical diets and advances in clinicat
treatments avallable are likely to lead to increased Iife
expectancy of pets

CVS Group plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021 9
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Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Favourable market and consumer trends continued
Our fuily integrated veternary services model pos.tions CVS
well to benefit from these favourable market and consumer
trends. Our first-opinion practices provice access 1o advice
and clinical care and our preventative pet heaitn scheme,
the Healthy Pet Club, provides regular vaccinations, check-
ups and flea ana worming treatments. Qur spacialist-lecd,
rmulti-cdiseiphnary referral hospitals provide access to
advanced procedures where required and our in-house
laboratories provide an increasing range of diagnost ¢ tests
in support of our first-opinicn and specizlist clincal teams.
Our online retall busingss provides a large rarge o pet focd,
drugs and other products and our cremator.a orovide a
compassionate and vatued end-of-iife service 1o our chents

Strong financial performance

We have delivered a strong financial performance in the
past year, with revende of £510.0m iepresentng an ncrease
of "9.2% over that achieved in the orior year. This reflects a
17 4% ncrease in ike-for-tke sales. Adjusted BB DA increased
0 £875m, with all divisions cortributing to this 37 3% increase
over the orior year,

This rmproved financal perfermance coupled wath continued
good operaticnal cash conversion led to a reduction
leverage to 0.68x at 30 June 2021 (30 Jureg 2020 114x).

Strategy

Our purpose is 1o provide the best possible care ro ammals
and our integrated veterinary services are key 7o enabling
this Cur integrated model and cur breadtn of skils. sarv ces
and facilities position us well to provide outstanding care to
our chents and their an.mals.

Qur highly skilled and dedicated weam of clir cizns and sapport
colleagues are at the centre of cur strategy and our vision g
to oe the veterinary company necpls n ost want rg wark for,
Ve are commtted 1o making CVS a great placs 10 work ana
have a career and we canunue 1o develos our reviard and
herefits to engure we reman weill pos uoredd 1\ 2 2o oer tve
rarketplace. Our leading Learmeg, Edacavar ard D=vslopment
team have deliversed sigrificant anlne training mear he past
year N suppart of our colleague deelomment,

Ve prde curselves on our tigh cincel standarde and reman
focused on recommerding ana providing the best cln ca!

10 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021

care. Retaining and attracting the very best veterinary talen:
is clearly key to this. but we also recognise the need for
continued mvestment in our practice faciities and climical
equipment. | am gelighted that we have completed 13 practice
refurbishments/relocations in the past year and we have
mvested £3 8m in new chnical equipment.

Cur focus en delivering organic growth through our existing
operations will continue to be augmented by the selective
acquistion of veterinary pracuces and the investment in
axisting and new facilities. We made nine acquisitions N the
past year and | am dehghted to welcorme our new colleagues
to CVS. We also announced plans to open a brand new,
state of the art multi-disciplinary referral hospital in Bristol
and | lock forward to the opening of this new facility in
2022 This new facility vl allow us 1o continue to provide
specialst suppor: to our clients and their animals for more
complex cases, complermenting the first-opinior services we
provide in CVS, This will also increase the services we supply to
thrd-party practices

Recruitment of more clinicians

We have expanded CVS aver the past vear and in the year
ended 30 June 2021 we employed an average of 181 (10.2%)
more vets and 189 (8.0%) more nurses than :n the year
ended 30 June 2020. Notwithstanding this increase, we are
keen o recruit more clinicians to support our growth and
are advertising for a numiber of new positions. This has the
effect of inflating cur veterinary surgeon vacancy rate which
s caloutated as the number of vet vacarcies divided oy

the total number of roles (being both employed vets and
new vacancres,.

RCVS consultation on legislative review

We have peen proactively engaging with the RCYS as a
husness for some tirre, for changes in legizlation that would
allow our hughly skilled nurses to perform a greatar range of
procedures without the need for vet sunervision

Ve are delighted that the RCVS undertogk consultation on @
nJamber of proposed refarms to the Vetenrary Surgeons Act,
1966 (the Act). including proposals to enable nurses

to undertake a broader range of procedures such as feline
casirations. We actively particicated in thiz consLitation process
ana we broadly support the RCVS reform recommendations
which were formally approved by the RCVS Counclor 10 June 2021,
We now encourage the government 1o suppor these reforms so
that revsed legislaton can be enacted



We care by supporting vets from the very

start of their careers

We ran the first fully-pard, three-week Summe' Campin
August 2021 to enhance oppartunities avarable 1o 1ew
starters in the profession The vets who participated
received a week of residential training and a wee« w thm a
practice, witn operating experience. This was suppo: ted
bv a week of applied onling learning, uelivered through tne
CVS Knowledge Hub, our online Izaruny, euuzat.cn and

development platform

Sustainability and ESG

Qur focus on providing the very best possible care to our
clients and their arimals and our focus on making CvS a
great place to work and have a career are central
components of our strategy.

The Board of CVS is acutely aware that today companies
must alse be managed so that wider society benefits from
their business operations and services. Whilst CVS has always
taken its broader societal obligatons senously, we have
recently begun the process of understanding our iImpact on,
and the wider contribution we make to society, in order 1o
ensure that CVS becomes a truly sustainable bus ness focused
on delivering value to all of our stakeholders. This nitiative,
which commenced in the second half of this financial vear,
builds on our mission and purpose and will, over time, evolve
into a fully costed and measurable ESG strategy.

we describe this approach as "Care at our Heart”. having
worked toidentify and articulate the core priorives for all
arms of our business, using Irternal interviews and analysis.
Tha concept of “care” rescnated strongly across these
discussions - we arg, of course, a business that provides
best-in-class clinical care But care, in its broader sense,
goes to the very heart of what we do.

As a Company, we strive to reflect this in the work we do. Care
isin our DNA, and it 1s the founaation of our ESG strategy.

- We care deeply about protecting the wellbeing of our
colleagues, and equipping them with the support,
resources, training and access to personal development
opportunities that they need.

+ We care about driving standards of clinical excellence in
the profession and providing the best possible health care
for animals.

+ We care about making a positive impact in the
commurities in which we work.

+ We care apout doing our job in a way that s sustainaole
and that doesn’t compromise the natural environment.

- We care about delivening value for our investors by
doing goad.

As a business we have made a number of changes to
progress our sustamability agenda, and we are extremely
committed to further development in the future. | am

delighted that our stakeholders are egually committed to
making demonstiable charges and through working
together, | am canfident that we will deliver meaningful
mprovemearnts goross all aspects of ESG within CVS.

We nave outlined some of our progress in this Annual
Report and | look forward to sharing further developments
Ir due course

Wellbeing and mental health

As a carng eniployer. we are committed to supporting
our colleagues in ther wellbeing and mental health. Given
the challenges over the past 18 months to our working and
personal ives from the COVIDA19 pandemic, wellbeaing and
mental health supportis more Important than ever

We continue to cevelop ways to support all colleagues and
we now have ovar 300 First Aiders for Mental Health' across
CVS who are actively champloning wellbeing and positive
mental health across our business.

We launched a -ange of new iniiatives over the past year
supported by our wellbeing ambassador, Sally Gunnell OBE.

Outlook

With sur imaoroved financial performance in the past year,
continued strong cash ‘low and strengthened balance
sheet, CVS s well positioned for further growth and to
benefit from the favourable market and consumer trends,

We will continue to focus on organic growth through
providing great care to our clients and animals and through
further investment in our pecple, our clinical facilities and
our practices This organic growth can be augmented by
further acquisitions and we have acquired a further eight
practice sites since the financial year end.

Our highly s<illed ana dedicated team of colleagues are
kev to our business and with their continued support and
dedication. | ook forward to sharing further success in
the future

Richard Fairman
Chief Executive Officer
23 September 2021
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Strategy in action

We are a great ploce to
work and have a career

Helping our
colleagues
achieve their
full potential

We are committed to supporting our colleagues in their
career progression, and to retaining and devejoning
the best talant in the vetennary profession. Creating
opporunities for diverse and rewarding careers s a key
part of our strategy and we have an m-house careers
team who can help any colleagues looking for a change
of direction, location or career progression This helps
us not only to attract news talent, but also to retain our
existimy colleagues.

i Spring 2021, we ran ar additional rewards Drogramme
which saw all colleagues who successfully recommended
a *riend to wark at CVS entered into a free draw to win
the holiday of a fetime Thus was waon by ane of cur
valued nurses.

196 10,675

Live courses on Views of clinical webinars
Knowledge Hub in 2021

First Aiders for Mental Roles filled by internal
Health in our business condidates

12 | CVS Group plc Annuoi Report and Financial Statements 2021

Percentage of roles filled by internal candidates
CVS Exec

Clinical Directors
Head/Lead/Seniar Vet
Fractice Directors
Practice Managers

Head VYeterinary Nurses

Head Receptionists

Student Nurses

0% 20% 40% 0% 30% 100%



Market review

The UK veterinary market
continues to grow

The veterinary market benefits from the tailwinds of increasing
pet ownership as we change the way we live and work.

Increasing pet ownership Market size (£bn)*

- Thereis a growing pet population, with ¢.24 millicn 75 79
cats and dogs in the UKD &5 6.8
+ Demand for pets has increased due to lifestyle changes;
¢.3.2m UK households have bought a pet since the
start of the pandemic.
2017 2018 2019 2020

Growing focus/spend on
animal care

« There is a growing trend towards humanisation of pets,
resulting in an increased average spend on pet care
and products.

© PelFood Manulaciurers Asseciation 2021
2 www statista com, stalshos/s08266,consurner-spending-on-pets-and-

« 58% of dogs and 41% of cats have sorme form
of insurance’, giving owners affordable access
to veterinary care, especially in emergencies.

- Great veterinary care, particularly oreventative care,
enables owners 1o maintain the social benefits of
pet ownership

- Advances in clinical care provide access to & wider
range of treatments.

We provide integrated care throughout the life cycle...

Typical life expectancy of 12 years for a dog (1417 years for a cat)

1-3 years 3-8 years 8 years +

First-opinion practices servicing whole life veterinary care requirements

Online retait business food sales

Laboratory tests

Specialist referral interventions

Compassionate end of life care and cremation service

CVS Group plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021 13
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Market review continued

Market drivers 66

and responses

As with human health, better
clinical diets and advances in

the clinical treatments available
should lead to an increased
life expectancy.

A growing UK Advances in
pet population veterinary care

- The UK pel poputanion has grown in the nasf 18+«
ronths yeth COVID-1G locs down Rsinst ans

chlzads 15 furtrer
& nffenng pet

Contowed scient! cres
INTES (N vRtE INAr Y

resudting v an ncreased demand fo canare avanety af teatrment
SOmpAnOn amrmats

Lerients 1 rrhinolngy have advancedd
ipantfonng 2l telemed oine and remote
ahst dhagnesic Tage interpratation
ardaeiviae

L,k‘ s
pupy since th& sart of !oc

2 mote afrordable and
J the world are able to
caners We provide support

hons

« This rorease N e bet popularonis a ot o K Pland OF

rnarket driver notust e snorttern v.h' SrLLsin cur Vet Uracle oLsiness
frtens and prppies e va ral
check ups gt some casas el

~ificantiy in the medun and longer ternm 35

fhm becarmne nature grirrals requisrg msie
VRIENINAT Y 1 1erveniion

Qur approach

» e ndctrue onwest nooaar chne are, ofter ng

netestyslearng Ztmical traming, ara we

f liur= 2 renamvending the hest
et o chents

Our approach

Aeconuroe o exzanr

sontes of camnanne 3o ah

< e nromdda 3Canss W e et AT S0 Y

fth, Bet Chor

ur s essiul e

sl equizment
a5y and state of

c\asqe: mar, ST e Lorent

Link to strategy

Regd rore onn

Link to strategy
22and 23 Fesnecreonpages 2 and 23

1 3 1 2 3 L]
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s for thew animals

Availability of vets to
perform services

There continues to be a shortage of vetennan
slugenas and, o alessar extent, nurses 10 the UK
These shortages ware more pranoureed follovera
<he Brext referendurn result in June 2018 whieh
ricreased the level of uncertaimty for EU vets al'eady
wor<ing In the UK or considenng moving ta the UK

In respanse 1o 1his shartaga, te Uk Government
rainstated the vetannary surgeon onto the UK
Shortage Occuganon Lig2in 2018 making it easier
tg emelay ovarseas verts frotm outside the EY

The RCVS have alsa now confirmed that pest Brex 1,
vatetnary surdgeans wha have gquahfied oo the Su can
Come 10 wol < im ihe LK provided they nave aualifen
fromi European AssoCation of Fstabhishments io-
veterinary Educaten "EAFVE ' accradited
instituticns without any -emedial rain'ng

The rumber of veterinary schnols o tne UK has
increased to nine currertly with propesals for a Nuithe,
thres recanthy announced The numiber of gradaate
wers aach vear contioues to Mcrease as a rasult

The RCYS has recently underiaken a consultanan on
proposed reforms o e Yeterrery Surgeons Act 1865
winck, arnonget other things wouala enable huobly sk fied
nurses e undertake a broader rango o procedures
WWIthOUT ireCt vetermany SUTQecn sUpPervIsIGn

Our approach

We cont nue o pul o péaple st wth au ve oo
gecomre the vetenrary company paople maost want

“nwigrk fror

vie have mplemented many mimatives with the
arm of ataciing new collsagues a~d -earung
ouF keIt relurheg enharcen
wellbe ng rascurces

vie cont rue to entiances
2 Developme
lleagues i ordar to en

professicnal developrent

cur _san
=1 N sJpoort of cur Zineal
o thay cornrusd

e conlrue 1o roniter our ma n KR et ve' vacancy
ate along w1~ rackirg colleague satisfacon
emplo,ee let Promntar Soore

Link to strategy
Raad mere on pages 22 and 23
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We care by supporting veterinary surgeons

around the world

Vet Oracle is a specialist-led team that accepts digital CT
and MRI scans from first-opinion practices for diagnostic
interpretat:on and support with treatment plans. The latest
tecnnology enables the team to support and mentor vets
and imaging technicians across the world, providing fas:,
high-quality reporting and glidance even on non-urgent
cases. This innovation and knowledge-sharing helps to drnve
clinical standards for the veterinary profession as a whole.

Online purchasing

+ Increasingly our customers are switching to
shopping online for ther pet food for
convenience and to okbtain the most
compeatitive price

« Whilst the majonty of our clients purchase
drugs in our practices, they can also purchase
drugs cnline

Qur approach

- We continue to explore opportunities wthin
our online ptatform, Increasing our wensite
capabilites and ensuting we have sustainakle
campetinive pneing

Wwe have invested in and launchea a new
Warshouse INanagemnent Syster (o Improyve
the efficiency of our arder fulfiment

« We aie reviewing new opporiunities to expand
our online offering to our practice customers

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 22 and 23

1 3

Consolidated market

- The UKard Buropean vetennary matket
cont.nues to consoldate and ¢ 30% ¢ the
comzanion animal UK market 1s ncw ownead oy
the six larges: corporates

« We recogise the impaortance of privately
cwned indepenaent practices

« whare private practice owners are lookina to
sell wie are well posmored o acguae furt

Our approach

©We continug tainvest nou ntegratad
monel and support organic and select ve
ACQUISITIvE glawth

+ Durmg the year we acou oo n ne pract Ses
prmarly focasing arcomnarion anmals

- We supoort iIndepercen: orachces througn
our buying groups, our laboratones, out
refarral spacialists, our vet Oracle service
and our crematona

- We will continue to lock o further scquist oo
opportunities which are valee accretive

Link to strategy
Read more or pages 22 and 23
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Humanisation of pets

- The Fet ndustry has cenet tted trom the
humamsation of Sets N recent vears as pets
are trestec ncreasngly as companions

- Inthe ecent PDSA 2020 PAW report, 1t was
renc-ted that Healthy pets make hapywy
owners” with

« 4% of pet owners say.ng owning o peat
rmakes them hapy,

356% of pet owners saying owning a pet
rrproves mental nealth; ard

84% zaying owing a pet maxes them
less luneky

Qur approach

« e contnue to have a culture of igh qualty
care and w.th our INtegrated structure we 0an
orovice all reand animal care, Fom first-

orman, specialist ceferrals, cagrasns testing,

1yerdof e care and crematora

« e gegerstard the eimotional bond botwaeen
our customers and ther pets and the wider
social banaf 1s of pet ownership With
advances in clinical care and our ntegrated
mwdel we can support our clierts thraughbour
trer pets ves

Link to strategy
Fead more on pages 22 and 23

1 2
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Business model

Competitive advantage through
our integrated veterinary platform

.
Our inputs Integrated veterinary platform
Passionate people Vee have a fully integrated mode! with first-opimon veterinary practices at the core
We employ dedicated professionals of our business, suppored by specialistded multi-disciphnary referral hospitals,
who are committed (o exceller: our own diagnestic lanoratones, our network of crernatoria and our onhine retart
chimoal care. busness for pet food, medicines and pet care products. Through our fully
7,211 ~tegrated model, we can provide high quality end-to-end care to our clients

Employees and ther patrents.

1,962

Veterinary surgeons

2,548

Nurses

Financial strength

We continue to dellver groswt i revends,

adjusted EBITCA and urderlying cash rabora ton‘es
genergted frem operatiors &

£510.1m & Q

s )
Revenue 6\"‘ct Re, 2
o )

e
‘_}@
b § L [
£97.5m gw 5% %, 3
Adjusted EBITDA § § 2
£80.3m o First
Cash generated from . opinion
operations Z
®
%
J\OA

a3
S 5 L8
. .. .. /4] \2\ ~
High quality clinical care <
£l of our practices are reaisterent with
the RCVS Prachice Stendaros 3cherres I,
andd wo are comrmitted @ invesing S
m and using modon aiagrostic 8‘-’95!’19 Group®
tecimigues Woomvest 1 chmesd
g g and aovanced olabfications

95

Veterinary specialists

-
—
-

Customer focused
Crar collragues are dedcaten 10 provairg
agualty serv.oowitr e hignest levels of
~ugomer and cincal cars

450,000

Healthy Pet Club members See our Operational review an pages 28 to 35
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i ii
A vertically
integrated
platform with
veterinary
practices at
our core ‘

« Humanisaticn of pets .
with consumers willing
to spend more

Strong barriers to entry

High quality integrated
clnical care

Operating in

a sizeable and
growing market
with resilient .
characteristics

Increased population of pets

i
Supplemented by
prudent capital
allocation

Investiert in nov facllities and
equipment, and Increase In
clinical specialists, to drive
arganic growth

Opportunity for accretive
acguisitions

« Progressive dividend policy

« Recurnng robust revenues

Scale benefits

Stakeholder value creation

Employees

Reward and benefits are kept under regular review 10 nsure we romain
competitive As a thank you to all colleagues we gave an addibenal
day’'s hoiiday in the financial year

Considerable career pragression opportunities across chnical

and leadershm roles

Access to an industry leading Learning, Educatior and Development
programme — a ~umber of courses were avalable online cunng the
frvancial yes)

Cortinued investment i practce facil ties znd enhanced chincat
eyuipment

Enhanced ratermity pay to support colleagues in starting a family
and ther returning ta work

Comprehensive wellbaing programme with resources and
suppert avalabie

Insurance cover provided throush corpolate memibersh p of tne
Veterinary Detence Socisty

Customers

Access to first class 24/7 veternary care from our first-omimion
pract ces, Our out-of-hours cantres, our specialst-led, mult-disciphnary
referral hosttals and our laboratories

Increasing range of advanced chnical procedures avallable, with aur
pefpatetic advanced practitioners offening ar wncreasing range of
services In the clents' local pracuces

Prevantative health services through our Healthy Pe: Clib (HPC™)
and Healthy | lorse Pragramme ( HHP}

Canvenience of purchasing per food and medicotion online

Advica or 8 wice range of ssees including selecting the nght et
and caring for them,

Shareholders

fncrease i shareholder value through ncrease in share proe over
the financial yeat,

Retui 1 to progressive divdend policy

Increased aceess o managemsent and improved communicator,

Find out more in our financial
review on pages 36 to 40

Shareholders continued

+ Changesir Execative redncrat on o better align with shareholder
value creaton ove the rred um and longer term

+ Inereazed focas o Justamat iy ana ESG aligned to

shareholder imia-ests

- Consultation with major sharenelders urclertaken .n the year

Industry bodies

Regular contact wi~ ROVS and ather industry bodies

Participatior i RC: S Erasns ndards Scheme oy 2l CVS praclices

T RUCVE 28 part of ther recent consaltat an on
the Velgninary Surgeons Act 1866 with written
~torthis corsultation

FLilengagerient vy
proposed resorms
subzrmission from CwS

Pubi:cation of a=nueal Goabty Ireprovenrent regort 1o promate
IMProveMme!its aloss the profeesion

« Laison wilh ROYS o wollberng arc ESG matters

Community

Our hirst-gimicn praclices srovide 2n important service intar
local comarunt es

v Access 1s provided o ceaf of snits througn oar Sign Vioeo services
1M 100% of our camcan oman ral practices i the UK

+ Colleagues raiss rmaney for our chanty of tne vear whizh s chosen
by colleaguns O3 male an coual donation to Vet Life, acha ty
wh ch supports veronmary colleagues in wellboing and mental heatrh

Suppliers

- Far wrarhng lerms with oo suznl ers which promotes the collecive
interest of CYS pns aur sunpher base

Regular mestn
are algned

ot senl rarsygement teams o ensure Interests

Supmlers comtnue 1o bene® 150 the growth of TS orgormically
and thraagh cur ooy © acgusitions,

Erngagement nn L5 macers to ersure collect ve improvement

Find out more in our stakeholder engagement
report on pages 18 to 21
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Section 172 statement and stakeholder engagement

Creating
value for our
stakeholders

Section 172 statement

Our Secuon 172 statement sets out how the Board has
had regard o the matters sef oatir section 1721} (@) o
it} of the Cornparies Act 2006 {"s1727) in carrying out
1ts duties over the course of the year The Company's
puUrpose, vision and strategy are urdearpnned by the
codified duty to promote the success of the Company
for the benefit of its members as & whole, whilst having
regard to the matters set cutn s172{11, bawg

a) thelikely consequences of any decisicr (i the
long term,

k) the interests of the Company s employees,

o) the needto fosier the Company's business
relationships with suppliers, customers ard others;

4} the impact of the Company’s operations onthe
comrawnity and the anvironrment;

ey the desrrabiity of the Company mantaining a
reputation for high standards of Lusiness corduct; and

fi the reedto act fairly betwaen members of

the Company.

The underlying principles set out in 3172 form the basis
for deciston making by the Board The Board has
wentified six key stakehalders who are eszental to
delvery of the Company's strategy and ichg-term
success of the Group, detaits of which are st out in
the following pages. Durng the vear tne Boarg Fave
met more frequently to focus on siakehalder neeas,
and i particular the needs of our customers and our
salleagues durning the COVID-19 panca~ns,

Engaging with our stakeholders for meaningful impact
The six key giakeholders wenuhied by the 3020 are at the
hear: of what we do, being our empioyess, our Customers,
aur snarenolders, our ndustry bodies; our corimianity: anag
our suppliers Itis of the hignest iImpor-ance 1o Js that we
engage with all of our stekeholders meanirgfully, toinform
dectsion-making and ens.are we provide vatue n all aress of
aur aLs ness. it is challenamag <o ercare ail o° our stakeholders
have the same experence with the Groun due o our wide
range of locators, operatons and rofes, therefore, we promote
an orgoing dialogue with all cur stakehoizers to enable Js to
affectively act on feednack, and we foster & culture of nonesty
and integrity
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Employees

Why we engage

CVS proudly strives to be the veterinary company that
jpeonle most want to work for. By engaging with our
colleagues, we can understand their motivations and
work with them to maximise colleague engagement
and welfare Our focus is continuing to providse our
colleagues with the flexbility and support they need
1o develop their cargers

How we engage

We issue Group-wide correspondence in the form of
weekly emails, a monthty magazme and gquarterly video
briefings, which are 1ssued in English and Dutch with
subtitles, to improve access bility Usually, we host an
annual conference, however this was delayed in the year
due to COVID-19,

We actvely monitor our colleague satisfaction via

our employee Net Promaoter Score, which 15 updated
manthly. The score is broken down on a divisional basis,
and business leaders seek feedback m response to
changes in the score.

Althougt much of our day-to-day engagement with
colleagues is delegated to local teams, a Non-Executive
Dirgctor regularly meets with our golleagues 1o discuss
key matters

Qutcomes

Cur colieagues have proviced a lot of valuabie feedback
over the past year, with all of our people facing
uncertainty as the COVID-19 pandemic continued. We
hosted live question and answer webinars throughout
the year with our Cheef Executive Officer and Chief
Operating Officer, and our colleagues’ questions were
answered in witing in the monthly company magazine.

We expanded the Vet Oracle telemedicine servce after
faedback from our clinical colleagues that they wanted
miore access o referrals advice.

In what has been a difficult time for our colleagues
acrose the basiness. we Nave INCreasen Ul resourcas
support colleagues in rmanaging ther welibema. Thig
ncludes iImplementing Wellbeing Champions, providing
First Aid for Mental Health traimning, and launch.ng a new
wellpemng partal with free access to webinars. zlongside
our existing Employes Assistance Programme.



Customers

Why we engage

Custorners are increasingly expecting the highest
quality care for their animals. We provide this not only
through the customer experience but also cur high
clinical stancards and quality of facilities.

We engage with our customers to ensure we are
meeting therr high standards of service, and to identify
opportunities to improve client service.

How we engage

Alongside contact within our practices, we regularly
communicate with our customers through a varety

of channels such as social media, email and airect mail,
promoting animal wellbeing in addition to discounts
and benefits. We also track our customer Net Promoter
Score monthly.

Outcomes

We continue to invest to ensure we can offer our
customers a complete pet care service, from first-
opinion clinics and referral centres, 1o pet consumables,
in-house laboratary testing and crematoria. Many of our
acquisitions are strategically placed to improve the
service we offer to our customers, whether it is covering
a broader range of locations, or providing enhanced
services, such as out-of-hours, to existing practices.

We have Invested i improving our practices, Including
a new open-plan reception area designed to iImprove
customer experience, which we have implemented i
oUr Ramsgate veterinary practice, and a new flagship
referral hospital with cutting edge facllites and
equipment, ncluding a specialist stereo-tactic linear
accelergtor, which will open in Bristol in 2022 This will
help us treat a larger number of cases.

Shareholders

Why we engage

We actively engage with our shareholders, sharing cur
imvestment case ana communicating our future plans,
to ensure the Group's strategy 1s aligned to the interests
of its sharenclders.

How we engage

We engage with our shareholders through our Annual
General Meeting ("AGM”}, conference calls, one-to-one
meetings and investor roadshows. We have cngoing
dialegue with our shareholders and value their
feedback which s discussed at Board meetings.

We kaep the Investor section of our website up to date
to provide timely updates about CVS and its activities.

Inchvidual shareholders are encouraged to contact
Directors on all matters relating to governance and
strategy via the Cormpany Secretary.

Qutcomes
At the 2020 AGM, 100.0% of resolutions were passed and
votes in favour ranged from 751% 10 100.0%.

We have engaged MHP Communications, a Financial
public relations firm, to assist with improving our investor
relations exparience, engaging more closely with current
and potential shareholders. As part of our improvement of
investor relations, cur Executive Directors toox part in our
“rst ever live weocast of our interim results announcemeant
in March 20271, meiuding a ive guestion and answer session
with analysts

During the year, we attended eight investor conferences
and have undertaken vrtual nvestor roadshows i the UK,
Europe and the US,

Wwe consilted with major shareholders in the year on
governance and other matters and, in light of thair
feedback, Richard Cornell stood down from all Board
committees with effect from 30 Apnl 2021, Read more
about this in our Corporate Governance statement on
pages 60 1o 84,
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Section 172 statement and stakeholder engagement continued

Industry bodies

Why we engage

We aciively engage wiint our industry bodiies the RCVS,
the British Veterinary Association ("BYA") and tne British
Veterinary Nurses Association ("BYNA"), to oromote
Innovaton and advancement with i the veternary
industry. This helps us to ensure we are up-te-date with
chinical guidance and maimtain a reputshion fer high
standards of business conduct

How we engage

We engage with our regulatars over a wide range of
issues. During the COVID-19 pardemic we provided our
vets with the resources to interpret and follow the RCVS
and BVA guidance. Where appropriate, we hola meeirgs
with the RCVS, BVA BYNA and Vetermary Defence Society
to discuss key Issues and share initiat ves end
improvements across the industry

Outcomes

in March 2021 we released our third Quality Improvement
{"Q") report. upaating our stakeholders on clinicat
guidance frorm the industry

In the year we have engaged with the RCVS gunng their
consultation on proposed reforms 1o the Veternary
Surgeons Act 1966 1in Aprl 2021,

in Apnil 2021, some of our people end practcas were
recognised by the RCVS with a Knowledge Award which
recognises championing ihe use of Ol methodology.
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Community

Why we engage

We regularly engage with the communities in which
we work to understand how we can support them.

By engaging with our communities we enhance the
anvironment in which we work, promote arrployment
satisfaction in cur operations and keep our
cammumties informed.

How we engage

We have a charity of the year, which 's chasen by our
colleagues: in 2021 tig 1s the Brinsh Divers Marine Life
Rescue. Th-oughout the year we hold regular
funaraising events frorm bake sales in local pract:ces

to Group-wide promoted events such as our
‘Steptember virtual dog walk in September 2020 which
ralsed awareness for The Cinnamon Trust, our 2020
Charity of the year

Cur practices also engage witkin their local
comrrunities, providing key care to animals for a
number of smaller charties.

Outcomes

Our colleagues raised £22.000 for cur 2020 Chanty of
the year, which was matchad by CVS in a donation to
Vet Life

We have implermented a number of initiatives to lessen
our Impact on the envirpnment. For example, our seven
pet crematona sies have pledged to offset therr carbon
foatprint by planting one square metre of Brtish natve
woodland for every pet they directly receive for
ndridual cremation in 2021,



Suppliers

Why we engage

We engage with our supplers to deliver ongoing
benefits to our businesses, collaboratvely finding
operational and sustainable improvements and
delivering improved value.

How we engage

We have a stable suppher base in our wholesalers and
manufacturers, regularly communicating with them
1o promote our relaticnship. Our supplers are Invized
to attend our annual conference to understand our
business, engage with other key stakeholders and ask
any questions they may have.

Qutcomes

We are proud to have long-term relationships with

our wholesalers and manufacturers. Through these
relationshins we can generate consistent custom for
our suppliers, In return achieving mutually favourable
terms on purchases. Over the past 18 months we have
had appropriate communication with our suppliers,
ensuring they were paid on time and were able to
celiver sufficient product despite the impact on global
supply chains duning the pandemic.

Improved protective equipment for
Equine vets and nurses

We recognise that Eguime clinical work carnes

a fugh risk of injury to both vets and nurses.

We have peen working hard to reduce this,
particularly by improving training for cur clinical
colleagues in understanding where the risks lie,
and improvirg their horse handling skills. To
help to mitigate the leve! of ris< that remains in
carrying out day-to-day tasks, we have taken the
decision to supply all our vets and nurses with a
pearscnal protective helmet for them to wear
durng cerzain orocedures, identified through
detailec risk assessments.
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Link to risks
Sead rore onczyes BOto 87

Strategy

Our strategy for growth

1

We recommend and provide the
best clinical care every time

Our strategic objectives
« We have a culture of recommending the rast possinle
trreatments fo our clients

We delver industry-lead rg clinical trarrg

We are comumitted 1o evidence-hasad maedicing and have
chuast gualty improvement framewor <

= We ensure uur cliniclans nave access to the nignt
medicires st the nght time

Qur achievements in the year

» We rave once again publisned our annual O Report
reflecting our commitment to leading the vetenrary
professtan n patient safety ara promotrg a culure of
learning ana devalopment amongs: colleag. s

New industy-leading techmaues nave seon molermoened
ACIGSS QI Braclces

Esiehlisred processes ale w place 0 inte e se Mo
refarrals and attract third-perty referraly

- We have expanded cu poolof advanced
per patetic prachtioners

Outlook
+ Weare working hard te drve imcreased legsl: of
nreventalive neslthcare.

Market drivers
o Agraw.rg U< pet nopulat oo
= Agvances in vyeter nary .aig

« Rumansans: of pets.

nk to KP, IS A B C D E F G H | J K
d~creon Sere; 241027

1 3 H & 7 ? 1t 12 13
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Link to risks

2

We are a great place to
work and have a career

Our strategic objectives
Ve create opoortuntes for our pecnie to bave a diverse
and rewarding career,

Ve are as flaxible as possible i all our roles.
- e nave the best leaders withn our Dusinesses

» e offer the best learming, education and developrnent
n the profession.

Our achievements in the year

< Inthe year ended 30 June 2021 we employed an average
of 1962 veterinary surgecns (30 June 2020 1,/81) and
2,548 nursas (30 June 2020 2,359).

- We gontinue to montor our Key Performance Indicator
"KPI") ermployee Net Promoter Score {"aNPS”) which
tracks our colleague cngagerent rnenthly across our
business arcas. Durng the vaar, this score ingreasaed by
314 3%. Read more aizout this or page 27

« We have placed 189 new emplovees through our highly
suecessful refer-a-friend scheme.

we have filled 845 roles withirternal candidates

« Ve have partnered with the Uriversity of Nottngham
w0 deliver a ‘our-year accredited gradugte pregramme.

« We have created ard accredited certificales in leacership
and management for our leaders

« We have mplemented enhanced berefits for our
colleagues from 2021

Qutlook
« We cortinue to improve our ‘ndustry-leadmg Learning,
Ecucatior and Development platform, the Knowledge Hut.

Market drivers
A growing oK oet populaton
- Advances nvalennary cate.
- Avalapility of vets to perform sery cos

« Humansaton of pets

nk to KPIs a B C C E F G H J K L
drorecnpages 281027

12 3 w 6 N 12 13
Zead more on payes 50 to 57



3

We provide great facilities
and equipment

Our strategic objectives
We ensure all our practices meet RCVS Practice Standards
Scheme (*PSS™) accreditation standards and aspire 1o
achieve further RCVS awards

We invest in our cstate to ensure all our facilities meet
excellent standards.

We are expanding our network with high quality facilines

We develop new ways to serve our clients and our patients.

Our achievements in the year
During the year we acquired nine new practices which
complemented our existing portfolo of practices.

We alse completed 13 practice relocations and
refurbishments, including our Innovative reception and
waiting area design piloted in our Ramsgate surgery

We have invested in state of the art equipment for kevhole
neutering in 40 practices.

We are cormmitted 1o enhancing the quality of our
on-site facilties.

Outlook
Our senior chinical teams are launching and providing
training on new technigues across our practices.

Our flagship specialist veterinary hospital in Bnstol,
opening in 2022, will have specialists in every disciplne
and cutting-edge equipment and technology.

Market drivers

« A growng UK pet population
Advances Iin veterinary care,
Availability of vets to perform services

Consclidated market.

LinktoKP|]s & B © D E F G H J K 1
Read more on pages 24t 27

Linktorisks ' & & 4+ 5 & 8 9 n 12 u

Read mare on pages 50 to 57

L

We take our
responsibilities seriously

Our strategic objectives
We are making ou- Group as environmentally sustanahble
as possikle

We implement the best levels of health and safoty in
tne profess or

we priciinise the wellbeing of our pecple.

We engage with the verennary profession and support
s interests.

Our achievements in the year
Our new colleague wellheing initiative saw a further
76 colleagues tramed as workplace Nrst Aiders for
Mental Fealth, Dringing our total to over 300 tramed
Wellbeing Crampions

We contributed 1o the RCVS consultation on legislative
eform of the vetor nary Surgeons Act 1866.

« Durng*he year. we swirched our JK mainland electricity
supply to 1C0% fully rarawable energy sources.

« We have included a range of wellpbeing resources on the
Knowledge Hu, whick are avaitable to all of our colleagues
on dernard

Outlook
We are worng wth our insn and Dutch suppliers to secure
Group-wire sustaimable energy

o CVS works closely with RCVS Knowledge, the char'ty
partner of the RCYS <o help premote its missicn 1o
‘advance tre qualty of veterinary care for the benefit
of animals, the puslic ard society’

Market drivers
- Avalability of vets to perform services.

« Humeanmsaticn of pets

LinktoKPIs # 8 ©€ b E F 6 H J K L
Read mo-e or pages 24 to 27

Link to risks 1 2 v 5 & 7 ¢ 10 N 12 13

Read more or pare: 50 to 87
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Key performance indicators (“KPls™)

Financial KPls

Ensuring

CVS tracks
and monitors
the correct
KPls, both
financial and
non-financial,
is key in
measuring
our success.

1oAnLsted hrarcial m
powesd EBITDA a7
rcEDre NoCmMe Aax Ao an ucten
aar~rgs ner shacel are sefirad -

lsiaterarts and

taanan s s the fimane al

edsdras defired ovinterar nal

al Raporung Starsarts

FRRRS, 0r 03des ST U

SUtES

thefirane

Znom

Link to strategy
Read Toreon 0ages 22 and 23

(A) Revenue
(Em)

£510.1m

+19.2%

2021 510.1
2020 427.8
2000 L0865
2018 327.3

2017 2718

Why it’s a KPI

RevarLos akoy measure
of nerfor~arce across alt
aivisions of e Group and
asmonsirates ow abilty 1o
tract ard relan custoners

2021 performance
o Cwverall rever ue ras

moreased by £82 3m

+ Lkeforlke revene,
adiustad [or atercompary
sales elm rationg,
ncteased £72 3m, w
ASYLIs'tians 11 e vear
and ta full vear impasct
of OROr J2aT acaustors
generatng addiional
reven s of £10 0m.

The Zroup
cigriic

T35 seEn
th

ery from
anderuc

the COLVID
rlaring el
Orowt i el
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' (B) Like-for-like
. sales (%)
|
\

174%

+2,385.7%

2021 174
2020, 07

201 5.2

208 | 4o

2017, 63

Why it’s a KPI

Like-for-like sales shows
revenue generated from
lke-for-ike operatlions
compared ra the pror year,
adjusted for the number of
working days. For example,
for a practice acquired in
September 2019, revence is
included from September
202010 tha lke-for-lke
calculatiors This shows the
underlying growth in revenue
across all divisions excluding
. The impact of scquisitions

2021 performance

+« Lke-for-lke performarnce
reflects the Group's
recovery from COVIDAG,
8% temporary practice
clasures during 2020

I Imited growth 'n the
peIor year

- Increaseq pet cwnership
has also contributes 1o
naoreased ike-for-lke sales

|
|
|
;
|
|
\
|
l
|
\
1
I
|
|
|
|
|
|
|

(C) Adjusted
EBITDA' (Em)

£97.5m

+37.3%

2021 ! 975
2020 | 710

2019 . 54.5

2018 w7

2017 | 42d

Why it's a KPI

Adjusted Earrings Before
Interest. Taxation,
Deprectation and
Amortisation (“ERITDA")
axcludes casts relating ta
busmess combinations and
exceptional iterms and
assists in understandirg
the underiying performance
of the Group

2021 performance

- The improverent in
adjusted EBITRA refiects
the Improvemert in
like-for-like adjusted
EBITDA of £28.3m, with
acquisitions in the yvear
and tne full yaar iImpact
of prior yaar acausinons
genarating addrmional
EBITDA of £18m

« Thus s partly offset by an
incraase in central costs
of £3 8~ inzurred to
protact our colleagusas and
chents and to contrually
build a foundaton for
furtrer developtnent and
expansion of the Sroup



(D) Adjusted
EPS' (pence)

75.1p

+78.8%

2021 75.1
2020 2.0

2019 4.7

208 e

2017 | 428

Why it's a KPI

This s profit before iIncome
rax adjusted for:
amaortisation. costs relating
to business combinations,
and exceptional items, net

of the notienal tax inpact of
these, divided by the weighzed
average number of shares.
Adjusted EPS is a KPI because
it assists In understanding the
underlying returns generated
for our shareholders

2021 performance
The increase reflects the
increase of £28.0min the
year In adjusted profit
before income tax!'

(E) Total capex
(Em)

£16.6m

+33.9%

2021 16.6
2020 Fan

2016 i 129
2018 | 107

2017 | 13.8

Why it’s a KPI

This 15 the total armount

spent by the Grouw on

capital expenditure, Capital
expenditure 1s incurred on
refurbishment and relocation
of practice facilities and
investment In new equiprment
and clinical facilines Investing
inour practices and chnical
equipment |s key to
achievement of our strategic
goal of providing great
facilities and equiprnent.

2021 performance

- Total capital expenditure
has increased by £4.2m.
consisting of a £0 bm
reduction in mamntenanrce
capital expenditure and
af47mincrease in
development capital
expenditure, with the
focus onimproving client
expenence and on
growing our business.
Refer 1o the financial
review or pages 36 1o 40
for further detait.

(F) Gross margin
before clinical
staff costs (%)

76.1%

+0.8%

2021 76.1
2020 755
2019 76.2
2018 796
2017 79.8

Why it’s a KPI

Gross margin represents
revenue after deducting tne
cost of drugs, laboratory fees
and crematon fees, and
other guods sold or Lsed by

- he business, expressed as 3

percentage of total 1evence
Crogs margin s a KRl

© because it helps us 1o

moniter and measire our
abil ty to purchase drugs al
*he hest poss e pr e whilst
ensuring the highest qualty

2021 performance

« The increase in g oss
margin s prncipally aue o
Gdr foouys on providing
grea: clinical care

(G) Cash
generated from
operations (Em)

£80.3m

-15.3%

2021 :
2020
2019 1 521

80.3
Q4.8

2018 - 467

2017 37.2

Why it’s a KP{

Cash generated from
operations shows the casn
nflows pefore. paymerts

of income taxation and
interest, business
combinations, purchases

of property, plant and
equipment and ntangikble
agsets; renayment of right-c*
Jse assets, payments of
dimdends, debt 1ssue costs;
ncrease/repayment of bank
lnans; and proceeds from 1ssue
of shares Delivery of increased
cash gererated from
operations allows Us fo invest
In furtner growth osportanities

. across our business,

. 2021 performance

Cash generated from
cperations has decreased
due to payment in the
year of the tax deferred
under tne COVID-19 tax
deferrat schemes whicn
were accessed across the
UK and the Netherlands
I the prior year

The Board s connident that
the cash generated from
operations s performngin
lIme with its expectatons and
N a manner wnich continues
to eranle investment
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Key performance indicators (“KPls™) continued

Non-financial KPls

Tracking our
non-financial
measures allows
us to monitor our
performance
against our core
strategic goals.

o

This ne y-fir
U

moral Eelahgng wath
o) datos el
fo for four yests

These ron-fnans 2l KFs al o
w1 our stratagy, however data
15 ol avalasle for tao vears
Net Premoter Score measuies
cusiome erd colleag e
EXIENENCE YSNTG NG arswer 1o a
Ley auestion Thesw fkely 510 that
23l recommenc CF57
13- rcale kerp
el UE NG A wWe.Gny

Link to strotegy
Pagd ~ore onoooges 22and 23

(H) Vet
vacancy rate’

8.3%

+20.3%

2021 8.3

2020 69

2019 91
2018 13

Why it’s a KPi

Tre yot vacancy r21e s

calc lated as ke average
nunber of hve vet vacancies
arvidea ov ke wotal number
of vets bv headaccunt plus
vazarcies This shows the
avetage level of vet vacancés
for the Gi NG the
percd s ks 10 our

Vs on of be ng the veteanary
COMPERY PNESR'E Mast want
T work for

2021 performance
Tre vel vacanc, rate has
mzroased n 2027, as we
arz adveitiz ng for a
namber of new positions
T3 sUPROTt aur growih due
To o creas ng dersana for
CUr SErACES
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|
|
i
i
!
|

() Healthy Pet
Club members

450,000

+8.4%

2021 450,000
2020 415,000
2019 401,000
2018 ! 362,000
2017 306,000

Why it’s a KPi

Heatthy Pet Chab s our
proventative care scheme 14
providos Cvs with a robust
and regular revenue stream,
as well as improving

Ccustorrer loyalty,

2021 performance

~ Therate of growth 1
Healthy Pet Club members
~as incressed, 1o 8 4%

i1 2021 from 3 5% growth
in 2020

This demonstrates the
increased humanisation
of pets a~d desire for our
cllents to invest n their
pets futures through
preventative care.

|
%
|
k
|
\
|
|
\
|
\
\
|
\
1
]

(J) Number of
RCVS awards

159

+0.0%

2021 159
2020 159
2019 nm

2018 | 83

2017 | 36

Why it's a KPI

This shows the nurmber of
RCWS Practice Standards
Scheme awards across
the Group These awardls
promaote and mamntain

the highest standards of
vetem’nar\/ CArc Azross a
range of different criteria
Including client exverience
and chivcal governance
Monitorng the nurrber

of RCVS awards helps us
acheye aur strategic
gaoals of taking our
responsibilites senously

2021 performance

+ Dueothe COWID-G
pandemic, the RCVS did
notissue furtne’ Practice
Standards Scheime awards
during the year allof our
practicas who already
nold thase awards
continue to be recognised
as award-"olgers



(K) Employee
NPS§2z3

2.9

+314.3%
2021 | 29
2020 | 07

Why it’s a KPI

Employee et Promorter
Score ("eNPS”) is @ measure
of how likely cur colleagues
are te recommend the Group
as & place towork as
reported ON anonyinous
surveys. Monitoring eNPS
shows the level of colleague
satisfaction across the Group
and helps us to ensure we
are a great place to waork and
have a career

2021 performance

« We have seen significant
IMprovemeants in
colleague engagement
dus to our abilty to
effectively support our
colleagues through the
COVID-19 nandemic,
ameong other factors,

(L) Client
NPS2-3

72.2

-8.0%

|
2021 72.2
2020 78.5

Why it’s a KPI

Client Net Promcter Score
{"NPS™} 15 a measure of

the lavel of cur clients’
satisfaction with their
experiences with the Group
via anonymous reporting of
the likelihood that clients
would recommend the
Group for our services
Monitoring NPS helps us

to ensure we recommrend
and provide the best clinical
carc overy ume

2021 performance

+ We have seen a small
reduction in client
engagement, bkely due to
the impact of the RCVS
guidance which restricted
our customers from
accompanying their pets
In our pract ces, This figure
remains strongly positive,
andl we expect it to return
to Its previous levels in
due course

Employee Net Promoter Score

Qur ongoeing efforts to be the vetennary
company people most want to work for
are reflected 1 our monthly tracking of
our employae Net Promoter Score ("eNPS™),
wh'ch has imoroved throughout 2021,
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Operational review

Delivering outstanding clinical
care despite challenging

circumstances

66

We are focused on giving the
best possible care to animais
by being the veterinary company
people most want to work for.”

Ben Jacktin
Chief Operating Officer

28 | CVS Group ple Annual Repart and Financial Staternents 2021

During the last twelve months, we have faced many
challenges, but the way in which our colleagues have
stepped up to protect animal welfare and continued to deliver
the best possible care has been nothing short of remarkable,
We owe our colleagues an enormous debt of gratitude and
therefare 'would ke 1o thank every one of them for their
continued hard work.

Our purpose 1s 1o give the best poszible care 1o arimals,
which we are delivering through our clear vision o be the
veterinary cormpany people rnost want to work for. This
financial year has seer us make significant stndes forward
despie the cnallenging environment. Qur focus on the critical
KPls of our colleague satisfaction and our vet vacancy rate are
a reflection of this vision. Beneath our purpose and vision, as
we introduced in our FY20 Annual Report, are our four
strategic pillars:

- we recommand and provide the best clincal care
every time;

- we are great place to work and have a career;
+ we nrovide great faclities and equiprment; and
« we take our responsipilities seriously.

Alongside the strong growth we have seen during tne year
Iarn delignted 1o have szen g significant number of new
chinical positions created over the year, and on averege in the
year enaged 30 Jure 2021 we emploved 10.2% {181 more vets
than we cid In the year ended 30 June 2020. We have also
seen more roles filled by internal candidates, promoting great
careers within CVS, as well as through our highly successful
refer o friend scheme durng the year, As a result of the
continued expansion of our practices, we have advertised

for more chimical roles than ever, which has Fad the effect

of INCreasing oJr vet vacancy rate across the year to 8.3%
Cntically, and in stark contrast to the higher vet vacancy rate
experierced several years ago, these vacancies are the result
of our expans.on ambitions, as we seek to add new chinical
roles across the company to capitalise on ar exganding
market. Our annuat clinical attrition rates and employese Net
Promotor Scores hoth remain improved on oror years as we
continue to strive to be the veternary company peaple most
want 1o work for



We have also made some changes to remungrat’on since

the end of the financial year in response to survey data and
feadback, focusing more on fixed income for clinicians and
introducing bonus schemes that reward collaboration across
the Group and the delivery of the best possible clinical care.
We also recognise the intense demands of clinical roles in the
veterinary profession, not least during the last 18 months, and
have intreduced an enhanced holiday scheme to give
colleagues an extra day of annual leave for each year of CVS
service, up 1o a maximum of five years. This is additional to
our buy and sell hcliday scheme, both of which are aimed at
ensurng our coileagues get the nght balance of time away
from work.

We remain committed to being a great place to work and
have a carear. This year, we have partnered with the University
of Nottingham to deliver a unigue four-year accredited
graduate programme which launched in auturnn 2020.
Supporting and mentoring a pipeline of talented gracuates is
a central tenet to our ongoIing commitmeant supporting long
and successful careers for our clinicians within CVS. We have
alsc introduced our first graduate summer camp to the
graduate intake programme. This helps our newly qualified
vets to develop their core practical skills, increase their
knowledge and understanding of surgery and consulting,

and be ‘practice ready” as they begin their careers with us.
Additionally, we have partnered with the University of Bristol
to deliver final year clinical rotations for their vetennary
students in our equine clinics and hospitals. This now means
all students at Bristol Veterinary School will experience at least
one rotation within CvS before they graduate, exposing bright
and ambitious young talent to all that CVS has to offer, and
enabling us to contribute to the education of the next
generation of veterinary surgeons,

We are the only veterinary corporate
group to publish an annual QI report

This year, we published our third annual Quality
improvement report, and we continue to be

at the forefront of patient safety and clinical
mprovermeant. As always, our report provided a
clear and measurable account of ways in which
we are improving clinical care and animal welfare,
Taking our responsibilities seriously 1s a key pillar
of our strategy and there is no better measure of
our efforts than our Qualty Improvement report

www.cvsukltd.co.uk

Our efforts to buld the best learming educaton and
development platform n the profession have continued, with
the Knowledge Hub - our onling traming portal - having an
average of 4,200 users per week duning FY21. This platform
offers almost 200 live courses and programs and we had over
10,000 clinical webinar views in the year, reflecting the critical
role that offening continued professional development has in
the retention and recruitment of our talented colleaguas. A
lirnited number of courses are now also avallable to third
parties, as we begin a rollout of learning opportunities to the
wider profession.

Having great facilites and eguipment 1s critical to us
delivering on our strategy. and as such we have completed
13 refurbishments ana relocations in FY21. The quality of
practice facilities 1s directly related to our ability to recruit
vats, and the ability of our clinical teams to deliver the best
possible care, therefore refurbishments and relocations
are a fantastic investment oppoertunity for us. We are also
deploying new industry-leading techniques across our
practices, including dental radiography and keyhole surgery
for neutenng, which 1s now in operation in 40 practices
across the Groug.
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Operational review continued

Veterinary Practices division

Demonstrating strong

growth alongside

operational adaptability

Veterinary Practices
revenue share*

85.4%

£453.4m

Revenue

18.0%

Revenue growth

450,000

HPC customers

* Raven e shzrs neioe ciercornan, saleg nat g ea0 ¢ 5T res

and wiriar by, g onE
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Qur Veterinary Practices division comprises our companion
anirnal, referrals, farm aniral and equine veterinary pracuces,
as well as odr buymg groups. Vet Direct ana MiPet insurance.
The division has performed extremely well during the
financial year, with Ike-for-like revenue growth of 15 9%

and wtal revenue growth of 18.0%. We have also generated
growth through acauwsitions, having made nine acquisiuons
compnsmng 15 practice sites in FY21 and eight practce sites
snce the financial year-end, mamly providing companion
animal services, as well as complementary farm and eguine
animal services. We are pleased to report that this cohort of
new acquisitions have been well integrated into the Group,
and are performing well.

Companion Animal

Our Companion Animal gwvision forms the maiority of our
Vetennary Practices division, and has proven resilient in
recovering from the COVID-1S disruption. We have conunued
1o focus on supporting cur climcal teams to deliver the best
possible care, and despite the challenges of the pandemic
we have made excellent progress across a range of areas of
clinical development.

Despite reception areas and consultation rooms remaining
mainly closed throughout much of FY21, the division has
continued to deliver high guahty chnical service whilst
cnanging the ways of working within practice. The temparary
refaxation of restrictions by the RCVS allowed for remote
prescribing and supported ielemedicine consultations
the very early rmorths of the nandermic, but throughout the
financial year we saw & strong cemand from clients to
attend our clinics in person, and the demand for virtual
nteractions fell away, reiterating the close ties of our
practices with their commurities.

Referrals

Qur Refarrals dyvision continuas to arow strangly, with
ravenue ncreasng 29.3% over the prior year, We have
expanded the range of chmcal discipliines we offer in our
hospitals, and we have sean grawth of our vet-to-vet
telemedicine iImaging service, VetOracle These services are
offered w0 botn our own and third-party practices across the
glabe and we nave invested further in systems to suppart
further growth, We also continue to expand our nemwork of
advanced penpatetic pract.tuoners, who prowde advanced
chricaf services to our first-opimion practices entenng new
dhst.phnes and geographicat locanons.



Our Referrals division has worked hard to build relationships
with both internal and external first-opinion practices This
has led to a 31.4% increase in cases being referred during
the financial year compared to FY20

Equine

Qur Eguine division has 20 equine practices across the UK,
the Republic of Ireland and the Netherlands, including five
RCVS accredited referral hospitals in the UK and large
referral hogpitals in both the Republic of Ireland and

the Netherlands.

The division has performed well in the financial year,
generating internal referrals through supporting
collaboration between practices, providing operatioral
leverage and resulting in EBITDA growth of 163.1%. We nave
also implermented further training for first-opinion equine
vets and provided additonal equipment, such as scanning
equipment, for use on first visits, contributing to a 26 2%
increase in revenue.

We have continued to expand our out-of-hours sarvice,
Equicall, offering emergency cover to both CVS and
third-party practices. This world-first equine dedicated
out-of-hours service has not only iImproved access to clinical
care for our chents, but has improved flexibility for our vets
by reducing the burden on existing vet teams.

Farm Animal

Cur Farm Animal division consists of 23 farm animal
practices and a large specialist poultry business, Slate Hall.
During the year we have increased beoth fee and drug
revenue via buying groups and increased incentives for
our vets, such as our productivity bonus scheme.

After launching our first greenfield farm animal practice

m 2020, we have continued to advance this model
throughout 2021, and at the end of this financial year we
have three greenfield practices providing opportunities for
yvoung and ambitious vets.

International

Our International division comprises 25 practices in the
Netherlands and six practices in the Republic of Ireland.
Internatiorally we have expanded and improved our
out-of-hours services, to reach more clients and support
the best possible working environment for our clinicians.

Head office

Central administration costs include those of the
central finance, IT, hurmman resource, purchasing, legal
and property functions. Total costs were £15.7m {2020
£12.1m) reprosenting 3.1% of revenue (2020: 2.8%). The
ncreased spend reflects ousiness growth ounng the
period as well as Investment In people and processes
in support of further scalability, whilst maintaining a
nigh standard of internal and external service,

As a percentage of 1everue, the spend on support
functions has increased, particularly in the areas of IT
ard Human Resources. This represents our continued
investment 1IN support areas, ensuring that we continue
to have sultable systems to appropriately support the
trading divisions. This overall increase in central costs
also reflects health and safety expenditure in relation
to COVID-19. for example additional personal
protective equipment for our colleagues, amounting
to ¢.£0.5rm. The Group continues to base support
colleagues in reg ons where possible, so they can
easily provide the close support that the operations
teams require,
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Operational review continued

International continued We continue 1o seek high quality independent practices
e continue to focus on rolling out our people-focused to o our network and, having put significant affort mto
model, providing the best possible care to animals i all our integration processes over the last two years, we are
our territories. Improved collaboration between practices, confident we can drive value from all acquisitions we make.
ncluding referral of more advanced cases belween We are well placed to continue to improve margins via
experienced chnicians remains & good opporiurity for streamhned referrals, use of our own-brand products and
organic growth. an increased range of clinical services,

Healthy Pet Club
As well as offering first class care to sick or injured animals

we continue 16 offer preventatve health care through our ‘Get out to hElp out’

Healthy Pet Club scheme, which offers routire flea and VCICCinCItiOI'I programme

worming treatments and vaccinations, as well as twice

yearly health checks. These clients can spread the cost of Following the COVID-18 National lockdowns, the
accessing the best preventative heatth care, as well as Group's companion animal practices faced a
alowing our chinicians to identfy diseases and recommend significant backlog of work, One of the non-essential
the best disgnastics and treatments. The scheme mermbershin precedures postponed during the lockdowns was
hias grown by 8 4% over the last vear to around 450,000 the administration of pets’ vaccinations. Across the
mempers, representing roughly 40% of our companion country, CVS chnical and noni-clinical colleagues
animal sctive client base. The Healthy Horse Programme has volunteered their time (o assist with vaccination days
also grown, with 10.000 members at the end of June 2021 to help clear the backlog. including our CEQ. Richard

Fairman (pictured).
MiPet products/purchasing
During the year, we have corntinued our efforts 1o merease
purchases of our own-brand products rather than third-party
branded pharmaceuticals. As well as provid ng ncreased
choice for our clents. this has also resulted in our own-brand
spend increasing 1o 34.0% of the UK practices’
pharmaceutical spend, up from 28.0% i 2020

Wwe have continued o 1mprove our warghouse management
systern, improving efficiency and increasing ow permanent
staffing, which has enabled us to cope with tne increase

in Online Retail order volumes as well as successiufly
complying with social distancing reguirements through
effective use of space and adjusted shft patterns within

our warehouse.

QOutlook

We are optirustic for continued growth wathin our Vetennary
Practices division, with revenue growth exoectad to come
from an increased numper of clients and our focJs on
exceptional clinical care and our desire tc be the veerinary
company people most want to work for Ininatives for the
forshcoming year include a focus on racrograpny in first-
opnnior practices, i collaboration vath our spec alist
vetOracle imaging teams. This w il enaole mprover-enis n
mage acquisition, mterpretation, and mast Importarthy ir
the quality of diagnoses in pursunt of the best possible
chnicat care

V/e ae also focusec on enhancing the role of our vatennary
nurses inour chiries, and have launched a new programme
1 graw the number of consultations undertaken oy our
ralented nursing collzagues. in areas such as these we
continue to see signimcant oppartunity to dnve aganc
growth, by focusng onincreasirg our capao iy o all areas of
dragrostics, and then raccmmending and aelsenng the
best possible rreatments.
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Laboratories division

Providing a full range
of laboratory services

Laboratories revenue share*

5.3%

£28.0m

Revenue

32.7%

Revenue growth

497,000

laboratory tests performed

' Revenue share before intercompany sales between prachices
and other dwvisions

Our Laboratones division provides diagnostic services and
in-practice deskop analysers to both CVS and third-party
pracuces, and employs a nat.onal courier network to
facilitate the collection and timely processing of samples
from practices across the UK. We continue to develop our
capability to ensure we can support the wider Group's focus
on growing diagnostic care.

Diagnostic services

Our diagnostic laboratories have grown during the year,
including 20.1% arowth 'n the number of tests provided to
external customers. During the pandemic we algo introdJdced
COVID-19 PCR testing for our colleagues and for third parties.
which was disconurued in March 2021 due to changes in
government regulations.

Analysers

Analyser revenue 1s drnven by a combination of sales

of analysers, leasing agreements and ongoing sales of
consumables throughout the Iife of tne equipment. Revenues
from the analyser bus.ness arew by 28.7% over the course
of the financial year, including strong growth within CvS
practices aigned 1o the wider clinical focus on diagnostics.

Qutlook

The Laborazones division has remained resilient despite
Increasing consolidation n the veterinary sector resulting

in the loss of some external clients. By increasing the speed
and range of testing we offer in our laboratories, conurung
o ensure field-leading clent service, and employing a highly
skilled network of sales teams and engineers, we are
aptimistic far further growth in the years to come.
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Operational review continued

Crematoria division

Collaboration between
crematoria and practices to
help deliver the best client care

Crematoria revenue share*

1.5%

£8.0m

Revenue

11.1%

Revenue growth

20.2%

increase in individual cremations

Y Royaaesmare cefare mtopren an sale bntyea s nian nos

ancl Ttrer i e nng
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Qur Crematana division provides both individual and
communal cremation services for companion animal and
equine chents, as well as chimcal waste disposal services
for both CVS and third-party veteninary practices.

Having successfully tnalled our Direct Pet Cremation project
iy the first nalf of the year, this was rolled out across more of
our companion armmal practices in the final quarter of the
financial year. This iInitiative has contributed to the increase
in the number of individual cremations of 20.2% over the
pror year.

Outlook

Our Ditect Pet Cremation project has seen great
engagement from our practices and clients, and as we
comipleta the rollout in the new financial year we expect this
to continue, along with our Crematoria division revenues.

Direct Pet Cremation Project

Our integrated vatarirary platform s demonstrated in
act:ar with our Direct Pet Cremation Project, which
sees chents allowed more time to consider difficult
deciziors aout their beloved pet's end-of-life ana
cremation, such as whether to choose individual
cremation, and choices between a range of caskets
and other mementos. Crematoria and pract'ces
collaborate ‘o give our clients time and space, which
redyces the emotional pressures cf our clients’
deosiors and allows our subject matter experts in our
crematoria (o discuss the full range of options open (o
chents during the most difficult tme of all



Online Retail Business division

Growing pet food sales online

Online Retdil Business
revenue share*

7.8%

£u41.7m

Revenue

29.9%

Revenue growth

LO4,000

Unique customers

* Revenuc share before intercompany sales hetween practces
and other divisions

Our anline pet food and pharmacy retailer, “Armmed Direct”,
focuses on pet food and prescription and non-prescription
medication, cirectly to customers. This is supported by the
buying power of the Group as a whole, which ensures the
business 15 able to provide the best value for customers.

During the financial year, our Online Retall division delivered
revenue growth of 28 9% and adjusted EBITDA growth of
16 0% The COVID-19 lockdowns have changed consumer
habits towards soarcing pet food onling, rather than visiting
physical shops. Our high levels of customer service have
enabled us to retain a large portion of the new customers
that first used the platform during the national lockdown,
despite retail restrictions having subsequently eased

We have expandea our range of product Iines and continuec
to imaorove our website, prescription management systerm,
and customer service management system, which
contributes to our consistent five-star Trustpilot rating.

Qutlook

The continual Improvernents and expans.on to our product
range as well as the increasing changes in customers’
shopping habits towards online shopping for convenience
is expected to continue to deliver revenue growth in our
Online Retaif busimess in the coming years, We continue to
develon our website to improve user experience, further
ircregsing revenue growth opporiunitgs

Ben Jacklin
Chief Operating Officer
23 September 2021
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Financial review

Strong growth in financial
performance and well placed
for future investment

66

Strong financial performance is
underpinned by our strategy and
favourable market dynamics,
with investment opportunities

to deliver further growth.”

Robin Alfonso
Chief Financiol Officer

36 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021

Financial highlights

The Group has recovered well from the COVID-19 pandemic,
a2 delver significant graowth in revenuas and adyusted EBITDA.

Key financial highlights are shown below:

Change

2021 sae s

Revenue (Em) 510.1 4278 192%

Adljusteo EBITDA (Em)* 9715 o 373%
Adjusted profit

before income tax (Em)* 66.2 382  733%

Adjusten earnings per share (p)* 754 420 788%

Operating profit (Em) 401 185  116.8%

Profit before incorne tax (Em) 331 99 2343%

Bazmic earnings per share (p) 273 81 2370%

A reconciliation of the difference between the reported
operating profit figure and adjusted EBITDA 15 shown below:

2021 2620

£m £m

Operating profit 401 185

Adjustments for.

Amaortisation, depreciation

and impairrnent! 48.1 46.4

Costs refating (o business combinations 9.3 Q7

Exceptioral items — 54

Adjusted EBITDA 975 o

bodrnpavrnents othe yoar ended 30 June 2020 are shicwn
TLE TErS

T oAdsted hngroal measyres feausted {BITDA 2diusted profit befo s
ncome tax and adiusted ea-nings par share) are def nec n the firare.al
starermrents and rec led to tive firancal measares defirec oy
Imzrmangnat Fnancal Reoorting Standards VIFRS | o panes 90 and 112
of iz Annual Repot Managerment uses sty asted EBITDA ond sadusteg
CEMIG UeT SNEte AU LSTed FRS g Dasw Tor aszeseng e fnanoel

eTance Of ine Group These boures exclude Costs reletng 1o LU aness

cominations and excaptanal tems and hence assst nundarsiand.og
the perfgrrmance of the 3roun These terms are rat defnad by IFRS ad
therafore may nat ke directly comparakle wer othe- companes adistad
aroflt measures,




Financial performance

Revenue increased by 19 2% to £510.1m frorm £427.8m with
strong Group hke-for-like growth of 174%_The Group continues
to benefit from favourable market dynamics with the trend in
humanisation of pets, increasing et ownership and the shift
in consumer spending online. Like-for-ke growth was
underoinned by the continued focus en our strategy of
providing the best clinical care, and was delivered despite a
planned companion animal price increase being delayed
during the year, which was eventually implermented on

1 January 2021, Revenue also included COVID-19 PCR
testing, which discontinued in March 2027 following

a change in Government guidance.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 37.3% to £97.5m from £71.0m,
As a percentage of revenue, adjusted EBITDA increased to
19.1% from 16.6%, benefitting from operating leverage and
strong revenue growth. Adjusted EBITDA also benefitted
from £2.0m of Research and Development Expenditure Tax
Credits, following the Group's first claim under this scheme.
The Group made nine acquisitions in the financial vear,
which in aggregate generated revenue of £6.1m and
adjusted EBITDA of £1.3m during the period

Adjusted profit before iIncome tax increased 73.3%. to
£66.2m from £38.2m, benefitting from the increase in
adjusted EBITDA and a reduction in finance expense.
Adjusted EPS (as defined in note 2 to the financial statements)
increased 78.8%, to 75 1p from 42.0p Adjusted profit before

ncome tax and adjLsted EPS exclude the impact of amortisatior

of intangible assets, costs relating to business combinations
and exceptional items.

Profit before Income tax increased by 234.3%, to £33.1m
from £9.9m, underpinned by the increase in adjusted
EBITDA and reduction in exceptional costs, partially offset
by the increase in costs in relation to business combinations,
which includes businass combinations costs in respect of
prior perods. Basic EPS increased 237.0%, to 27.3p from 8.1p.

Taxation

Income tax expense has increased by £8.6m. to £13.8m from
£4.2m, primarily due to the increase in profit before ncome
tax and £4 3m relating to the re-measurement of deferred
tax balances in respect of UK jurisdictions following the UK
Governmant’s announcement to increase the rate of
corporation tax to 25%, from 19%, in April 2023

The Group's effective tax rate was 41.7% (2020 42 .3%).
A reconciliation of the expected tax charge, at the standard
rate. to the actual charge s shown below:

£m F
Profit before iIncome tax 331
Expacted tax at UK standard rate of tax 6.3 190%
Expenzes not deductible for tax purposes 2.4 7.3%
Adjustments to orevious year tax charge 1.6 4.68%
Utilisation of brought forward losses 0.1y  (03%)
Effect of ditference between closing
defarred tax -ate and current tax rate (0.7 {21%)
Effect of tax rate change on opening
deferred tax palances 4.3 3.0%
Actual charge/effective rate of tax 13.8 A17%

* Paicentage of prof tbefore income tax

All of the Group's revenues and the majority of its expenses
are subject to corporation tax. The main expenses that are
not deductible ‘or tax purposes are costs relating to
acquisitions and depreciation on fixed assets that do not
qualfy fo- tax relief. Tax relief for some expenditure, manly
‘ixed assets, is received over a longer period than that for
which the costs are charged in the financial statements

Financial position

2021 2020

£m £rr

intangible assets 2284 2798
Property, plant ard eguipment 57.4 516
Rught-of-use assets 97.2 981

Other non-current assets 01 12

Current assets 101.4 836
Current liabilities {98.5) (102.0}
Non-current lighilities (194.9) (185.7)
Equity 1911 1666
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Financial review continued

Financial position continued

As at 30 June 2021, intangible assets amounted 1o £228 4m
{2020: £229 8m), consisting of aoodwill. patent data records
and conputer software. The net reduction of £1 £m relates
to amortisation and imparrrment in the vear of £23 8m (2020:
£23 2m), net foreign exchange movements on opening
balances of €101 (2020: £0.5m), of‘set by addinons
through business combinations of £22 9m (2020: £7 2ny
and computer software addrions of £0.om (2020: £1.3m;

Property, plant and equiprent of £57.4rr (2020- £51.6m)
inctudes freehold land and buildings, leasenold
Improvements, fixtures fittings ard equipment and motor
vehicles. The net increase of £5.8m primarily refates to
adaitions (including those arising via bLsiness combinations)
of £187m (2020: £71.3m), reflecting our contnuing
commitment to mvesing in our faciities, offset oy net
disposals of £0.5m (2020: £rul), net foreign excharge
movements oh opening balances of £0.1m (2020 £nil)

and depreciation :n the year of £10.3m (2020, £10.7).

Rght-of-use-assets of £972m {2020, £88 Tm) consists

of property leases for our veternary practices, specialist
referral centres and support offices of £95 1 (2020 £96.3m)
and leases for vehicles and equipment of £2.1m (2020: £1.8m)
The net reduction in the year of £0.9m relates o the
depreciation and impairment charge i the year of £14.0m
(2020: £14.6m), ner disposals of £17m (2020: £nil), foreign
exchange on opening balances of £0.6m (2020: £0.1m
increase), offset by additions (rcluding those via busiress
combinations) and re-measuremant of lease terms of
£15.4m (2020: £4.8m)

Other non-current assets of £0.1m (2020: £1.2m) relates to
a managed investment fund measured at far vatee of £071m
(2020- £03M) and deferred *ax azsets of £nil (2020: £l
In the current yea- the deferred tax asset nas bean offset
against deferred tax habilities (see note 24 1o the finagncial
statemen:s for further cetalls).

Current assets of £101.4m (2020 £83 6m) camrprises
inventones of £18.5m (2020, £18.7m), trade and other
recevables of £481m (2020 £43.4m), current Income tax
recevable of £01m (2020 £0.4m current ability), and cash
and cash equivalents of £33.7m (2020 £21.51). The net
increase of £17 8m mainly relates to increased cash ard cash
equtvalents anc ircreased traede recevacies In line with the
growth in overall revenues

Current haotites of £98 5y (2020, £102.0my comanse trade
and other payables of £86.0m (2020. £87 7). orovisions of
£39m (2020- £5.0m). lease habilves of £8 6 (2020: £8 8m),
income tax liabilities of £nil (Z020. £C 4m;} and borrowings of
£nil {2020- EQIm). The net reduction of £3 5 manly relates
o e net movemnent folloveng the repayient of £15.0m
deferred WAT under the COVID-19 VAT Deferral scaeme,
offeet by tne increase in bonus accruals due to the strong
performarce of the Group (included withim other payables)
and additicnel legal fees accrued
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Non-current habilities of £194.9m (2020: £195.7m) includes
borrowings of £83.9m (2020: £83 5m), lease habilives of
£90.2m (2020: £89.8m), dervative financial instruments of
£O dm (2020: £0.9m) and deferred tax liabilities of £20.4m
(2020 £21.5m) See below for further details regarding the
Group's borrowings.

Equity of £1911m (2020, £166 6m) increased by £24.5m as a
result of total cormprehensive iIncome of £19.0m (2020: £5.5m),
new shares issued and shares disposed from the Employee
Benefit Trust ("EBT") of £1.5m (2020- £1 0my) to settle
abligations under the Group's Save As You Earn ("SAYTE"
scheme, and transactions in relation to share-based
payments and associated deferred income tax of £4.0m
(2020: £1.0m) There was ne dividend payment 1 2027
(2020: £3 9m),

Cash flow and movement in
net debt

Net debt decreased by £11.8m to £50 2m from £62 1m.
The movement in net debt is explained as follows:

200 2070
£m £m
Cash generated from operations 80.3 94.8
Capital expenditure - maintenance (8.2) 87)
Repayment of right-of-use liability (13.0) (14.2)
Taxation paid (13.0} (9.5)
Interest paid (71) {70)
Free cash flow 38.0 564
Capital expenditure - development (8.4) {37)
Busingss combinations (net of cash
acquired) {19.4) {7.2)
Loans and borrowings acquired through
business combinations (1.0) —
Dividends paid - (3.9)
Sale of property, plart and equiprnent 0.6 —
Exceptional tems - (0.7}

Proceeds from Ordinary shares 1.2 01

Proceeds from sale of Treasury shares 0.3 09
Amortisation of debt issuance costs (0.4) (10)
Cecreasze ir net debt n.9 399

Cast generated from operating activities decreased oy 15.3%
10 £80 3m from £94.8m, despite the increase In adjusted
EBITDA. The decrease pnmarnily reletes © £15.0m of VAT
payments which were deferred undar the COVID-19 VAT
Deferral scheme ard £2 Om cf taxes in the Netherlands
deferred from tne prior year, paid in the current yvear Cash
generated from operations also includes an additional £77m
of payments for costs relating to bus:ness combinations,
which mostly relate w0 acquisimions in pnor penods.



The analysis of capital expenditure between mainenance
and development in the table above reflects a broad split
between expenditure which we believe will onmarily mamntain
profit, and that which we expect to increase profit. This split
can only ever be approximate. Developrment capital expenditure
includes new sites, retocations, significant extensions and
significant new equipment. All other capital expenditure is
ircluded as maintenance.

Repayment of right-of-use-liabilities of £13.0m (2020: £14.2m)
congists of labilities in respeact of property leases for our
veterinary practices, specialist referral centres and support
offices and leases for vehicles and equipment.

No corporation tax relief is received on the majonty of the
amortisation and transaction costs which are deducted in
arriving at the unadjusted profit before income tax figure.
Therefore, taxation paid moves broadly In line with the
adjusted profit before income tax of the Group. The increase
In tax paid in the year 1s primarily as a result of the increase
in profit generated by the Group.

The interest payment of £71m was consistent with the pricr
year of £7.0m, reflecting the Group's maintenance of net
debt during the financial year.

Cash available for discretionary expenditure (“free cash flow”)
decreased to £38.0m from £55.4m, primanly as a result of the
deferred VAT payments noted above.

Developrment capital expenditure of £8 4m (2020: £3.7m) was
incurred in the year. This investment included relocation of
our practices at the Grove in Fakenham, Barry in Wales,
Buttercross in Nottinghamshire and Rosemuillion in Cornwall,
and refurbishment of some of our existing sites, with
signficant investrment In our sites at Buchanan in Manchester,
Springfield in Rotherham and Newguay in Cornwall, which is
due to complete in Octeber 2021, The level of investment in
the prior year was adversely impacted by action taken to preserve
cash during the first COVID-19 lockdown in March 2020,

Consideration for business combinations, net of cash acquired,
of £19 4m was paid for nine practices (15 practice sites)
(2020: £7.2m) acquired during the financial year to June
2021, In addition a further £10m (2020: £nil) was paid to
settle loans transferred as part of the business
combinations.

Dividend of £nil (2020: £3.9m) following the decision not
to declare a dividend in the prior year due to COVID-19
support received.

Sale of property plant and eguipment of £0.6m {2020: £ni)
relates to sites held not deemed to be in the right location
for future investment.

Exceptional iterns of £nil (2020, £0.7m). The prior year related
to amounts paid in refation to Board restructunng costs

Proceeds from tne sale of Ordinary and Treasury shares of
£15m arose on the exercise of ophions under the Group's
approved SAYE scheme, which allows colleagues to save
regular amounts each month over a three-year period ard
benefit from increases in the Group's share price over that time.

Amortisation of debt 1ssuance costs of £0.4m (2020: £1.0m)
was In line with our policy.

Net debt and borrowing costs
The Group's net debt comprises the following:

202 2020
£m -
Borrowings repayable:

Within cne year — o1

After more than one year
Loan facility 85.0 850
Unamortised barrowing costs (1.1) (15)
Total borrowings 83.9 83.6
Cash and cash eqguivalents (33.7) (21.5)
Net aebt 50.2 621

The Group has total facilities of £175.0m to 31 January 2024,
provided by a syndicate of four banks: NatWest, HSBC, BOI
and AIB, and comprising the following elements:

« afixed term loan of £85.0m, repayable on 31 January 2024
via a single bullet repayment:

- afour-year Revolving Credit Facility ('RCF”) of £85.0m,
that runs to 31 January 2024,

- anenvisagad. but not cormmitied, accordion facility of up
to £100 Gm, that runs 1o 31 January 2024; and

+ in adaition, the Group has a £5.0m cverdraft facilty,
renewable annually.

The two financial covenants associated with these facilities,
described below, remain unchanged and will continue o
be calculated based on the Group's accounting policies
applicable at 30 June 2019 for the duration of the facilities,
e pre-IFRS 16

Az the year-end, the total borrowings principally consist of:

« the £85 0m term loan (gross of unamortised issue costs)
(2020 £85.0m); and

« Enil drawn down under the RCF (gross of unamortised
issuUe costs) (2020: £nil).

The two financial covenants associated with the Group's
bank faclues are based on the ratios of net debt to EBITDA
and EB|TDA tointerest EBITDA is baseo on adiusted EBITDA,
annualised for the effect of acquisitions, including costs
relating to business combinations and excluding share
option costs, prior to the adoption of IFRS 16 The EBITDA

to Interest rat’'c must not be less than 4 bx. At 30 Jung 2021

It was 24 97x.
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Financial review continued

Cash flow and movement in
net debt continued

Net debt and borrowing costs continued

The covenant fevels allow a maxirnum Group net debt

to EBITDA rato ("gearing”) of 3.25x, although s not the
Group's intention to operate at this level. The gearng ratio
decreased during the year, to 0.68x at 30 June 2021 from
114x% at 30 June 2020 This decrease ' ratio reflects beth
the decrease in net debt and increase in EBITDA

The Group manages Its banking arrangements centrally.
Funds are swept dally from its vanious vank accounts into
central bank accounts 1o optimise the Group's net interest
payable position.

Interest rate nsk 1s also managed centrally and denvative
mstruments are used o mitigate this risk. Or 28 February
2020, the Group entered into two four-year fixed interest rate
swap arrangements to hedge fluctuations in interest rates on
£70.0m of its term loan facility.

Going concern and viability

A the staterment of financial position date the SGroup had
cash balances of £33 7m and en unuulised overdiaft facility of
£5.0m. Total facilmes of £170 Om are avalable 1o support the
Group's arganic and acquistive growth initiatives over the
coming years, compnsing a term loan of £85 Cmand an RCH
of £85.0m. The Directors consider that the £5 Om overdraft
and the £170.0m facility erable the Group to mee: its labilives
as they fall due Since the year end, the Group has conrnued
1o trace profitably and 10 generate cash

After consideraton of market conditions, the Group's
financial position (Including the leve! of headrocom avalable
withm the bank faciities), fimancial forecasts for the thiee
years to 30 June 2024, s profile of cash generator and the
nmirg and amount of bank borrowings repayable, and
prmcipal nisks, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that both the Company and the Group will be sbie to continue
N operation and rmeet 1ts liabilities as they fal due over the
pernod, being at least 12 months from the date of approval
of the financ al staterments,

For this reason. the gomng concem Lasis contiruas io be
adanted in preparing the financial statements

More informat or on the Group s viabihty staterrent car be
faund or cage 79 of the Annual Report
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Share price performance

At the year-end the Company’'s market capitahsation was
£1,708 7m (2. 415p per share), compared to £727.8m {1,030p
per share) at the previous year-end. The graph below shows
the total shareholder return pertormance compared to the
FTSE AlM Al-Share mdex. The values indicated in the gragh
show the share price moverment based on a hypothetical
£100 holding in Orcinary shares from T July 2020 to 30 Junie 2021,

Twelve-month graph to 30 June 2021 (rebased)

Soues Factuet

Key contractual arrangements

The Directors consider that the Group has only two
significant third-party supplier contracts whicn are for the
supply of veternary drugs. In the event that tnese suppliers
ceased trading, the Group would be able to continue in
busness without significant disruption in trading by
purchasing from alternative suppliers.

Forward-looking statements

Certan statements and arrangements described in the
Annual Report are forward looking. Although the Board is
comfortable tnat the expectations reflected in these forward-
looking statements are reasonable, it can give no assurance
that these expectations will prove 1o be correct Because
ihese staternents involve nisks and uncertanbes, actual
results may differ matenally from thaose expressed or

mphed by these forward-looking statements

Robin Alfonso
Chief Financial Officer
23 September 2021



Strategy in action

We provide great
facilities and equipment

3

Enhancing
specialist
services

Put simply, we want to make sure our clinical teams have
the best facilities and equipment possible to do their
outstanding work, as well as provide our clients with a
best-in-class service

Our new Ramsgate site 1s designed to create a new and
mproved experience for clients and therr pets The site
offars an extended range of services and facilities in a very
modern environment, whilst maintaining a warm and friendly
atrnosphere It is the first CVS practice to use a new modern
and spacious open-plan reception and walting area design,
to enable the team to bond with their clients and patients
from the second they enter the building. Remowving the usual
reception desk defies the rules but the team pass.onately
beligve in customer focus and having no barrners between
them and their clients.

40

Pratices equipped with
state of the art keyhole
neutering equipment

13

Completed
refurbishments and
relocations in 2021
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CVS’s approach to sustainability and ESG

Care at our heart

CVS in 2021 at a Glance

c.1.im
Companion animals under our core
in 2020/2021

£510.1m

Revenue
(2020 £427 8m)

£97.5m

Adjusted EBITDA
(2020, £71.0m)

£1.7bn

Market capitalisation
[2,.415p per share} at 30 June 2021
(30 June 2020: £727.8m (1.030p per share))

450,000
Members of the Healthy Pet Club,

our preventative heafthcare scherme
(2020 415,000)

L

Clinicians on our Executive Committee
Including three veterinary surgeons, af wtch two

are specialists, and ans qualified veter nary nurse.
carmprising 50% of roles (Chief Operating Offizer
Crief Veternirary Officer, Director of Clinical Ope-ations
and Group Procurement [ rector)

7,241

Colleagues employed

(2020 6,761), including 1,562 veternary surgeons {2020:
1,781) andd 2,548 nurses (2020: 2,359}

>»500

Veterinary surgeries
troughout the UK, the Netherlands
and Republic of Irelard
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introduction

CVS has in recent years embarked on an ambitious
programme to build a financially sustainable, fully integrated,
successful and growing veterinary services group. This
approach, which is aligned with the UN's Sustainability
Developrrent Goals, 1s on track, with the strong performance
during the yesr underpimned by our clear strategy to continue
o Improve our contribution n future years. We are proud of
what has been achieved, as nighighted in the following pages

The Board of CVS 15 acutely aware that today companies
must be managed so that wider society benefizs from therr
business operations and services. Whilst CVS has always
taken its broader societal obligations senously, we have
recently begun the process of monitonng. assessing ard
understanding our impact and the contributior we make

in order to ensure that CVYS becomes a truly sustainable
business focused on delivering value to ali of its stakeholders.
This inutiative builds on our purpose and vision and will, over
ume, evolve into a2 measwrable ESG strategy.

We refer to this approach as “Care at our Heart”, havirg
worked to identify and aruculate the core pnonties for all
divisions of our business, using interviews with oJr
colleagues and stakeholder analysis, highlighting therr own
priorities and concerns and how these interlock witn our
own We are, of course, a business that provides best-in-
class clincal care to animals. But care, 1n its broader sense,
goes to the very heart of what we do.

Cur colleagues choose to work in the sector bacause they
care deeply about the animals we treat, and about driving
stardards of clinical excellence while mimimising our impact
on the natural envirorment We care about pretectirg thair
cwn wellbeing, and equipping them with the support.
resources, franing. and access to continuous professional
development they need to perform at their best. We care
about making a positive Irmpact in the communit'es and tne
profession inwhich we work and harnessing this good to
drve value for our 1nvestors. Care is in our DMA, and it is the
foundation of our ESG strategy



Our efforts to bulld a more sustainable
business will drive increased standards,
an improved working environment for
our colleagues and improved returns
for our shareholders. This improvement
feeds INto a positive cycle of
performance in all aspects of our
economic performance, sustainable
practices and corporate governance.

Recruiting and
retaining more
excellent clinical

Creating colleagues Providing
a happier higher quality
workforce of animuol care

Raising
industry
standards and

Continually

improving
performance supporting the
and impact veterinary
profession

Dfl\_ﬂﬂg Helping more

su.stamnble animals, who
investor in turn improve
returns

people’s lives
Meeting market
demand

ESG driving business performance

66

The emphasis on a dedicated series of workstreams to
understand and measure our impact is new, but our focus
remains unchanged — building o sustainable business.
Central to our management approach is the belief that
delivering strong financial performance goes hand in hand
with meeting our ambitious ESG objectives. Becoming the
employer of choice, providing the best clinical care and
playing our role in society will ensure we have the capacity
to meet demand. Career development, diversifying our
workforce, and supporting colleagues to enhance their

wellbeing are not “soft’ activities but central to attracting and
retaining the very best vets. In simple terms, at CVS we believe

investing in our ESG strategy de-risks our business, creating
value for all our stakeholders.”

Robin Alfonso
Chief Financial Officer
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CVS’s approach to sustainability and ESG continued

How we care for our stakeholders

Reporting and target setting

We have identified the metrics we have put in place for each strand of our ESG strategy
on the following pages, descr'bing therr importanice in driving positve change,
behaviours and actions. Over tne comiing year, we will be analysing our business further
and engaging with stakeholders to understand what further metrics CVS should put in

place to measure care at the heart of our business.
Our patients and their owners

How we care

+ Access to end-to-end care through our fost-opimor
pracrices, our spectahst-led, molti-ciesghnary eferral
hospitals, ocur dagnoshic laboratones and, ar tne end
of an ammals hie, ‘hrough our compassionae
clematign services

Hign ¢hrical stardaras

Arimal welfzre priontised

+ Regular check-ups and treatments (vace
tieatmrents/ worming;

Consistently tugh standards for pai menagement in
surg.cal patients

Equine cui-of-hours service

vet Oracle Telemadicine

Qutcomes

A healthy pet oopulation

Cutstanding clinical exper:se

The bes! nossible service for ner avene s and than anrals

Current ond future KPis

Current:
- Manthiy traclking of castocmer Net Proricter Socres

terhearstar of our preverianee heatrocare seneres,
bealtny Pat Club and Healthy Harse Pragrar ma

Clezal cutcome survaevs

Future:
- Tracwang oF perert sucvey follow-uo soticns o morove
yaalty of sewice ana care
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Colleagues

How we care
+ Competrve rewards and benefits

+ Colleague wellbe ng support and regular cneck-ns

» Flewible working programmes

Equahty, Diversity and Inclusion working group
- Development opportunities
- Clinical governance

« MNew graduate programme including our first graduate
SUIMMMEr CAMPS

« Cultue of open dialogue and learning
« Access o top-ter chinvieal expertise

+ Learning ana development

« Mental Health Pledga

QOutcomes

+ RBecommg the veterinary company people most want to
work for

Fulfilled vets and nurses who have the equipmer: and
support to orovide the best possible care for arimals

Eaual cpportunit es for all colleagues
- Ahealthy and safe workspace

+ Offerirg chmcs! colleagues access to top-ter chmcal
expertise and contrued professioral developrrent

+ Bulding the best Learming, Eaucanen and Development
{"ILED") platform

Current and future KPls
Current:
- Monthly tracking of eNPR colleague survey

- vetand rurse employes numbers
- Chnical role vacarcy razes

Future:

- Average trainig ana development expendr: re per
‘ull-ume errployee
Tracking of “ollow-up actiens fram ehP3 surveys to
imerove colleague wellbeing and staff satisfaction

» Genaer and ethnicity KPI



L ] L] [ ] -
Environment Community and industry bodies
How we care How we care
« Responsible sourcing including choosing suppliers -+ Sgn access to all first-opinior companion animal oract ces

who use sustainable packaging o allow ¢eal clents to access veterinary care
Waste reduction initiatives + Schools cutreach
Switch to electricity from 100% renewable scurces in - Liasonwith RCVS BVA, BYNA ana other incustry bodios

K . T,
UK veter.nary pratces « Annual Vet Life char ty donations

New, greenar vehicle fleet intioduced and further

- Focus on gualty improvernent mcluding
changes planned ] yimp g

antimicrobial stewiardship

N nal Trust partnership and iativ
ational Trust pa s} tree planting mitiative - Sponsorship and chanty donations

PPE recycling trial underway
Outcomes
Qutcomes - Investment In the verennary prefession

« Monttoring and reducing cur environmental impact
g “ing P Raising standards across the sector

Reduced waste
: Current and future KPIs
+ Reduced cmissions
+ Percentage increase n comrmunity iInvestment

+ Reduced carbon footprint

Current and future KPIs

Current:

+ Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting {("SECR™)
on Scope 1, 2, and 3 emissions alongside details of
greenhouse gas emissions (Including anaesthetics)
not covered by SECR How we care

« Delivering strong financizl pe-formance

Investors

Percentage reduction in waste disposal per annum
Streamiined Energy and Carbon Reparting

Future:
Absclute reduction targets + Open-dialogue communication with our sharebolders
Tonnes of waste generated (hazardous, general, landfil - Ahgnrrent with targets

and incineration, recycled) ‘
i Improved shareholder access to senior management and

« Water consumption communication neluding appontment of financial PR

. n nd recoraing of analyst results presentations
Percentage of packaging formats that are recyclable, agency a g cranaly o

reusable or compostable Outcomes

- Sustainable snarcheldger value ana long-term growth

« LTIF awards inked to total sharehalder returns over the
medium ane longer term

- Fxecdtive Directors sugject to two-vear lock-in for future
LTIF awards

- Shargholder corsaltation on key 1ssues raised through
AGM voting or throughk regular meetings

Current and future KPIs
Share price and total sharsholder return
Virtual broker conferences

+ Engagoment with nvestors
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CVS’s approach to sustainability and ESG continued

QOur UNSDGs

The Group has identified the following UNSDGs as the
most important 1o our activities and rmpact on peonle,
anmmals and the natural environmeant

Pillar 3: Good health and wellbeing
Ensure healthy lives and promote wellbeing
far ail

Pillar &: Quality education

Ensure inclusive and equitable guality
education and promote hifelong learing
opportuntties for all.

Piltar 5: Gender equality
Achieve gender equality and cmpower all
wornen and girls.

Pillar 8: Decent work and economic
growth

Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable
econermc growth, full productive employment
and decent work for all.

Pillar 9: Industry, innovation ond
infrastructure

Build reslient infrassructure, promote
inclustve and sustainable industnalisation
and foster innovation.

Pillar 12: Responsible consumption
and production

Ensure sustainable consamption

and production patterns.

Pillar 13: Climate action
Take urgent action ta combat climate change
and Its 'mpac’s

Pillar 15: Life on land

Frotect, restore and promaote sustainable use
of terrestrial ecosystems. sustannably manage
forests, cornbat desertfication, and halt

ang reverse land degradation and Relt
biodiversity loss.

Pillar 17: Partnership for the goals
Strengtren the means of irplementanor
and revialise the global partrersh i for
sustainable developrient.
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Our responsibility: putting Care
into practice

We care about our responstibhility to people, animals and the
natural environmeant, and the United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals ("UNSDGs") are an invaluable framework
for our business to put care into practice. We outline below
our priorities as a Group and the initiatives we have put in
place to ensure we meet and exceed this responsibility,
highlignting the relevant UNSDGs

Attracting and retaining talent, and ensuring
the wellbeing of our employees

Why we care: Our service, and the success of our
operations, depend on the expertise, experience and
wellbeing of our tearms. Qur viston 1s to be the vetennary
company people most want to work for, and we aim to
acnieve this by providing long-term careers, appropriate
reward and benefits, and equal opportunities for all. We offer
numerous guahty developrnent opportunities atongside
excellent fachties and resources, whilst encouraging and
supporting good mental health.

How wae care: CV5 has created three new Welloeing Working
Groups. involving colleagues from a variety of roles across
the company We have trained over 300 Wellbeng Champions
n First Ad for Mental Health, embedding them in local
teams, alangside wellbeng traimng for senior leaders, which
had been taken up by over 280 managers by 30 June 2021,

Follow.ng the inancial year-end, we have introduced
enhanced holiday provision to support welibeing and
recogrise colleagues contribution through long service,
whils -educing the impact of job vacancias on teams

by improving attraction and retention for all roles

We track colleague engagement throogh the monthty
Employee Net Promoier Scores ("elNPS™), to ensure our
tezms are fulfiled and to allow us 10 respond to issues eatly

In a chnical setting, we provide Continuous Professional
Development ("CPD") allowances for all our vets and nurses,
M acchtion 1o n-degth rranmg prograrnmes and graduste
camps. To suppoit our nurses through the first lockdowr,
the LED team together with ChesterGates’ nursing scheol
developed the “From Nurses. For Nurses” initiative This
comprises a seres of webinars, quizzes ard Q&A-style
online sess.ons, led by our referral nurses for therr colleagues.

We offer a two-year graduate induction programme 1o
support early-career professionals, while our virtual LED
platiorm, Knowledge Hub, has improved ease of access to
‘nformation and learning onlire,



Delivering a first-class experience to our customers
and their animals

Why we care: Providing the best possible care for our
patients 1s INtegral to our business. Our teams care deeply
ahour the health of the animals they treat, providing
outstanding service and expertise that 1s trusted by

animal owners.

How we care: Our integrated model supports our
customers by allowing us to set the highest standards of
clinical care and support the work of cur practices with
specialist referral hospitals and diagnostic laboratories. This
approach s led by our Chief Vetennary Officer, Professor
John innes and his clinical team which includes our newly-
appomnted Chief Nursing Officer, Lucy Turner.

We are the only veterninary corporate group in the UK to
publish an annual Quality Improvement report, We are fully
committed to the RCVS Practice Standards Scheme and
have received a number of outstanding awards.

We provide access 1o high-guality veterinary specialists (o
assist in resolving complex clinical issues, while cur Vet
Oracle business provides tele-radiology and tele-neurclogy
image nterpretation services to first-opinion vets all over
the world.

Playing an active role in the communities in which
we operate, and the profession

Why we care: We believe in the importance of playing an
active role in cermmunity life. Bullding trust, familkarity and
reliability helps us make a positive iImpact on the lives of our
customers, patients, and their communities. Leading the
way In driving standards of excellence, innovation and
Initiatives to shape the profile of the profession will help

1o advance animal healthcare for future genarations.

How we care: We want to increase the level of diversity in
our sector and are beginning to work with schools and
universities to attract a more diverse workforce. We have
appointed a new Internal committee focusing on asgects of
diversity and inclusion. Qur new Employee Expenence role

also focuses onimpraving the diversity profile of our business,

and on our commitment to providing egual opportunities and
Improving the gender pay gap.

We also want to play a leading role in tackling issues such
as antimicrobial resistance - a critical challengs “or animal
healthcare globally, working with organisations embedded
within the profession to promaote responsible prescribing
of antimicrobials.

We engage with charities to provide veterinary services, and
we encourage our colleagues to fundraise for our charity
of the year, which is chosen by our colleagues.

66

We are, above all, a business
that cares about our wider
impact on the world around us.
We believe strongly that we have
a responsibility to do our very
best for our teams, our patients,
customers, and the communities
in which we work. This drives
value, but it’s also just the right
thing to do.”

Richard Fairman
Chief Executive Officer
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CVS’s approach to sustainability and ESG continued

Our responsibility: putting Care
into practice continued

Reducing our environmental impact

Why we care: Caring for animals goes hand in hand with
caring for the natural environment. Our aim i1s to minirmise
our impact on the planet in a way that supports and
develops aur services and clinical expertse.

How we care: We are investing m a renge of interventions 1o
increase efficiency ard reduce our chimate imoact As part
of our adopton of SECR, we have undertaken work to
recuce our Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions. as well &5
broadening the exten: of cur reporting to nclude details of
greenhouse gas emissions (including anaesthetics) which
are not covered by SECR.

Our initiatives o achieve this have included: moving to a
renewable energy supply: supporting smarter heat and
building management; adding slectne vehicles anc capping
CO. ermussions for our new fleet; decommissioning an-
conditioning supphes that use '‘R22° gas. whick has a high
ozone depletion potential redacing electncity tse in our
day-to-day operations, ana Improving our wase
management and increasing recycling.

Further, together with the Natioral Trust. our seven
crematoria sites across the UK have pledged to plant one
aquare metre of natve Brtish waoodland for every pet we
recelve directly for individual crermation throughodt 2021 So
farin 2021, we've already helped to plant 4 000m- of native
woodland through th's initiative,

in tancem with this, we will conduct work to measure
climate nisk within our business in Iine with *he
recommendations laia out by the Taskforce on Climate-
Related Financial Disclosures ("TCFD7).
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Working with suppliers to drive positive change
Why we care: We believe In driving sustainability at all
stages of our supply chain, and creating and adopting
sustairable practices and eguipment o ensure we can
effect positive change together with our suppliers.

How we care: We have, alongside our office supplies
supplier, Warrens Office, undertaker vanous packaging
reduction inibatives including reusable and recyclable
packaging. They have committed to switching all company
vehicles to electric venicles, which will be powered by the
company’s self-generated solar power.

We are also switching our products to more ervironmentally
friendly options, such as recycled proaucts.

Autumn 2021 will see the launch of the new CVS Print
Platform in conjuncuon with environmental award-winning
print supplier, SF Taylor This will heip reduce waste and
ensure we are using responsitly scurced matsrials,

We use Veolia's Microsoft Power Bl platform to analyse waste
collection data and menitor waste bin utilisation across

our pragtices. haelping us to increasa recycling and reduce
waste collections.

Vet Direct, our veterinary eguipment suppler, has vastly
reduced its pnnting of catalogues, and carbon balancing the
paver through the World Land Trust This has helped protect
4,999m- of entically threatenad ropical forest



Strategy in action

We take our
responsibilities seriously

Safety First

In January 2021, we launched our new online health and
safety systerm, Safety Hub. This resource includes traming
modules as well as divisionally-specific resources related to
each site’s area of work. Divisional Health and Safety
Advisors make regular support visits to review all areas of
safety complance and suppaort teams in meeting practce
standards. Site managers can complete weekly and monthly
compliance checklists on the Hub, and Regicnal Directors
can generate reports giving an overview of sites in their areas.

The system not only makes it easler for CVS cclleagues o
ensure they are Health and Safety compliant, it also reduces
the Group's environmental iImpact by removing the need for
paper checklists and instead utilising a user-friendly website
or smartphone app.

258 159

Courses completed by ‘Outstanding’ RCVS
managers on the new Practice Standards
Sofety Hub Scheme Awards
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Proactively identifying and
managing risk throughout

the Group

Risk management structure

Ihe Board has overall responsibility for ensuring risk s
appropriately managed across the Group The day-to-day
idenufication, management and mitigation of sk .s
delegated o the Group's senior managemernt.

R sk registers are prepared whicn evaluate the rnisks most
hikely to impact the Group. Colleagues across the business
are involved N the preparation and regular review of these
rsk registers in oraer to ensure that all potential areas of nisk
are adequately identified, recordec and managed Controls
that are in place are assessed in order to determine the
extent to which they mitigate r sk and 'n circurnstances
where it 1s considered appropriate to reduce nsk further,
approprate actions are determined.

The Group's business operations are subjec: to a wice range
o' risks Some of the most significant nisks are explained
below together with details of actions tnat have besn taken
to mitigare these risks.

The key roles and delegated responsibilities

Executive Management team
Collectively responsible for managing risks

Audit Committee

Assists the Beard to fulfil its corporate governance duties and
overseeas responsibilities in relation to financ al reporting,
internal control and the risk managerent structure

Internal audit

Holds meet ngs with nsk owners across the business,
assesses the risk ratings anc documents the controls In
place to mitigate each nisk, and recommends improvemants
and corection actions

Risk appetite

The effectiveness of the Group’s risk managen-ert approach
reles upon a culture of ransoarency and openness that s
encouraged by botn the Board and senior managemanz. The
Group's appetrte for sk 1s considerad low: vinilst some ris< 1s
accepted in order to develop the bus ness and west in future
growth, the Group has no appetite for major risks which
cannot be efectively mitgated through approoniate cortrols

50 | CVS Group plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021

Assessment of principal risks

During the year, the Board undertock a rebust, in-depth and
comprehensive assessmeant of the emerging and principat
rnsks facing the Group and specifically those that might
threaten the cdehvery of its strategic business model, its
future performance. solvency or lquidity A summary of
the principal risks and unceartainties that could impact the
Group's performance is shown on pages 52 to 57.

COVID-19 and Brexit

The Group faced unprecedented disruption to its cperatiors
In the previous financial year to 30 June 2020 due to the
COVID-19 pandemic, and the Group has had to continue

to evolve 1ts operations to reflect ongoing COVID19
government and regulatory guidance in the financial year

to 30 June 2021. The Group has also had to adapt to the
changes ansing from the UK's exit from the Eurcpean Umion,

The Board continues to monitor and assess the nisks and

opportunities which may arise from further disruption

througn COVID-19 or sirnilar pandemic and through Brexit ‘
The mechum end longer term impacts of COVID-19 and

Brexit remain unclear but the Board and senior management

continue to monitor developments and plan accordingly.

Our key focus In monitonng and managing “1sks from
COVID-19 and Brexit is to ensure the safety and wellbeing
of our colleagues and to ensure we have appropriate
resources in place to contirue to provide appropriate
services to our customers and ther animals.

COVID-19 and Brexit both have the ability to affect the |
follow ng principle risks:

- Key employees

« Economic envronment and consumer trends

- Competition

+ Changes nindustry regulatiors

» Sourcing pharmaceutical supplies

- Health and Safety leg.slgtion i
« Carporate legislatior or regulatory requirements

+ Bank faciities

- Futt.re pandemic or lockdown



Risk management framework

Board

Executive Committee
Audit
Committee
Internal controls

Internal audit

Group risk management

Employees
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Remate Possible Likely very likely

1 Keyemployees

2 Economic environment
and consurmer trends

3 Competition
4 Adverse public'ty
s informatior technology

6  Changes in irdustry
regulations

7 Sourcing pharmaceutical
supplies
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Probability

Sourcing and integrating
acgusitions

Fealth and Safety
legislation

Corporate legislation or
regulatory requirements

Ban« focilities

Future pandenric
or locxdown

Sustainability and
climate change
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

No changetorisk  Increasing risk  Reducing risk  New risk

1. Key employees

[
Mitigating factors

« Close relationsh'p with UK veter nary schools and market-
laading graduate irduction programme.

Description

Failure to retain and attract
key colleagues, particularly
veterinary surgeons due to
structural shortages of
gualified vets \n the industry.

+ Focused traming programmes to cover clinical, customer
service and managerment traiming

. o and f|
Potential impact Appropriate reward and benefits.

- Fallure to be able 10 mesat
the increased demand
from clients and therr
animals.

- Regular feedback from colleagues to address common
issues or concerns, including our whistleblowing policy,
as detalled on page 64.

Highly qualified recrutment team.

+ Home Office reinstatament of Veterinary Surgeons on UK

o] i dver -
osts leading to adverse Shortage Occupation List.

mpact on fimancial
performance of the Group.

Increased pressure on our
colleagues to cover

\
+ Increasad employment ’
VAGENCY Gaps. }

2. Economic environment and consumer trends

I Mitigating factors

» Diverse range and provision of services across the Group
to a wide range of animals n the UK, the Netherlands and
the Republic of Irelana.

Description

Risk that Brexit and the
continung COVID-19
pandemiz has a detnimental
impact on the economy.

= Strong year on year growth in the Healthy Pet Club

("HPC, which had 450,000 rmembers at the year end
and the Healthy Horse Programime ("HHP"), which had
10,000 memaoers This promotes loyalty to the Group.

Potential impact \
- Reduction 'n consumer |
confidence and spending ‘

\

onveterinary services )
! - Online retall business protects the Group against changes

+ Snort term restrictions I consuiter spending habis
N resource due ‘o
reauremeant for

self-isolation.

« Ability 1o source supplies from a number
of manufacturers

« Further lockdown
restr ctions.

+ Changing consurner
trerds may lead
to areducton n

|
|
« Supply disruptions, \
|
|
|
net ownership. |
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Changes in the year

.

We have ncreased the
number of vets and nurses
employed by 10.2% anc

8 0% respectively.

in order to delver growth
and service the increased
demand we are seeking to
recruit more vets and nurses.

Attrition rates remain
unchanged.

Link to

strategy
Read more on
pages22and 23

1 2 3 L

Changes in the yeoar

We continue to respond to
evolving government ard
regulatory guidance and
are able to adapt our
services accordingly (e.g.
the use of tele-consultations
where required).

» Brexitimmport and export

rules and regulations
are clear.

According to the Pet Food
Manufacturers Association,
¢ 3 2m UK householas
oought & oet during the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Link to
strategy

Re:ad more on
pages 22and 23

2 3 L



3. Competition

Description

Increased consolidation and
acquisition of incependent
veternary practices.

Potential impact

« Loss of third-party practice
clients to Laboratores,
Crematorna and Referrals.

« Increased acquisition
value multiples being paid.

Increased price
competition may limit
the ability 10 pass on
ncreases in employment,
pharmaceutical and
other costs.

Mitigating factors

The Group has a wide range of services to offer its clients
by way of its integrated vetermnary platform.

« Continuous investment to maintain high-class facilities and

equipment In order 1o provide excellent chnical service.

- Detalled assessment of acquisition cpportunities

measured against clear target criteria,

- Regular reviews of pricing of products and services to

ensure we rermain compelitive.

4. Adverse publicity

Description

Any adverse publicity on the
Group, other corporgte
vetarinary groups or on the
veterinary sector as a2 whole

Potential impact

« Reduction in customaer
numbers leading to
adverse revenue.

- Adverse impact on our
ability to attract and retain
key colleagues.

' Mitigating factors

« Policies and procedures ir place to monitor service
delivery and ensure continued levels of high class
veterinary care

« Participation in the RCVS Practice Standards Scheme
and RCVS Knowledge QI Champion accreditation.

+ Established Clinical Advisory Comrmittees to advise
on clinical standards and drug lists across the Group.

- Individual practice brancing to reduce the risk of any
adverse publicity being associated with other practices

+ Group Marketing and Communications teams to respend
swiftly to any issues.

- Prominent representation on national bodies and at industry
events to build the Group's reputation and credibility.
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Changes in the year
« Ongoing market
corsolidation.

« Growlth in revenuos across
all divisions.

- Continued increase
inour HPC and HHP
schemes to retain
our clients.

Link to

strategy
fead morz on
nayes 22 and 23

1 2 3

Changes in the year

- Financial PR agency
appointed 1o support with
media communication,

+ Conunued monitoring of
our clinical standards
against our guality
improvemeant framewcris
for clinicians and
practices.

Link to

strategy
Read more on
pages 22and 23

1 2 3 %
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Nochange torisk  Increasingrisk  Reducingrisk  Newrisk

5. Information technology

Description Mitigating foctors

The Group 1s dependent on « Policies and procedures are in place (o ensure stability
various aspacts of and security of our networks and systems.
information Technaoiogy
("IT"yand support for 'ts
operations.

- Restrnicted access (o systems, networks and applications
WIIETEver nossioie.

Scheduted program of network security enhancement

Potential impact ] B : ; i
witn external reviews parformed penodically.

- A cyber-attack could result
1 loss of systems and
potential loss of client data.

Full systern testing of any developments prior to
live deploymeant

|
+ |oss of conrectivity and \‘ + Regular backups and testing of the recovery of those
availabilty of systems \ aystem hackups.
acrass aur natwork. \
|
|

Established Practice Management System in place which
IS able to work without access to the internet for short
perods of trme.

6. Changes in industry regulations

Description ‘ Mitigating factors

The industry is subject - Policies and procedures in place to manitar compliance
to a number of laws and any developments or proposed changes.

and regulations.

bodies to promote best practice and loobying for cnange
where consiclered anpropnate

Potential impact
+ Failure to adhere to these

|
l
|
| - Regular ergagement with regulatory and legislative
\

t

could have a matenal ‘\ .

\
\
|
\
\
\
|
\
[
|

Clincal Directors in place o ensure ligh standards are

impact on the Group maintaned

through damage to
reputation and/or
financial penalties.

« Changes in regulations
could adversely impact
the Group's competitive
advantage.
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Changes in the yeor

Appontment of a Chief
Technology Officer

Strengthened senior iT
team including appaintment
of Head of Security and
Head of IT Projects.

Link to
strategy
Read rmore or
pages 22 and 23

3 4

Changes in the yeor

Maonutoring and adherence
to temperary regulation
changes put in place oy the
RCVS as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Link to

strategy
Read more on
pages 22 and 23

1 2 3 N



7. Sourcing pharmaceutical supplies

Description

Failure to source
pharmaceutical poducts
at the required price

and quantity.

Potential impact

- Inability to treat patients
with the required
prescription and non-
prescription medicines.

- Adverse revenue impact.

- Adverse impact on
margins through having to
source alternative supplies
on less favourable terms.

Mitigating factors
+ Supply agreements in place with mukuple major
wholesaters fo cover stocking i1ssues.

- Supply of own-brand products in Group warekhouses
for onwards supply.

« Regular pricing reviews with all major supphers across all
divisions for best possible pricing.

8. Sourcing and integrating acquisitions

Description

Fallure to attract and acquire
acguisitions at the
appropriate prica.

Potential impact

« Pressure that higher
multiples reduces growth
cpportunities through
acquisitions,

+ Failure to integrate
efficiently impacting
actual performance versus
business case.

Mitigating factors
+ Dedicated team committed to sourcing acqUisitions.

- Clear list of criteria used to assess any potential
acquisition targets.

« Multi-disciplined team communications in advance of
acquisition to plan the integration.

+ Use of professional advisers to ensure appropriate due
diligence and legal advice 1s undertaken.

- Close monitoring of post-acauisit on performance versus
business plan.

Changes in the year

- Monitonng the availabilizy
of any drugs sourced from
outside tho UK due 1o Brexit
and the cngoing COVID-19
candermic.

+ Increased stock levels in
Group warehousing to
reduce the potential impact
of any supply disruption.

.

New warehousing system.

New direct supply
agreement with major
manufacturer.

Link to

strategy
Raad more on
payges 22and 23

1 4

Changes in the year
- Strengthened acquisiiions
team.

Link to

strategy
Read more on
rages 22 and 23
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

No change to risk Increasing risk Reducing risk  New risk

9. Health and Safety legislation

Changes in the year

+ Ongoing provision of
COVID-19 guidance in light
of evolving guidelines.

- COVIDIQ test kits
provided to colleagues.

« COVID-19 secure risk
assessments at all sites

Mitigating factors
- Robust Fealth and safety procedures are in place ensuring
full compliance with healtk and safety legislation

Description

Failure 10 comply with health
and safety legistation across
our practices, laboratones,
crematona, warehouse and
other stes.

» Mandatery emnployee raming to ensare they can perform
their duties safely

« Appropriate protective equipment supplied to all employees
Potential impact in order for them to perform their duties safely
» Colleagues, chents or the

[
|
|
\
!
l
l
|
general public are njured. I
|
|
|
|
L
|
\
|
\
|
|
\
|

Specialist Health and Safety team which regularly reviews

any risks and dentifies areas for improvement. » Enhanced PPE supnlied
to protect colleagues and
clients against COVID-19

and other risks

- Requlired tempaorary
closure of sites whilst any
issues are addressed

.

|

|

\

Farticipation ir the RCVS Practice Standards Scheme ‘l
to ensure the Group promotes the highest levels of

clinical standards |

|

1

\

|

|

|

.

New guidance and training
supphed 1o colleagues.

Link to
strategy
Reag mare or
pages 22and 23

+ Loss of revenue and
potential claims against
the Group.

Zpecialist and appropriately qualified third-party advisers
Jndertake mantenance, inspections and property
developrment

1 3 L)

! !
10. Corporate legisiation and regulatory requirements

| |
Description | Mitigating factors

Failure to comply with laws - Approprate trairing supplied to colleagues in the relevant
and regulations areas reguired

Changes in the year

- Regular reviews of legal
and regulatory
developments across &l
counties in which the
Group operates.

Potential impact
- The Group could face
f nes and penalties leading

|
» Suitable experts employed to ensure compliance
and to regularly update policies and procedures. .

|

\

\

l

‘l « Approprate insurance cover and third-party professional
‘ advice used as regured.
|

|

I

|

|

to financal loss Link to
e
« The Group could face | §:;§En§?.?m
suspension of certam rages 22and 23

aperations.
y

!
l
|
i
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11. Bank facilities

Description

Failure to comply with bank
covenants and ability to
secure future funding.

Potential impact
« Lack of availability
of funding.

+ Increased borrowing
costs,

Mitigating factors
« The Group maintains suitable facilities from a synd cate
of leading barks with an agppropnate term

- Existing facilities cornprise term debt, revalving credit
faciity and an overdraft.

+ Regular reporting of headroom and compliance
to the Board and Executive Commitiee.

+ Regular meetings with bank syndicate members to
appraise performance.

- Daily cash flow forecasts prepared and reviewed for a
roiling three-month period to enable working capital
reguirements to be understood and to optimise bank
drawings and interest costs.

12. Future pandemic or lockdown

Description

Future uncertainty over
COVID-19 or other pandemic
and associated lockdowns.

Potential impact

- Future lockdowns affect
our ability to service our
clents If non-emergency
services are unable to be
undertaken.

Mltlgating factors
« Working closely with the RCVS and BVA to review
evolving guidance,

+ Multiple, geographically-spread locations across the UK,
Netherlands and Republic of Ireland protect the Group
from any localised lockdowns,

« The Group operates across a diverse number of operations
with an online retail business and provides veternary care
across companion, eguine and farm arimal species.

+ The farm animal division 15 protected due to it be'ng
critical to the human food cnain.

13. Sustainability and climate change

Description

The Group's continued
success depends on the
social and environmenial
sustanability of its operations.

Potential impact

« Disruptions to our supply
chain leading to stock
shortage and financial loss.

+ Adverse weather leading
to a decline In our client
demand.

+ Changes in regulations
increasing the cost of
aur operatons.

Mitigating factors
« Sustainability and ESG 1s discussed as a standing agenca
iterm in Board meetings.

- ESG waorking group formed which is chaired by the CEO.

« Appointment of ESG advisers to help assess our rnisks and
to develop our Sustainanility ana ESG focus.

Changes in the year

« The Group s cash
generative and has
continued to reduce net
debt and leverage, tnereby
increasirg the headroom
under the financial
covenants.

Link to

strategy
Read more on
nages 22and 23

1 2 3 &

Changes in the year

- Continued adherence
to government and
regulatory advice across
all operating territores,

Link to

strategy
Read more on
vages 22and 23

1 2 3 4

Changes in the year

+ Increased focus on £5G
and additional detall
included in Annual Report.

Link to

strategy
Read more on
pages 22and 23

1 2 3 4
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Board of Directors and Company Secretary

Our experienced Board with
diverse skills and expertise

Richard Connell (66)
Non-Executive Chairman

Appointment to the Board
Richard was appointad to the
Board In Septembeat 2007

Career and experience
Richard 'z a Chartered
Accountant ard worked
nwvestment management aaith
31 Group, Invesco and HSRC
Prayia.sly he was Char of
Digniiy ple, Mercury Pharma
ancineal Selrad Group

Committee membership
2chad was & member of

all three Board Cornim trees
td 20 Apnl 2021 Richard

s 1o longer a memiber of
the Audit Reruneration

o o “gton Comomhiess

A » N

Mike McCollum (54)
Non-Executive Director

Appointment 1o the Board
Mike was appointed
ro i Board in Apnl 2013

Career and experience
Mike was Chiet Frecutive
Offcer of Digwiy ple a
FTSE-hsted proviaer of fureral
services, unal 2 &pnl 2020
Like CVE, thiss a multi-site,
ECOUISITIVE 5GIVICE LUSINSSS
As Foance Diredion Me was

a2 pnme moyer (0 the 2002
loveraged buvolt, the
whelo-ousiness sccuntisafion
n 2003 ana the PO in 2004,
He becamie Ch.ef Execut ve
Offcew 2002 Mikes e
snlctar ara bolds sr VBA
from the Urversity of Warwick.

Committee membership
b s Thar of tha 2
o es Fas a mermber of afl
trree doard Cor-itess and g
the Senior inaene~den Director

58 | CVS Group ple Annucl Report and Financiol Statements 202t

A R N

Deborah Kemp {60)
Non-Executive Director

Appointment to the Board
Debaoran was appointed
ta the Board in January 2018

Career and experience
Deborah has held a variety of
Chief Executve Officer ioles in
the corsumer and haospitality
sector including asa FI15E 100
main coard Director at Punch
Taverns plc. Her career started
At Bass nic as a Chartered
Surveyor, subsequently holding
key strategic rcles in the
evelunon ana grewth of the
PLnch Taverns pub company
Fellowing a per od in private
Uty and a Urade sale of
Laurel Funerals, she 's now

a Drrector of vennco Limited
and a consultarcy and interm
specialistin the consumer-
facg retall and nosprtahity
seCtor, and assisis muli-site
husinesses rhrough growth,
change and frans‘ormaton.

Committee membership
D2uoran s Chaw of the

Re nunezration Comm tiee

She s a memkber of all three
Ecara Committzes ard s the
dedizatea Non-Executive Director
for emoicyee engagernent

A R N

Richard Gray (64)
Non-Executive Director

Appointment to the Board
Richard was appointed
to the Baard iy July 2020

Career and experience
Richard 1s an investment banke
whe has extensive capital
markets and corporate finance
experience Heisa Director of
Zeus Capital and has previcush
worked with Panmure Gordon,
Lazard, Charterrouse and UBS,
He s a NMon-Executive Duector
of BMO Private Equity Trust plo
and holds a number of private
company appeintments
including Non-Executve Director
of Alpha Real Cap il are Vice
Charr of invescore Groun,

Committee membership
fichard s Chanr of the
Nomunation Corenities

and s a member of all three
Boa-d Commitiess



Richard Fairman (54)
Chief Executive Officer

Appointment to the Board
Richard was appointed as a
Director In August 2018 and was
appointed as Chief Financial
Officer in October 2018, and
then as Chief Fxecutive Officar
in Novernber 2019,

Career and experience
Richard spent six and a half years
at the RAC Group, including as
Chuef Financial Officer from 2016
Prior to this, Richard gualified
as a Chartered Accounzant at
EY, later working at PwC,
following which Richard held
roles including Finance Director
of Virgin Money, CFQ of Central
Trust and Finance Director of
Virgin Money Grying.

Ben Jacklin (37)
Chief Operating Officer

Appointment to the Board
Ben was appointed as a Director
and Chief Operating Officer

n Novenber 2019

Career and experience

Ben is responsible for the
leadership and management of
our business operalions, acroess
all our territores. These include
all our Veterinary Pracuces and
our Laboratories, Cremator a.
Marketing and Ccmmunicaticn
departments. Ben joined CVSin
2015 and. pricr to hig
appointment to the Beard in
208, jed the Vetenrary
Practices division across the
CVS territories. Ben qualfied as
a Veterinary Surgeon from
Cambridge Un versity, and 1s a
European College of Veterinary
Surgeons and Royal College of
Veterinary Surgeons recognised
spacialist in equine surgery.

Committee membership

A Aucht Committee

R Remuneration Coninnttee

Robin Alfonso (42)
Chief Financial Officer

Appointment to the Board
Robin was appoirted as
aDirector and Chef Financial
Officer in Novermper 2019,

Career and experience
Robir spent eignit years at the
RAC Group, Intiglly as Group
Financial Cortroller and then as
Divisional Finance Srector of its
largest commercial aivision and
profit centre, Consumer
Roadside and Marketing. Prior
o this, Rob'n qualfied as a
Chartered Accountart at Pwl
following which he moved to
Awiva where he performec a
techncal accounting role

N Nomination Committee

Chair of Committes

Jenny Farrer (44)
Company Secretary

Appointment to the Board
Jerny was apoointed as
Company Secretary In

August 2021,

Career and experience
Jerry s a fellow of the
Chartered Governance Institute
with fifteen years experence
of acting as Company Secrctary
1o listed and large private
companies through in-house
and professicnal practice roles
lenny is a Chartered Secratary
and has also spent over seven
years in professional practice
establishing and heading the
Company Secretarial Practice
at Mills & Reeve LLP Jenny
esfablished the East of England
Brancn of the Charterad
Governance Institute in 2008
and sull takes an active role or
Its commitiee
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Corporate governance statement

Effective management
across the business

66

Effective corporate governance
is key to delivering the Group’s
strategy and ensuring the
long-term success of the Group.”

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary

Board and Company Secretary
gender diversity

Male 5
Fernale
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Principles of corporate governance

The purpose of this report is to provide our shareholders
and other stakeholders with nformation on how the
Company 1s managed, the roles of the Directors and the
Committees and 1o set out the Company's compliance with
the FRC UK Corporaie Governance Code 2018 ("the Code”),
The report also sets out the Group's internal managemert
controls while risk management details are avalable on
pages 50w 37

This Annual Report and Financial Statements should. overall,
provicle information that enables shareholders to assess how
the Directors have performed their duties under Section
172(1) of the Comparies Act 2006 to promote the success
of the Cornpany for the benefit of its members as a whole
Our Section 172(1) Statement can be found on page 18.

Compliance statements

Durning the year to 30 June 2021, the Company has compliea
with the princigles set outin the Code. The following paragraphs
consist of comcliance statements,

The purpose of the Cormpany is to give the bast possible
care to animels and the Company’s vision is 1o be the
veterinary company people maost want to waork for The
Board has consulted with employees over this objective and
itis frmly believed that where this is achieved, the Gompany
will best meet 11s responsibilities to stakeholders.

Board and Company Secretary
ethnic diversity

White 7
Ethnic minority 1



Board committees

Audit Committee
Key responsibilities:

+ reviewing and monitoring financial reporting;
« internal control and risk management;
+ whistleblowing procedures; and

+ monitoring internal and external audit arrangements
(including auditor Independence).

Noemination Committee
Key responsibilities:

+ making recommendations on all Board appointments
and succession planning;

- monitering and reviewing the Board composition; and

- undertaking an annual evaluation of the effectiveness
of the Board and its Committees.

Remuneration Committee
Key responsibilities:

+ assisting the Board in ensuring appropnate
remuneration policies are N place for the Group;

« ensuring Executive Rirector remuneration is aligned
to the strategic priorities of the Group and 1ts
performance; and

- making recommendations regarding long-term
incentive plan terms and conditions, and awards.

Executive Committee
and Company Secretary

Male 3]
Female 3

At 30 June 2021 the Board of Directors consisted of seven
members, including a Non-Executive Cnairman, and three
independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board presents
& wide range of experence including customer-facing
multi-site companies, mergers and acguisitions, firancial,
operational and organisational, and no one individual

or small group of individuals dominates the Board's
decision-making process.

The Company achieves shareholder returns through growth,
both organically from its integrated business model and
through the acquisition of synergistic business.

The business of the Company and its subsidiaries 1s the
combined responsibility of the Board, which is responsiole
for controlling and leading the Group. The Board's
responsibilities include:

+ setting the strategy of the Group and making major
strategic decis-ans;

- approving other significant operational matters,
+ agreeing annual budgets and monitoring results;
- manitorng funding reguirements and forecasting:

« reviewing the risk profile of the Group and ensuring
adequate nterral controls are in place;

- approving acquisitions of more than £1.0m and all
major capital expenditure; and

- proposing dividends to shareholders.

Ali Directors are able to take independeart professional
advice on the furtherance of their duties if necessary.

They also have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary and, wherea it is considered appropriate
and necessary. training 1s made avalable to Directors. All
Directors receive updates on the duties and responsibilities
of being a Director of an AlM-guoted company. This covers
legal, accounting and tax matters, as required. The Company
maintains appropriate insurance cover in respect of any
legal action against 1ts Directors. The level of cover s
currently £50.0m for any one claim.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Board committees continued

The Board identified Mike McCollum as the Sernor
Independent Director dunng the past financial year and he
has been available to the other Directors and shareholcers
to discuss any matters relating 1o the Chairmar Following
Mike McCollurm's pending departure on 23 Septermniper 2021,
the Beard will identify Deborah Kernp as the Senor
Independent Director.

The Non-Executive Directors confirm that they have
sufficient Ume to devote to meet their Board responstbilites
in addition 1o the 11 scheduled Board Meetings and other
Committee Meetings. the Non-Exacutive Directors make
thermselves available for ad-hoc meetings and Boara calls
1o receive regular updates and 1o deal with specific projects
or matters arising during tihe vear.

The Charman and Non-Executive Directors meet from time
to time as appropriate without the Executive O rectors present

When conditions allow, the Non-Executive Diectors also
spend tme visiting the Group's operauons i arder to meet
with colleagues and to develop ther uncersianding of the
busness operations, and are invited to attend the anpual
conference. Daborah Kemp is the dedicated Naon-Executive
Director for employee engagement and she consults

vith colieagues throughout the yvear on how the Board's
decisions affect them.

This additional exposure o the Gioup’s operations provides
the Non-Executve Direcrors with invaluable experience
enabling them to provide effective and constructive
challenge and strategic guidance. to offer specialist advice
and o hold management to account.

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committea Committee
Number
of meetings 13 2 8 5
R Connell 13 2 g 5
M tAcCollum 13 2 8 S
D Kemp 13 2 8 5
R Cray ™~ 12 2 5 4
R Fairrnan 13 2" B 3
R Alfonso 13 o 3* 3
B Jackln 13 2 3 3

ir attendance byonataton of ire regnec co Camem Toe

TroRichard Gray weas apro niesd to e Beard o 20 12 2027 an o nas

wiended all doara et Aze s date

The Audit Committee

Bunng the year under review the Commuttze Charwas

t ke McCollum. Mike became Chair of the Committee n
July 2020 having worked previously s the CFO for a FTSE
250 basiness. All Non-Executive Directors were members
of the Comm itee until 30 Apnl 2021 when the Charaan
stood down.

The Board considers that merrbers of the Audt Committee
have recent and relevant iinarcial expertse, ana that the
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Committee as a whole has competence relevant to the
sector in which the Company operates.

The Audit Committee’s dutias primarily concern financial
reparting, internal control and risk management systerns,
whistleblowing procedures and internal audit and external
audit arrangements {including auditor independence).

The Audit Committee report can be found on nages 65
and 66.

Followng Mike McCollurm's pending departure on

23 September 2021, and upon David Wilton's appointment
as a Mon-Executive Director on 24 September 2021 Dawnid
will become the new Chair of the Audit Commuttee David
15 a Charterea Accountant and has a wealth of expenence
n senior finance roles includmng in listed companies.

The Nomination Committee

Dunng the year under review the Chair of the Normination
Cornmittes was Richard Gray, foliowing his appointment

as a Non-Executive Rirector in July 2020. The meeting at
which he was appointad was chairad by Debarah Kemp

All Non-Executive Directors were members of the Committee
until 30 April 2021 when the Chairman stood down,

The Nommation Commitiee is responsible for reviewing

the structure, size and composition, including skills,
independence, knowledge and experience, of the Board.

It s also responsible for the co-ordination of the annual
evaluation of the performance of the Board and of its
Committees, and for ensuring appropriate succession plans
aren place. Given the size of the Group and the Company's
AIM listing, the Board does not believe external evaluation
of the Beard to be appropriate. All Directors engage in the
nternal evalualion ana appropnale acuon is taken n hight

of the assessment.

The Committes i1s responsible for making recommendations
1o the Board on all Board appointments and on the succession
pians for borh Executive Directors and Non-Exacutive Directors.

The Nomination Committee report can be found or pages
57 and 68.

Following Mike McCollum’s decision to stand down as a
Non-Executive Director at the end of his current service
agreement on 23 September 2021, the Committee has
overseen the selection of Mike's successor which has leg
to the proposed appointment of David Wilton with effect
from 24 September 2021,

The Remuneration Committee

Duning the year under rev.ew the Chawr of the Remuneration
Committee was Deborah Kemp. Deborah becarne Charr of
the Comrritteen july 2020. All Non-Executive Directors
were mermoers of the Committee until 30 April 2021 when
the Charrman stood down.

The Remuneratior. Committes has delegated respaonsibility
for desigring and determinng remuneration for the
Chairman, Execut-ve Dirgctors and next level of senior
management, as well as the Company Secretary.



The Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ"), the Chief Financial
Officer ("CFO”) and the Chief Operating Officer ({COQC")

are invited to attend meetings as appropnate but do not
participate i discussions relating to theirr own remuneration.
The Chairman will also be invited to attend meetings as
appropriate, following standing down from the committee
from 30 Apnl 2021,

The Remuneration Committee repor L can e found on
pages 691t 77

The Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that
Board procedures are complied with, advising the Board

on all governance matters, supporting the Chairman and
helping the Board and its Committeas to function efficiertly.

Jenny Farrer was appointed Company Secretary with effect
from 16 August 2021.

Annual General Meeting 2020 - voting results

In the 2020 Result of AGM announcement, the Board of CVS
noted that all the resolutions haa been passed with the
reguisiie majority, but that the resolution to reappaint
Richard Connell as Chairman received 75.1% support and
the resolution to approve the Remuneration Commitlee
report received 78.5% support. Whilst a clear majority of
shareholders were supportive, in accordance with Provision
4 of the UK Coroorate Governance Code the Board of CVS
has consulted with major shareholders in crder to better
understand therr views on these matters. In accordance with
the Code. the Company published a market announcement
regarding the shareholder consultation on 13 May 2021 via
RNS and on the investor Centra area of our wabsite.

During the course of the year the Board of Directors have
continued to actively engage with shareholders and to
discuss and consider their feedback.

Cver the past two years, the following changes have been
rmade 10 remuneration policies and committes composition:

- Introduction of malus and clawback for annual bonuses
and LTIPs.

« Remuneration Committee discretion to override formulaic
outcomes introduced for bonuses and LTIPs.

+ LTIP scheme performance conditions amended so
g5 to closely align with shareholder returns with 50%
of the performance condition now based on total
shareholder return.

« Target shareholding threshclds introduced of 100%
of salary for the CEQ, COC and CFO.

+ Two year holding period introduced for new LTIP awards
for the CEQ, COO and CFO.

+ Board Committees were restructured to ensure that all are
chaired by independent Non-Executive Directors.

Independence

Ricnard Connell has neld the position of Chairman of the
Board since September 2007 and therefore has served on the
Board for mare than nine years, which is an example in the
Code of a circumstance in which & Non-Executive Director's
independence is likely to be, or could appear to be impared.
The Board of Directors believe that Richard's knowledge of
the veterinary sector and experience of private equity and
corporate transactions has been imvaluable in steenng the
Company through the ongo.ng COVIDA9 pandemic. He has
also personally overseen a major restructuring of the Board
over the past three yaars, appointing Richard Farman as
CEQ, Ben Jacklin as COO and Rokin Alfonso as CFO, as well
as strengthening the Board through the appointment of
Richard Gray as an additional Non-Executive Director.

These changes have delivered improved performance

and a substanual increase in shareholder value in the past
twelve months Mike McCollum, Deborah Kemp and Richard
Gray are considered 1o be independent by the Board and,
following the shareholder consultation after the 2020 AGM,
Richard Connell stood dowr from all Commitiees.

Save for Mike McCollum, all Directors will offer themselves
for re-election at the 2021 AGM of the Company.

Relations with shareholders

Copies of the Annual Report and Financial Statements are
issued to all shareholders where requested and copies are
avallable on the Group's website (www rvsukltd.co.uk).

The Group also Lses its website to provide information to
shareholders and other interested parties. The Company
Secratary deals with correspondence as and when it anses
throughout the year.

Due to the challenges around physical meetings in 2020,
the last AGM of the Company was held as a closed meetng
In accordance with the Corparate Insolvency and Govarnance
Act {"CIGA") 2020 and guidance issued by the Chartered
Governance Institute. The Executive and Non-Executive
Directors and the Company Secretary frequently engaged
witn shareholders during the course of the year. The Comparny
will announce its plans for this year's AGM shortly in Iight of
latest COVID-19 government guidance. Full detalls of the
2021 AGM meeting arrangements and notice will be made
available on our website.

The CEO, COO and CFQO have regular meetings with
insttutional investors, prvate client brokers, ndwidual
shareholders, fund managers and analysts 1o discuss
information made public by the Group,

The Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors are

always avallable to shareholders on all matters relating 1o
governance and strategy. They may be contacted through
the Company Secretary al company.secretary@cvsvets.com.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Whistleblowing

The Group's whistleblowing policy 18 reviewed by the Board
annuzlly The policy sets out the procedures for employees
or third parties to ralse concerns about any susbected
wrongdoing. Employees also nave access (o a wide range
of alternative and informal routes through which to raise
concerns. Thig reflects the open culture and strong internal
commuanication channels of the Groap, in ing with gur
strategy, and supports the formal whistleblowing policy we
have in place. The Board receives a whistleblowing report
at each Board meeting and will receive more detailed reports
of any investigations that may take piace. There were no
Issues reported to the Board under the whistleblowing
nolicy dunng the year.

Audit, risk and internal control

The Board s ultimately responsible for the Group's system
of mternal control and for reviewing s effectveness on an
ongeing basis

The system s designed (o manage rather than elitrinate
the nisk of fallure to achieve the Group's streteic objectives,
and can only provide reascnable and not aosolute assurance
against material msstatement or loss

The key risk management processes and internal control
procedures include the following:

+ the close iInvolvement of the Executive Drectors in all
aspects of the day-to-day operations, including regular
meetings with serior colleagues from across the Group
and a review of the monthly operational reports compiled
by sentor management,

« clearly defined responsibiities and limits of authorty.
The Board has respons.bility for strategy and has adoptad
a schedule of matters which are required to be brought to
it for decision,

+ acomprehensive system of financial reporting, forecastng
and budgeting. Detailed budgets are preparec annually
for all parts of the business. Reviews occur through the
managernent structure culminating ina Group bhudget
which is considered and approved by the Board. Group
management accoJnts are prepared monthly and
submitted to the Board for review. Yariarces from the
budget and the prior year ave closely monitored and
explanations are provided for sigificant var ances
Independenrt of the budget process. the Board reqularhy
reviews revised profit, cash flow and bank covenant
corphance forecasts wh ch are updated =o reflect actus)
performanrce trends;

+ acontinuous process for igentfying evaluatirg and
managing s:\gnificant risks across tne Group together with
a comprefensive annual review of r sks which covers both
fnancial and non-financial areas;
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+ an ndependent internal audit function that reports to
the Chai of the Audit Commitiee;

- acentral team that checks clinical and health and safety
compliance in all parts of the Group; and

+ the Company's Scheme of Delegation of Financial Authonty.

The Board 1s committed to maintaining high standards of
business conduct and ethics, and has an ongoing process
far identifying, evaluating and managing any significant risks
In this regard.

The internal control procedures are delegated to the
Executive Directors and senior management and are
reviewed in ght of the ongaing assessment of the Group’s
s'gnificant risks.

Internal audit

The Internal Audit team has iImplemented and refined the
audit process focusing or financial and related procedure
risks primarily across the Vetermary Pract.ces division.
Performance of the [nternal Audit functior will continue
to be reviewad during the current financial year to ensure
it rema.ns appropriate.

Remuneration

The Board considers that policies on executive remuneration
should be transparent. They should be implemented in a
manner which supports strategy and premotes long-term
sustainable growth In addition, remunerauon shoula reflect
both the performance of the Company as well a3 individuals.
The Board has delegated to the Remuneration Committee
respansibility for complying with these aspects of the Code
and the work of the Committee g reported in full on pages
B9 ta 77 of this Annual Report.

Annudl General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of the Company will take
place or 24 Novernber 2021, Full details of resolutions 1o be
proposed to cur shareholders wili be set out in the Notce of
AGM will which wili be made available in the Investor Centre
on our website,

Qutcomes of the resolutions put to the AGM, incluaing pall
results detailing votes for, against and withheld, wl be
published on the website of the Company ard the London
Stock Excharge orce the AGM has concluded.

By arder of <he Board

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary
23 September 2021



Audit Committee report

Ensuring accountability
and transparency

Mike McCollum
Audit Committee Chair

Key responsibilities:
« reviewing and monitoring financial reporting;

« internal control and risk management;
- whistleblowing procedures: and
« monitoring internal and external audit arrangements

(including auditor independence).

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2021 Attendance
Richard Connell* 2
Mike McCollum 2
Debcorah Kemp 2
Richard Gray 2

= Richard Connell was a member of the Commuttee unt | 20 Apnl 2021
when he stepped down from all Board Comrmutiees Whilst Richard
Conrellis ne longer a memner of the Committee, Richaicd may
attend future committee meetings along with the Executive
Lyrectars At the mwitatian of, and where thig 1s considered
aporopnate by the Comrmittee Chair

Responsibilities and terms of reference

The Committee 15 responsible for ensunng that the financial
performance of the Group is properly monitored and reported,
for meeting wath the external audizor and for reviewing its
reports relating to financial staterments and internal contrel
matters. During the year under review the Committee Chair
was Mike McCollum, who becarne Chair of the Commitiee
in July 2020 All Non-Executive Directors are members of
the Committee, apart from the Chairman, Richard Connell,
who stood down from the Committee on 30 Apnl 2021

The Cnief Executive Officer ("CEQ"), the Chief Operating
Officer ("COC") and the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") are
invited to atiend such rmeetings, but the Committee also
meets with the auditor without the CEQ, COO and CFO
heing present at least once annually Other members of
managerment are invited to present such reports as are
required for the Committee to discharge its duties.

The agenda of each meeating 1s linkad to the reporting
requirements of the Group and the Group's financial
calendar Each Audit Committee member has the right
1o require reports on matters relevant to its terms of
refererice in addition to the regular items.

Summary of activity

In the year ended 30 June 2021 and up to the date of this
report the actions taken by tne Audit Committes to discharge
its duties included:

- reviewirg the Annual Report and Financial Statements and
the Intenm Report, including significant financial reporing
judgements contained tnerain, As part of these reviews
the Committee receved a report from the external auditor
on its audit of the annual financial statements;

advising the Board that the Annual Report and Financial
Staternerts is fair, baianced and understandable, and
provides the information necessary for shareholders to
assess the Company’'s position and performance,
business model and strategy;

reviewirg the effectiveness of the Group's internal controls
and reports rece’ ved from the Group's internal audit function
in respect of 17s programme of internal audit reviews;

- reviewing the Group's risk management framework;
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Audit Committee report continued

Summaeary of activity continued

+ reviewing the external auditor's avdit planning documen,
with particular reference to the auvdit appioach. planred
rnateriality, significant risks as detalled ir the independeant
Auditor's Report and the audit approach to these risks:

reviawing the external auditor’s auait findings memorandum,
noting conclusions in respect of inentified audit risks,
materishty of adjusted and unadjusted misstatements,
control observations and suggested improvemeants in

the disclosure provided in the Annual Report and
Financial Statements;

- considening papers prepared by the CFO to support the
going concern basis of preparation,

- agreeing the fees to be paid to the external auditor for its
audit of the 2021 financial statements: and

reviewing the performance and independence of the
external auditor

-

Significant financial reporting risks and
judgement areas considered

Revenue recognition

During the year, we have reviewed the appropriateness

of the revenue recognised according to the cost profile of
delivering the performance obligations for our Healthy Pet
Club scheme

Management ovarride

Dunirg the year, we have reviewed the aopropriateness of
controls around managemant overnde of controls, ensunirg
the controls In place are robust and, where approonate.
recornmending areas for improvements.

Research and Development Expenditure Tax Credit
(*“RDEC”) income

During the year, we have reviewed the anpropriatenass of
the income recognised m relaton to RDEC, along with the
assoclated accounting estimates and judgements.

In respect of the above significant financial reporting nisks and
Judgement areas, we corcluded that the Group's accounting
treatment and/or contrals in place were approphiate

Going concern and viability assessment

In considerng gomg concerr and viability overall, the
Committee reviewed the Group's forecasts with particular
focus on the key assamptions in relaiion 1o revenue, gross
marg n anad cash flow management Sensitiv tes to these
keyv assumptions were also reviewed based on -he mpact
of the Groun's key risks. as set out on pages 5010 57
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Following a review of the detailed considerations set out
above by the Cormmittee and Executive Commuttee, the
Comrmittee is satisfied that it 1s appropriate for the Group
1o continue 1o adopt the going concearn basis in preparing
the Annual Report and Accounts of the Group and, further,
that the going concern longer-term viability statement on
page 79 s appropriate.

External auditor

The external auditor was appomted with effect from the
yvear ended 30 June 2017 giving a current tenure of five
years. A tender process was carred out prior to this change.
From the year ending 30 June 2022, 1n line with guidance
from the Auditing Standards Board, there will be an audit
partner rotation and a new audit engagement partner. The
appointment 1s reviewed and subject to a shareholder vore
at the AGM on an annual basis. Details of the fees pa'd to
Deloitte auting the financtal year are set out in note 6 t the
financial statements.

The Audit Comimittee has primary responsibility for the
supervision of the relationship with the external auditor,
including overseeing their qualification, independence,
expertise, performance and effectiveness, and the terms

of 11s engagement and remuneration The Commitiee 1s also
responsible for ensuring the quality and efficiency of the
external audit enablng the Committee to formally evaluate
the effectiveness and quality of the auditor’s output, which

it does annally After reviewing the external auditor's
performance duting the year, the Committee has concladed
that it is satisfied wath the effectivensss of tae audit and the
audit process, and that Deloitte rermains effective inits role
as external auditor. The Comm ttee has therefore recommended
to the Board that Deloitte be reappointed for a further vear
and a resclution to this effect will be proposed at the AGM.

Approval

The members of the Audit Cemmittee have reviewed the
financial statements and the content of the draft Annual
Report and Financial Statements to ensure that itis far,
balanced and understandable and, accordingly, the Audit
Committee resolved to recommend tnat the Board makes
the Diractors Responsibilitias statement set out on pages
30 and 8t

Mike McCollum
Audit Committee Chair
23 September 2021



Nomination Committee report

Securing the right expertise

and knowledge

Richard Gray

Noemination Committee Chair

Key responsibilities:

- making recommendations on all Board appointments
and succession planning;

- monitoring and reviewing the Board composition; and

« undertaking an annual evaluation of the effectiveness
of the Board and its Committees.

The Committee is comprised of the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The primary purpose of the
Commitee is 10 lead the process for Board appointments
and to make recommendations to the Board 1o achieve
the optimal composition of the Board having regard to:;

+ Its size and composition;

« ensuring that it consists of indwviduals who are best
able to discharge the responsibilities of Directors;

- potential conflicts of interest;

- the extent to which the required skills, experience
or attributes are represented; and

« the nesd to maintain the highest standards of
Corporate governance

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse
Board and workforce and encourages reviewing ways of
working to ensure candidates from all backgrounds can
apply. Each appointment of a Board member or senior
axecutive is made on rerit and the best candidate wili be
appointed. The Board recognises that further steps can
be taken to improve the diversity of the Group at all levels
and across all business streams, and continues to work
towards this aim.

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2021 Attendance
Richard Gray* 4
Mike McCallum 5
Deborat Kemp 5
Richard Connell** 5

* Richard Gray has charred all Nomimation Committee meet ngs from
his appointraert it fuly 2020 Deborah Kemp charred the Norminaton
Comrmittee meet.ng nwhich R cha<l Gray was appomntec.

* Richard Connell was a membes of the Commintes untl 30 Aoni 2027
when ne stepped down from all Board Cormmittees Whilst Richard
Connellis nalonger a merrber of the Commutiee, Richard may
attend future Committee meetings along w tn e Executive
Direclars aLibe matatian of, and where this 1s corsidered
appropriate by the Caomrmitiee Char

Board appointments and resignations

Richard Gray was appainted a2 Non-Executive Director

on 16 July 2020, following an aporopriate recruitment and
selection process, and replaced Deborah Kemp as Chair
of the Nomiration Committee on 21 July 2020

Foliowing the decision by Mike McCollum to step down on

23 September 2021, the Commuttee oversaw the selection

of David Wilton, who will be appointed to the Beard on

24 September 2021, David was appointed using an external
search corsultancy, Chief Officers Group.

Board evaluation and effectiveness

Tne Nomination Committee scrutinisas the performance

of the Executve Directors, taking into account the performance
of the businass against agreed plans. The Nomination
Committee also considers the other cormmitments of Directors
and 15 satisfied that all Directors devote appropriate time to
the Comrpany’s affairs.

Over the past 18 months, the Board has effectively steered
the business through a penod of unprecedented disruptior
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. This stewardship
invalved more regular Board meetings and updates, the
preparation and review of regular analysis of trading and
reforecasts of future performance, and resulted in
appropriate measures being implernented In order to
protect the Group’s colleagues and clients whilst ensunng
the Group was able to continue to provide access to clinical
care to its chents and their patients.

The varied expernence of all Directors was invaluable in
enabling CVS to respona appropriately to these challenges
and to emerge from the pandemic with a strengtnered
balance sheet such that the Group is well positioned to
capitalise on future growth opporturities.
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Nomination Committee report continued

Board evaluation and effectiveness continued

The Committee oversaw a review of Board effectiveness

in December 2020 and was satisfied tnat the Board remains
effective and has the right balance of skills and experience
to provide continued effective stewardship of the Group.

Committee terms of reference

The Committee approved revised tarms of reference in
the year for each Committee of the Board. Tne new terms
of reference for each Caommittee refiected best practice
under the UK Corporate Governance Code and the
Committee was advised by DLA Piper UK LLP in the
drafting and exacution of these new terms of reference.

Executive Director service agreements

New service agreements were entered into with the
Executive Directors during the year, agair in order to reflect
best practice under the UK Corporate Governance Code
and reflecting advice from DLA Piper UK LLP inthe
development and execution of these new agreements

Succession planning

The Committee js responsible for ensuring that plans

are in place for orderly succession to Board and executive
positions, and 1o oversee the developrnent of z diverse
pipelire for succession, taking into account the challenges
and opportunities facing the Group and the skills and
expertse needed on the Board in the future

The Committee s also responsible for xeening unaer
review the leadership needs of the Group, both Executive
and Nor-Executive, with a view 10 ensuring the continued
ahilty of the Group to competea effectively.

It s important that a diverse pipeline for succession

is developed in line with the Company’s strategy on
pages 22 and 23. The gender halance of those inthe
senior management, which. in accordance with the Code,
we consider to be the Execuuve Commitee and the
Company Secretary, is three women and six men

The Committes is responsible for keeping up-to-date
and fully mformed about strategic issues and commercial
changes affecting the Group and the market in which it
operates. The Group campetes with a number o orivate
equity backed vetennary businesses and, in ordar to
respond appropriately to changing and imcreasing
competition, end to successfully execute accretive
acquisiions, s considered impontant that the Beard
containg Executive ana Non-Executive Directors with
both privete equity and transaction expenence
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Conflicts of interest

The Board has established robust procedures for monitoring
coanflicts of intarest in accardance with the Group's Articles
of Association and conflicts of interest policy. All Directors
are required to make the Board aware of any other
commitments and potential conflicts of interest are
approved by the Board where appropriate, and recoraed in
the conflicts register The Board has delegated authority to
the Nemination Committee to keep under review any actual
or potential conflict of interest situations authorisad by the
Board, and to determine whether it is appropriate for such
ratter(s) to remain so authornsed.

Consultation with major shareholders

in the 2020 Result of AGM announcement, the Board of
CWS noted that all the resolutions had been passed with
the requisite majority, but that the resolution to re-appoint
Richarcl Connell as Chairman received 75.1% support and
the resolution to approve the Remuneration Committae
report received 78 5% support. Whiist 2 clear majority

of shareholders were supportive, in accordance with
Provision 4 of the UK Corporate Governance Code the
Board of CVS has consulted with major shareholders in
order to better understand their views on these matters

A view expressed by saome shareholders was that Richard
Connell's membership of the Beard Audit Committee
resulted in this Committee not being deemed fully
ndepandant In light of this feedback, and to ensare all
Board Committees are fully ndependent, Richard Connell
stepped down from all Board Committees frorm 30 April 2021

Ongoing review

Whilst the Commuttee will continue to review the compasit on
of the Board, it is confident that the Board has the nght balance
of skills, experience and tenure at present to successfully
steer the Group through the next stages of its growth and to
respond apprepriately to the strategic opportun.ties ahead,

The Group's improved financial performance, strengthened
halance sheet and experienced management team position
it well 1o take advantage of these opportunities ard to
deliver further enhancemerts in shareholder value.

Richard Gray
Nomination Committee Chair
23 September 2027



Remuneration Committee report — unaudited

Achieving and sustaining
CVS’s long-term value

Deborah Kemp

Remuneration Committee Chair

Key responsibilities:

« assisting the Board in ensuring appropriate
remuneration policies are in place for the Groug;

+ ensuring Executive Director remuneration 1s aligned
to the strategic priorities of the Group and its
performance; and

- making recommendations regarding Long-Term
Incentive Plan terms and conditions, and awards.

The Remuneration Committee is comprised of three
independent Non-Executive Directors

Over the past 18 months, the Remuneration Commistee
has met more fraquently to maks appropriate
recommendations to the Board in response to the
COVID-19 pandemic and to consider feedback from
shareholders on remuneration mattars.

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2021 Attendance
Richard Connell* 8
Mike McCollum 8
Deborah Kemp 8
Richard Gray 8

* Richard Connell was a member of the Committee untll 30 Apnl 2627
when he stepped down from all Board Committees Whilst Richard
Caonnell s 1o longer a memoer of the Committee, Richard may
attend future committee meetings along with the Executive
Directors at the invitation of, and where this 1s considered
approprate by, the Committee Charr

As an AM-quoted company, the information provided is
disclased 1o fulfil the requirements of AIM Ruie 18. CVS
Group plc s not required to comply with Schedule 8 of the
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports} Regulations 2008 The information is uraudited.

Remuneration policy

The Remuneration Comrmittee seeks to develop the
company’s exaeculive remuneration arrangements
appropnately taking due account of matters specified In
the UK Corporate Governance Code and the Investment
Association Principles of Rermuneration in the light of the
Company’s growth and 1ts status as an AIM 50 company.

The Remuneration Committee considers it important that
rerruneration policies for Executive Directors are aligned
to the Group's long-term strategy and that a meanimngful
portion of Executive Director reward 1s linked to long-term
performance. In ight of this, remuneration for Executive
Directors s comprised of base salary, an annual bonus and
along-term incentive plan with performance criteria based
on earnings oer share and total shareholder reward

In respect of basic salary, the objective is to ensure that

the Group attracts and retains hign caliore Executives with
the skills, experiznce and motivation necessary 1o direct

and manage the affairs of the Group. The annual bonus
scheme s designad to reward exceptional performance with
criena aligned to the annual budget approved by the Board
Long-Term incentive Plans ("LTIP") are seen as an important
part of Executive Directors’ total remuneration and are
designed to drive and reward exceptional performance
aligned with shareholder interests over the long term

The policy also provides for post-retirement benefits through
contributions tao Executive Directors’ personal pension
schemes, together with other benefits such as a company
car and life and medical insurance.

A descripuon of now the Company has addressed the
matters specified in Rule 41 of the FRC Code 1s set out
under the policy table on page 74.

Development of remuneration policy in light

of shareholder consultation

The advisory vote to approve the Directors’ Remuneration
Report at our 2020 AGM was supported by 78 5% of votes cast.

In response to the AGM vote, the Remuneration Commitiee
considered a number of matters on remuneration in particular;
whetner a two-yvear holding penod should be applied to LTIP
awards, bonus deferral, shareholding guidelines and Director
pens on alignment with the workforce.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Development of remuneration policy in light of
shareholder consultation continued

The twa-year holding period was regarded as a priornty
matter and the Remuneration Commuttee has decided

that a two-year holding penod will be appl ed 1o future LTIP
awards to Executive Directors, commencing in 2021 This
follows changes already implemented in previous financ al
years which include Executive and Non-Executive Directors
voluntanly forgong 20.0% of ther salaries i the final quarter
of the previous financial year, the introduction of malus 2nd
clawback conditions for LTIP and bonus awards, the ability
for the Remuneration Committee to override formulaie
outcomes and the amendment of LTIP performance vesting
criteria such that 50 0% of the performarce condition 1s now
based on meeting a total shareholder return threshold

In relation to bonus deferral, the Remuneration Committee
contmues te see ment in 3 clear aistincton between annual
banus and long-term incentives. One matter the Board has
taken into account is that bonuses have not been paid out
for 20819 or 2019/20. The Remuneration Comrmittes does
not propose this should be introduced at this point. The
maximum annual bonus 1s capped at 100.0% of safary for
each Executive Director.

The Company intends ta mamtan its shareholding gudeline
at 100.0% of salary for the three Executive Directors,

Executive Director service agreements

During the finarcial year, the Remuneration Cormmittes
oversaw the agreement of new Service Agreements with
each Executive Director to reflect current best practice in
Iight of Input from the Groug's legal advisers, DLA Piper UK LLP

Executive Director salary review

Salaries are reviewed annually and are regularly benchmarked
against similar AIM-quoted and other listed comoanies with
changes effective annually in January. The Remuneration
Cemmittee deaded to increase the salary of the Chief
Executive Officer ("CEC") by 2.0% to £408,000 w.th effect
frorm 1 January 2021, and to increase the salary of the Chief
Operatung Officer ({COO") by 2.0% w0 £306,000 as of the
sarme date In ine with the average company-wide increase.

On review of tne Chief Financ al Officer's (CFC”) salary and
as detaled in the previous year's Remuneration Committes
regort, tne Remunerat.on Committee dec ded o bing the
salary of the CFO commensurate with market practice. As

a result, the Remuneration Camirittes decide J taincressa
the salary of the CFO oy B0E% to £265,000 viith effect from
Varnary 2021 and his rmax i Donus perceriage was
creased 10 100.0% of selary The CFO's revisad ren unerasion
1z now N ne with that of the previous two CFOs and the rarkar
benchmare providec oy A2glenferm Remr uneraton Agysary.

Executive Director Annual Bonus Scheme

The arnual oorus scheme in which the Executive Directors
participate 1s oased on the achievemert of pre-IFRS 18
adjusted EBITDA pror to share-option costs performance
In cormparison to the annual budget approveo by the Board.
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For 2020721, the maxmum bonus for the CEQ, CQO and
CFO was 100.0% of salary.

in light of tne performance of the Group In the financial vear,
as reflected in a significant increase in shareholder value, the
maximum bonus ertitlfement was achieved by the CEQ.
COO and the CFO.

LTIP awards

In Qctober 2020 the Company granted awards under ts LTIP
scheme ta the CEO with a value of 125.0% of salary, and to the
COO and CFO with a value of 100 0% of salary, increased to
reflect the CFO's increased salary in January 2021, As in
previous years, these awards are sulyject to an adjusted EPS
real growth performance condition measured over three
vears in addition to the total shareholder return oenchmarked
against the FTSE-250 index (less investrment trusts) measured
over three years. Detall on the performance conditions is set
out later in this report.

LTIP vesting

Pre-IFRS 18 adjusted EPS for the year ended 30 June 2021
was 771p. Thus compares 10 adjusted EPS of 42.4p for the
year ended 30 June 2018, a Compound Annual Growth
Rate ("CAGR”) of 19.5% above inflation. The target CAGR for
threshold and full vesting of LTIPs issued in October 2018
was 8 0% and 12.0% above inflation, respectively. This target
has been substantially exceeded and, therefore, 100.0% of
the options granzed have vested

Recognising the contribution of all CVS colleagues
The past 18 months have seen unprecedented disruption
due to the COVID-19 pandemic and CV5 Colleagues have
had to adapt to new ways of working «1 light of evolving
government and RCVS guidance whilst continuing o
provide first class care to our chients and thetr animals.

In recognition of this, the Remuneratior Committee approved
the payment of annual productivity bonuses to front Ine
colleagues in September 2020 and awarded all colleagues an
additonal day's holiday in Becember 2020 as a thank you for
their contribution in the year. The Remuneration Committee
also decided to make an advance nayment (o colleagues in
respect of their 2021 aiscretionary bonus early ir March 2021,
with the balance o be settled in the rormal manner

The Remuneration Committee also decided that n resoect
of the Group's Save As You Earn ("SAYE") scheme lfaunched
n November 2020 to increase the discount from 0 0% to
20.0% to the closing mid-market price of the day preceding
the date of invitation. These share options vesr after three
years to ensure that colleagues have a personal irterest in
the longer-term success of the Group

in fight of the cormpeattive landscape and *he continued
shartage of veteninary professionals in the UK, the Remuneration
Committee will continue to consider reward and penefits
aCrose e Group 1o ensure that CVS remains well positionea
te retain and attract talented colleagues.



Ongoing review

The Remuneration Committee intends to keep remuneration policies under review and will continue to consider and

develop its approach to remuneration on an ongoing basis.

The Remuneration Committee has received advice in relation to the matters outhned above and overall executive

remuneration from h2glenfern Remuneration Adwvisory.

| hope tnat you find the report helpful and informative, and | ook forward 1o receving further feedback from our investors
on the information presenterd

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration report sets out the remuneration policy of the Cormpany with regard to 113

Executive Directors.

Purpose and link to strategy
Base salary

Base pay is designed
to reflect Executive

Directors’ experience,

capabilities and role
within the business.

To be set at a level
which 1s sufficiently
competitive to recruit
and retain individuals
of the appropriate
calibre to deliver the
Group’s strategy.

Benefits

To complement
basic salary by
providing market
competitive banefits
to attract and retain
Executive Directors

Operation

Salaries are reviewed annually
and benchmarked against similar
AlM-quoted and listed companies
with any changes effective from

1January. The review takes
INtO account:

« Company performance and
Increase In scale and complexity;

« the role, expenence and

performance of the individual

Director; and

- average workforce
salary adjustments within
the Company.

Reviewed from timea to time
to ensure that benefits, when
taken together with other
elements of remuneration,
remain market competitive.

Benefits for the Executive Directors
currently include the provision
of a company car and medical

and life insurance.

Potential remuneration Performance metrics

The CEO's pase saiary was Not applicable.
reviewed on 1 January 2021

{the prior review being 1N

January 2020) and was

mcreased by 2.0%

to £408,000

The COC's base salary was
reviewed or 1 January 2021
(the prior review keing on

1 January 2020) and was
increased by 2.0%

10 £306,000.

The CFO’s base salary was
reviewed on 1 January 2021
{the prior review being on

1 January 2020) and was
increased by 60.6%

10 £265,000.

The cost of providing these Not applicable.
benefits varies year on year

depending on the schemes’

premiums The Remuneration

Comimittes monitors the overall

cost of the benefits package.

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financiat Statements 2021 74

AUDUIBAOS ABIodI0D



Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy continued

Purpose and link to strategy

Pension

To provide retirement
benefits which, when
taken tcgeiner with

other elements of the

remruneration package,

will enable the
Company to attract
and retain
appropriately qualified
ExecuUtive Directors.

Annual bonus

To drive and reward
exceptioral
performance

Operation

The CEQ and COO participate I
defined contribution pengion
arrangements and received
payments partly .0 hed of pension

The CFO participates in a defined
contribution pension arrangement.

Pension arrangements, including
contribunon rates, for any new
Executive Directors will be aligred
with those of the majority of the
UK workforce

The Executive Directors are eligible
o participate in a discretionary,
annuai, performance related wonus
scheme Targeis are sel at the
begnning of each yesr based

on the recommendations of the
Remunerat on Cormmitiee

Bonuses are pald in cash based
on audited financial restlts.
Commenging financial year
2018/19, annual bonus paymerts
are subject to maius and
clawback provsions.

Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP™)

To drive and reward
exceptioral
nerformance over ine
medium teim and to
align the interests of
Execunve Directors
and sharenoiders.

The Executive Directors are
ent'tled to be considerea for the
grant of awards under the Groug's
LLTtP scherie The awsrds take the
farm of nominal cast options over
a spectfied narrber of Ordinary
shares. Awards are not transferanle
or assigrable Awards are released
to participants after a performrance
rpencd of three yoars, subject to
certain performance ana service
condituons being rmet. 25.0%

of awards vest a~ threskold
performance for award

fram LTIPN
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Potential remuneration

The CEQ 1s entitled to

a Company pension
contnbution of 12.0%. This
s partly taken as a payment
in lieu of a pension.

The COQ is entitled to

a Company pension
contribution of 10.0%. This
Is partly taken as a payment
in heu of salary.

The CFO s entitled to
& Company pensicn
contribution of 8Q%.

Only basic salary
15 pensichabls.

During the year under review,
the maxinium capped honus
potential for the CEQ, COO
and CFO 15 100.0% of salary.

The Remureration Comrittee
would in normal crcumstances
expect (o make annuai LTIP
awards to the CEO of 125.0%
of salary and the COC and
CFO of 100.0% of salary.

The max.mum annual award
permissible under the 2017
plan rules In exceptonal
cireumstances 1s 200 0%

of salary

Performance metrics

Nat applicable.

For the years ended 30 June
2021 and endng 30 June
2022, the targets are based
on adjusted EBITDA. The
target 1s adjusted to take
account of acquisitions made
i the course of the year and
exceptional items The level
of payment commences from
zero at the threshold target
increasing on a straight-line
basis to full paymenit at the
maximum target.

Up to and including 2018,
an adjusted EPS CAGR real
growth target is applied

to awards

The adjusted EPS reflects
adjustrents for amortsation
of intangibles, costs o°
business combinations and
assoctated Income tax and
exceptional items.

From 2019, awards will be
subject 50.0% to an EPS
growth targe?, as previously,
and 50.0% subect to a
relative Total Shareholder
Return performancea condition
zgainst the FTSE 250
companres excluding
investment trusts,



Purpase and link to strategy

Operation

Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) continued

The LTIP rewards the future
performance of the Executive
Directors and certain other
employees by linking the size of
the award te the achievemeant
cf Group perfarmance largels.

Farticipation is at the discretion

of the Rermuneration Committee.

Awards will typically be made

Potential remuneration

Performance metrics

In addition, and irrespective
of the targets, no award waiil
vest unless, in the opinion of
the Remuneration Comm tiee,
the underlying performance
of the Group has been
satisfactory over the
rneasurement perod.

An amendment to the 2017

plan was made in 2019 10
ensure that the Committee
has discretion to vary
award vesting i the event
of exceptional negative
events and to overnde
formulaic cutcomes.

annually based on a percentage

of annual salary. The Remuneration
Committee sets performance
conditions at the time of the award.
The 2017 plan rules, amongst other
things, Include clawback provisions
and a limitation to ensure that new
shares 1ssued, when aggregated
with all other employee share
awards, must not exceed 10 0%

of 1ssued share capital over any
ten-year period.

For schemes granted from 2021,
there will be a two-year holding
period for LTiPs for Executive
Directors, other than for settling
related tax liabilities.

Shareholding guideline

To Incentivise executives  Target value to be achieved over Not applicable. Not applicable.

to achieve the five years:

Company’s NGt ~ey 100,09 of salary.
strategy and create
sustainable shareholder COO -100.0% of salary.

value. To align with o
shareholder interests. CFO -100.0% of salary.

In relation to both annual bonus and LTIP awards, the Remuneration Committee may, in line with the UK Corporate Governance
Code, exercise its discretion to override formulaic outcomes, including to reflect overall corporate performance ana the
experience of shareholders of the Company and if the business has suffered an exceptional negative event. Malus and
clawback provisions are effective for three years from the date bonus i1s paid. 1ssues which may trigger malus and clawoack
include discovery of misstaterment of the financial results or error In assessing the achievenent of the performance condiuens
Other circumstances include the individual being found guilty of misconduct.

Save As You Earn {*SAYE™)

The Group operates a savings scheme for all staff, including the Executive Directors, being the CVS SAYE plan. A SAYE
scheme Is operated for each calendar year Under the 2020 scneme, the awards were made at a 20 0% discount to the
closing mid-market price of the day preceding the date of invitation Under the 2015 and 2018 schemes the awards were
made at a 10.0% discount. There are no performance conditions attached 1o any of the SAYE schemes.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy continued

Policy on Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration

The Chairman and the other Non-Executive Direclors remuneration comprises only dwectorship fees. They are reviewed
annually with charges effective from 1 lanuary aach year The Chairman's and the Non-Executve Directars' fees are approved
by the Board on the recommendation of the CEQ. The Non-Executive Directors are not nvolvad in any decisions about their
own remuneration. The Chairman and the other incependent Non-Executive Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for
reasonable expenses

Dezails of the fees payable for 2020/21 are set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration

The current fees are as follows:

Director

R Coninell £115.343
M McColium £46,920
D Kermnp £46,920
R Gray £44,370

Executive Directors’ service agreements

Richard Farrrman's service agreement commenced on T August 2018 and his most recent service agreement is dated

10 September 2020. The CEQ's agreement can be terminated by either the CEQ or the Company on twelve months’

notice. Ben Jacklins service agreement commenced on 7 September 2015 and his most recent service agreement is

dated 18 September 2020 The COO's agreement can be terminated by either the COO or the Company on twelve months’
not.ce. Robin Alforso’s service agreement com™eanced on 8 July 2019 and his rost recent service agreermnent s dated

22 September 2020, The CFO's agreement can be terminated by either the CFQ or the Company on twelve months notice.
As well as an annual salary, the service agreements also detail the provisior of other benefits including performance related
honuses, medical and life insurance. a car allowarce and contributions to personal pension plans.

Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment

R chard Connell was appointed on & October 2007 His most recent service agreement is for a one-year term ending on
272 September 2022, Mke McCollum was apponted on 2 Apni 2013, His most recent service agreement is for a one-year
term end'ng on 23 Septernber 2021 These appaintmants can be terminated by the Company or the Qirectors by giving
three months notice. Debarab Kemp was appainted on 2 january 2018, Her most recent service agreement s dated

1 January 2027 for a three-year term ending on 1 January 2024, Her appointment can be terminated by the Company or
herself by giving six months’ notice. Richaid Gray was appointed on 16 July 2020 for a three-vear term ending 16 July 2023
His appointment can be termirated by the Corrpany or himself oy giving six menths’ notice.

Further items specified under Rule 41 of the FRC Code

The Remuneration Commuttee believes remuneration 1s appropnate in hght of the skills and experience of the Executive
Durectors, the need for differentials between dfferent levels of serionty and in the context of the armounts and structure
of remuneration at comparable UK companies,

M ndful of provision 40 of the Code, the Remuperation Contm tiee wll continue 1o consider factors ncluang clarity,
simphcity, nsk, predictability, proooruonality and algnmert 1o culture The Remuneratior Committee believes that the
Company’s remuneration practices are clear ard simple. as fzid out rthis Remuneration Report. The Committee has always
been conscious of reputational and other rsks nmanagng rermune-ation and in taking decisions on remuneration mattars.
Malus ard clawback provisions, and the Remuneration Commitiee’s ability to exercise aiscretion within the policy to overnde
formulaic outcomes, suppori the mitigation of nsks, The Camim ttee beheves that tne range of possible values of rewards 1s
clearly identified and explaned i th.s Repor: that the rewards and ootentral rewards are proportionate and do not -eward
naar performance ard that remuaneration arrangemeants are algned with Company culture.

The Remureration Comimittee believes *hat the policy operated as intended in terms of Company performance and
guantum duning 202027 The Company engaged with major shareholders on remunération during 2020/27 as detalled
of page 19 and 89. The Commitiee contin 1€5 1o ergage with the workforce in respect of remuneration and other matters
The Cornmities chd not apply discrenons ir respact of 1ne operation of annual bonus or LTIP during 2020721,
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Annual Report on Remuneration

Introduction
This Annual Report on Remuneration sets out information about the remuneratior. of the Directors of the Company for the
period ended 30 Junes 2021,

Membership and role of the Remuneration Committee

The Ramuneration Committee is appointed by the Board, and comprises Deboran Kemp as Chair, Mike MceCollum and
Richard Gray. Richard Connell was a member of the commillee untl 30 Apnl 2021, The rale of the Remuneration Committee
is to determine and recommend to the Board the remuneration palicy for the Executive Directors. This includes base salary,
annual and long-term incentive awards and pension arrangemen:s.

Advisors

During the year, the Company engaged h2glenfern Remuneration Advisory to provide advice on Executive remuneration. h2glenfern
Rernuneration Advisory s a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group in relation to executive remuneration consulting in the
United Kingdom. hZ2glenfern does not provide other services to the Group and has no other connection with the Company or
individual Directors. The Board is sabisfied that h2gienfern is ndependent and has no connection to any individual Director.

Remuneration of the Executive Directors — audited
Directors’ emoluments

Value of
Basic salary share LTIP
allowance, fees Performance awards vested
and other Benefits related during the
payments inkind Pension bonus year® Total
£000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive Directors
R Fairman 2021 404 12 48 408 250 1122
2020 328 10 40 — - 378
B Jacklin 2021 303 10 28 308 519 697
2020 185 16 18 — 7 226
R Alfonso 2021 215 9 17 265 — 506
2020 102 8 8 — — 18
S Innes® 20N — — — — — —
2020 743 36 1 — — 790
Non-Executive Chairman
R Connell 20 14 — — — — 14
2020 107 — — — — 107
Non-Executive Directors
M McCollum 2021 46 — — — — 46
2020 44 — — — — 44
[ Kemp 2021 46 — — — — 46
2020 44 - — — - a4
R Gray’ 2021 42 — — — — 42

2020 -~ — — - — -

1 R Gray was appointed on 16 July 2020

2 Tnevalue of the share LTIP awards vested dunrg the vear s calculated using the share or ez ot date of grant and the number of snares vested . The value
of these awards s not ingluded in the table in note 8 tc the financial statcimerts

3 3lnnesresigned 5 November 2019

Benefits in kind include the provision of & company car and medical and life insurance for each Executive Director.

No Directors waived emoluments in respec: of the year ended 30 June 2021.

In the prior year, in Novembear 2019, R Fairman was promaoted to CFO from CFO and B Jacklin and R Alfonse were appointed
as Directors and COO and CFC respectively. As a consaquenice, the 2020 remuneration reflects a pro-rata amount based con
the relevant appointment. In addition, all Directors waived 20.0% of their basic salanies and fees from Apnl 2020 10 June 2020
due to COVID-19. Bonuses were not payable in 2020 due to the financial targets not being met due to the impact of the
COVID-19 pandernic.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Remuneration of the Executive Directors — audited continued

Directors’ emoluments continued

The remunerstion of the Executive Directors of CVS Group ple is borne by the subsidiary company, CVS (UK) Limited,
without recharge to CvS Group plc

Discretionary bonus

Range Aetual
Benus (pre-IFRS 16 adjusted EBITDA (pre-IFRS 16 adjusted EBITDA Paycut
{% of satary} pre-share option cosY) pre-share option cost) £000
R Farman 2021 100 £57.2m 1o £62.7m £79Im 408
B Jacklin 201 100 £572mto £62.7m £79%m 306
R Alfonso 2021 100 £572mto £627m £79m 265

The Remuneration Committee has decided te pay bonuses in “ull in respect of the financial vear in light of financial targets
being significantly exceeded as reflected in a substantial increase in shareholder value. No Executive Director bonuses were
pad in 2018, 2019 or 2020. The Group has not ta<en government support in the current financial year and has repard al!
taxes deferred from 2020 due to the COVID-19 pardemic,

Due to the commercially sensitive nature of the proposed bonus targets, the committee has decided that the targets will not
be d'sclosed for the current financial year. The Committee intends 1o retrospectively publish annual bonus targets in the
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year 1o June 2022

Share scheme interests as at 30 June 2021
Details of plans at the reporting date that have not vet vested are set out below.

Award Grant date Vesting period
LTIP1Z 12 October 2018 3 years The performance targets for award LTIP1Z are based on achieving
adjusted EPS growth in excess of inflation as follows.
+ Lessthan 8 0% CAGR -~ no award
» B0% 1012 0% CAGR - awarded on a straight-tne basis between 25 0%
and 100 0% of total award
» More thar 12.0% CAGR - full award
LTIP13 18 December 2019 3 vears The performance targets for award LTIP13 and LTIP 14 are basad on
LTiPg 02 October 2020 3years achigving aousted EPS growth in excess of inflation and total

sharehalder returm in comparison to the FTSE 250.

50.0% of the awards will vest if adjusted EPS growth in excess of inflation,
pre-iFRS 16 (L7IP 14 post-IFRS 16), 15 achieved as foliows.

- Less tnan 5.0% CAGR - no award subject to this condtion,

- 5.0%t010.0% CAGR - awsrded on a straight-line basis between 25 0%
and 100 0% of total award subject to this condition.

- Mare than 10.0% CAGR - fult award subject to this cordition.

50.0% of the awards vall vestif total shareholder returns ir comparison
to the FTSE 250 index (excludirg investment trusts) are achievea as follows:

+ 3elow medan comparable performance - no awara subject to this condition

« Median comparable performance - 25.0% of awards subject to
this cond tion

Median to upper quartile comparable performance - 25.0% t0 100.0%
of awaras sub ect to tnis condmon measured on a straight-lire bass.

Upper quartile comparable performrance - 100.0% of awards subyject
ta this condition.
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Options over Ordinary shares awarded to Executive Directors under the LTIP and SAYE schemes ir place on 23 September 2021
are as follows:

Market price of shares Earliest exercise date and Number of
Scheme Date of grant on date of grant date of vesting of shares  Exercise price shares
R Fairman
LTIP12 12 Qctober 2018 8070 30 June 2021 02p 30,968
LTIP13 19 December 2012 1.080p 30 june 2022 0Zp 46,296
LTIP14 02 Qctober 2020 1.219p 30 June 2023 02p 41,030
SAYET) 30 November 2018 3P 01 January 2022 830p /37
SAYEI3 02 December 2020 1415p 01 January 2024 1.009p 606
B Jacklin
LTIF12 12 October 2018 807p 30 June 2021 02p 6,194
LTIP13 19 December 2019 1,080p 30 June 2022 02p 27778
LTIP14 02 Octobar 2020 1.219p 30 June 2023 0.2 24618
SAYEN 30 November 2018 913p 01 January 2022 830p 737
SAYETZ 04 December 2019 1,054p 01 January 2023 863p 709
SAYE13 02 December 2020 14560 01 January 2024 1,008p 570
R Alfonso
LTIP13 18 December 2019 1080p 30 June 2022 072p 15,278
LTI™4 02 October 2020 1.219p 30 June 2023 02p 13,540
LTIP14{b) 04 January 2021 1485p 20 June 2023 02p 6,733
SAYETZ 04 December 2019 1.054p O1 January 2023 863p 709
SAYE13 02 December 2020 1,415p 07 January 2024 1,009p 6806

Directors’ interests in shores
The interests of the Directors when combined with therr spouses’ haldings as of 30 June 2021 in the shares of the Company were:

Crdinary shares of 0.2p each

Number
R Connell 157800
M McCollum 38675
D Kemp 6,559
R Gray 3,000
R Farrman 11,450
B Jacklin 1456
R Alfonso —

Apart from the interests in shares and share options disclosed above, the Directors had no other interest in shares of Group companies
There have been no changes to the Directors’ interests in shares between the year-end and the date of this Annual Report

On 30 June 2021, the market price of the Ordinary shares was 2,415p. During the year shares lapsed as follows:

Market price of shares Earliest exercise date Mumber of
Scheme Date of grant on date of grant and date of vesting of shares Exercise price shares
B Jacklin
LTIPN 17 January 2018 1.031p 30 June 2020 02p 3,600

No options have been exercised during the year.

Statement of voting

At the 2020 AGM, a motion was proposed to the shareholders to approve on an advisory orly basis the Directors’ Remuneration
Report contained in the 2020 Annual Report. 78.5% of votes cast were in favour of the maotion and 21.5% of votes cast were against.
The Company’s response to this voting, whick included consulung major sharehalders and ntroducing the two-year holding
penod to LTIP awards, is detailed in the letter of introduction from the Remuneration Committee Chair,

Deborah Kemp
Remuneration Committee Chair

23 September 2021
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their Arnual Report and Financial
Statermnents together with the auated consofidated finaqcial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

Principal activities and results

The principal activities of the Group are to operate animal
veterinary practices, complermentairy veterinary diagnostic
businesses, pet crematoria and an online retal business. The
principeal actvity of CVS Group ple s that of a holding company.

The Group made a profit after taxation of £1¢ 3m (2020, £57m)

Particulars of events which have occurred since the end
of the financial year have been disclosed in note 31 to the
financial statements.

Business review

The information that fulfils the reauirements of the business
review, including details of the 2021 results, key performance
indicators, principal nsks and uncertaintias and the outlook
for future years, is set out in the Crairman's statement (pages
610 8), the Chief Executive Officer’'s review {pages 9 tc 1),
the Qperauonal review (pages 28 to 35) and tne Financal
review (pages 36 1o 40) including key performance
indicators (pages 24 to 27) and principal risks and
uncertamties (pages S0 to 57}

Dividends

In respect of the yvear under review, the Directors recommend
adividend payment of 6.5p, amounting 1o £4 6m (2020 £nil).
The aagragete dividends recogrised as distrbutons in the
year ended 30 June 2021 amounted to £nil (2020, £3.9m),
No internm dividends (2020 £nil) have been paid during

the year.

Dividend policy

Wwith the exception of years which are irpacted by

the uncertainty of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group

has established an ordinary dividend policy that s both
progressve and sustainable, based on growing the oraineary
dividend per share over time. The rate of growth of the
ordinary dividend will be decided by the Board in ight of
the circumstances at the time The Board alzo gives due
consideration to the return of capitaf through the use of
special dividends or share buybacks

The ability of the Group to pay a dvidend i alzo subject to
constraints Including t1e evailebility of distrbutable reserves
and the Group's finarcial ang operating perfermeance.
Distrbutable reserves are determined as reciured oy the
Comparies Act 2008 by reference to a compary s individual
firencial statements
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Directors

The following Directors held office dunng the year and
up to the date of signing the financial statements unless
otherwise stated:

R Connell

M McCollum

D Kemp

R Gray {(appointed 186 luly 2020)
R Fairman

B facklin

R Alfonso

Brographical details of the Directors are provided on pages
58 to b4,

Re-election of Directors

The Articles of Association of the Company requrre all
Directors to be re-elected atintervals of not more than three
vears. The Board has decided that it is appropnate for all
Directors to be re-appointed each year, so in eccordance
with that decision all Directors will stand for re-election at
the Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ remuneration ond interests

The Remuneration Committee report is set out on pages 68 to 77.
It ncludes details of Directors’ remuneration, interests in the
shares of the Company, share options and pesion arrangenments.

Environment

The Group recagnises the significance of environmental
responsibility and undertakes clinical compliance reviews
to ensure environmental standards are corformed with

i addinon to providing training 1o11s employees 1o
ansure compliance.

Although the Group's activities do not have a major impact
on the environment, every effort is made 1o reduce any effect.
Details of the Group's approach to sustainability and ESG are
set out on pages 47 o 48,

Health and sofety

The Group s fulty aware of its obligations (o maintain h gh
heahh and sefety standards at all tmes, ana the safety of oar
colleagues and customers 's of paramount impartance. The
Group's operations are managed &t ali tirmes in such a way
as te ensure, as far as is reasonably practicable, the health,
safety and welfare of all of our colleagues and all other
people who may be attending our premises

Corporate governance
The Board's Corporate Governance Statement 1s set out on
pages 50 1064



Going concern

The Governance Code requires the Board to assess and
report on the prospects of the Group and whether the
business is a going concern. In considering this requirement,
the Directors have taken into account the Group's forecast
cash flows, liguidity, borrowing facilities and relating
covenant requirements and the expected operational
activitics of the Group.

As part of the going concern assaessment, the Group
maodelled a base case scenario and undertook sensitivity
analysis to stress test the performance at which the Group
would breach its covenants. The base case takes into
account the latest run rate of performance. The sensitivity
analysis s based on a reduction in revenue and associated
impact on gross margin. The Group has madelled a further
scenaro of no further revenue growth and under both the
base case and the no growth scenario, there 1s more than
sufficient headroom in both liquidity and covenants.

Having due regard to these matters and after making
appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable
expec:iation that the Group and the Company have
adequate resources to remain in operation until at least
twelve months after the approval of these Financial
Statements. The Board have therefore continued to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the consclidated
Financial Statements.

Viability statement

In accordance with provision 30 of the UK Corporate
Governance Code, the Directors have assessed the prospects
of the Group over a longer penad than 12 manths required by
the "Going concern” provision A period of three yearsis
believed to be appropriate for this assessment since this is
consistent with the Group's financing cycle, whereby on average
the Group has refinanced debt in line with this timescale, usually
as a result of acquisition and investment activity.

The Directors confirm that they have a reascnable
expectation that the Group will continug i operation to
meet 1ts abilities, as they fall due, up 10 30 June 2024,

The Directors’ assessment has been made by reference
to the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2021, its
prospects, the Group’s strategy, the Board's risk appetite
and the Group's principal risks, all of which are described
N the Strategic Report.

The Directors’ assessment of the Group's viability 1s
underpinned by a paper prepared by management. The
paper is supportad by comprehensive and detailled analysis
and modelling, contaming financial proections for a detalled
ane-year plan and extended three-year period. The longer-
term plan is reviewed each year by the Board as part of the
strategy raview process. Once approved by the Board, the
plan is cascaded across the Group and provides the basis
for setting all detailed financial budgets and strategic actions
that are subsequently used by the Board to monitor performance.

The three-year plan provides a rebust planning tool agamst
which strategic decisions can be made. In making their
viability assessment, the Board has taken into consideration
that financing faciliies are maintained for the duration of the
forecast. The Directors have considered a combination of
nsks and uncertainties and the mitigating controls cperated
v the Group as detailed on pages 50 to b7 that may impact
on the Group's ability to trade.

On this basis and In conjunction with cther matters
considered and reviewed by the Board during the year,
the Board has reasonable expectations that the Group will
e able to continue In operation and meet its liakilities as
they fall due over the three financial years used for its
assessment. in making tus assessment, the Board nas
assumed that there 1s ro material change in the legislative
environment in the practice of veterinary medicine. It is
recognised tnat such future assessments are subject to a
level of uncertainty that increases with time and therefore
future outcomes cannct be guaranteed or predictad

with certainty.

Financial instruments
Detalls of the Group’s financial risk management objectives
and policies are Included in note 3 to the financial statements.

Substantial shareholdings

37 August ¥

Snarenolder 202 C
Cctopus Investments Limited 4,953,290 700
BlackRock Inc 510,581 722
Ameriprise Financial 4877966 £.89
Caraccord Genuity Group Inc 4307510 .09
Invesco 2,358,564 333
abrdn plc 2138305 302
23,744,216 33.55

Share capital and substantial shareholdings

Detalls of the share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2021
are set out in note 25 to the financial staterments Each share
carries the nght to one vote at general meetings cf the
Company.

At 31 August 2021, the Company has beer notified (using
TR1standard form) of the sulbstantial shareholdings detailed
in the table above comprising 3.0% or more of the issued
Ordinary share capital of the Company.

The Board is satisfied that no major shareholder presents
a conflict of interest or exerts undue Influence over the
Board's independent judgement
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Directors’ report continued

Employees

Consultation with employees takes place twough a number
of regional meetings throughout the year and ar annual
staff survay. The aim is to ersure that employees’ views ara
taken into gceount when decisions are made which are likely
to affect their interests and that all employees are aware of
the general progress of their business units and of the
Group as a whole. To enhance commun'cation within the
Group, a committee is in place wnich is constituted of
regional members from all areas of the business with the
am of improving consultation and commiurication levels

Deborah Kemp 1s the Board's dedicated Non-Executive
Director for employee engagement and 17 is Deborah's usual
practice to consult with employees through atterdance at
our annual emplovee conference, which was postponed in
the year due to COVID-19, periodic visits to our businesses
and regular reviews of the Group's monihly emplovee Net
Promaoter Score

The Group regularly consults with, and seeks feedback from,
employees, and the Board menitors employee engagemens.

Applications for employment by diszbled peaple are always
fully corsidered, bearing in mind the respactive aptitudes
and ahilities of tne spplcant concernad. In the avent of
mernbers of staff becoming disablea, every effort s made
1o ensure that their employment with the Group continues
and tnet appropriate traming is arranged. It s the pelicy of
the Group thet the training. career developrment and

promotion of a disabled person should be, as {ar as possible,

identical to that of a person who does not have a disabulity

The Group operates a Long-Term Incentive Plan for Executive
Directors and senior managers Detalls are included in note 8.
The Group also has a Save As You Earn scheme, now i its
thirteenth year, under which er~ployees are granted an
opton to purchase Ord nary shares in the Company in three
years  time, dependent Lpon therr enterirg into a contract to
rmake monthly contributions to a savings account over the
relevant panod. These savings are usad o fund the opuon
exercise value. The exarcise price in respact of opt.ons
issued in the year was at a 20.0% discount to the shares’
rarket value at the dare of invitation. The scherreis open to
all UK Group employees, includng the Execut ve Directors
Details of the scheme are included in the Remunerat on
Commutteg report on pages 69 to 77
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Directors’ third-party indemnity provision

A qualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined in
Secton 234 of the Companies Act 2006 was In force dunng
the year and also at the consohdated and Company staterment
of financial pos.tior date for the banefit of each of the Directors
in respect of habilities incurred as a result of their office with
the Compary and any associated company 1o the extent
permittad by law, In respect of those liabilities for which Directors
may not be indemnified, the Company marntained a Directors’
and Officers’ ("D&O") Liability insurance policy throughaout
the financial vear. The level of cover is currently £50.0m.

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The Drrectors are responsible for preparnrg the Annual
Report and Financial Statements in accordance with
apphcable law and regulations.

Company faw reguires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each finaroial year. Under that law the
Directors are required to prepare the Groun and Company
financral statements in accordance with international
accounung standards in canformity with the reguiremants
of the Comparies Act 2006. Under company law the
Directors mus: not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and farr view of the
state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the
profit or loss of the Compary and the Group for that penod.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are
required to:

«+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

+ make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reascnable and prudent;

+ state whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the
European Union have been followed, sublect to any
matenial departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it 1s inappropriate te presume that the
Company will continue in business.

Tre Directors are responsible for ensuring that the
Annual Report provides information necessary to
enable shareholders to assess the Company s posiion,
periormance, business model and strategy



The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reascnable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company
and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are
also responsible for sefeguarding the assets of the Company
and the Croup and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities,

The Directors are responsible for the maintanance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the Cormpany’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financiaf
statements may differ from legislation in other juriscictions.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

« the financial statements, prepared in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 20086, give a true and
fair view of the assets, iabilites, financial posinion and profit
or loss of the company and the undertakings included in
the consolidation taken as & whole;

« the strategic report Includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the
position of the company and the undertakings included
in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertaintes that
they face; and

- the annual report and financial statements, taken as a
whole, are farr, balanced and understandable and provide
the iInformation necessary for shareholders to assess the
company’s position and performance, business model
and strategy.

Disclosure of information to auditor
Each of the persons who 15 a Director at the date of approval
of this Annual Report and Financial Statements confirms that,

+ 30 far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company's auditor 15 unaware; and

- the Drecter has taxen all the steps that he/she ought to
Fave taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company's auditcr 1s aware of that information.

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the
Companies Act 20086,

Resolutions congerning the re-appointment of Deloitte LLP
as auditor and avthorising tne Audit Committee to set s
remuneration will be proposed at the AGM.

Approval
Tne Strategic Report on pages 1to 57 was approved by
the Board of Directors on 23 September 2027

Authorised by order of the Board

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary
23 September 2021
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (“SECR”)

The Group is required under the Streamhined Energy ard
Carbon Reporting regulations to report hiow it manages its
energy consumption and carbon emiss ons. Thes report
forms part of the Directors’ report. Since last year we have
published our direct Greenhouse Gas ("GHG™ emissions
from sources that are controlied or owned by the Group
{"Scope 1"} and indirect GHG emissions from the Group's
consumption of purchased electricity {"Scope 27) emissions
This year, we have also begun collecting data on our
"Scope 3" emissions, which are all emissions the Group

is indirectly responsible for across its value chain,

Moritering and reporting these emissions enables us to

evaluate and minimise our impact oh the natural environment,

which supports us In our purpase o give the best possible
care to animals. We have taken strong actions to increase
our energy efficiency ard reduce any adverse impact cur
business has an the planet.

Our energy efficiency actions

Increasing energy efficiency in our facilities

One of our strategic goals is to provide great facilities and
eguipment, and a key part of this 15 to ensure our faci ties
and operations are as energy-efficient as possible In new
facilites, such as Wetherby, we have stnpped out “wet”
heating systemns, such as traditional rathators, ard replaced
with air-source heatng systems which extract heat from the
air, resulting In & reduction 1N carbon ermissions We have
also replaced our oider air conditioning urits, wh.oh use
R22 gas, with newer, safer and more energy efficiant arr
conditioring solutions
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A greener approach to transport

We have reviewed our fleet vehicle lists, adding more Hybnd
and Electric Vehicles ("EVs”) and capping all fossil fuel-rehant
vehicles to 130g CQO, emussions. To support the future Increase
in BV and Hybrid vehicles, we have started instailing several
EV charging points at some of our sites, including at our
Endell Equine Hospital We are also praparing to install
charging points at our Wetherby and Diss sites.

Using renewable sources

In January 2021, we switched all our UK practice sites to use
electricity from 100% renewable sources, Cur sites in the
Netherlands have already been utilising renewable energy
sources, and cur Republic of Ireland sites were switched to
renewabie energy in August 2021

Reducing the energy consumed by our equipment
All relocations and new builds are fitted with LED ights from
the outset, combined with Passive Infrared ("PIR"} switches
where appropriate, to ensure lights are not left on for longer
han required in our existing sites we continue to rolt out an
LED hght replacement programme which sees all bulbs
which expire across our estate be'ng replaced with LEDs.

Where possible, all devices are set to hibernate after a short
period of idle time, for exampie display monitors, computers
and printers

We have oriefed our suppliers to supply only A-rated
appliances, such as refrigerators and washing equipment.



Our UK and Offshore energy usage and carbon emissions

2021 2020
1CO.e tCoe Change (3 Comments
Scope 1 4,862 6,748 -279%  The reduction in these emissions anses

‘rom a significant reduction In transport
emissions. This 15 predominantly  result in
a reduction in business trarsport during the
COVIDA39 panderic

Scope 2 2,940 3,605 18.4%  The reduction in these emissions aflses
partly from the switch to renewable sources
for all our UK veterinary practices in January
2021 (half way through the financial year
ended 30 June 2027). In adgition, duning the
National lockdowns there was a reduction in
procedures performed and support colleagues
were regulred 1o work from home.

Scope 3* 2 —_ 100.0%

Total emissions 7804 10,353 -24.6%

Total energy volume (kwhs) 38,929,681 46587155 19.8%

Intensity Ratio {TCO,¢) 15.3 24.2 -36.8% Theintensty ratio has decreased from the
per £m revanue) prior year, as a result of the full-year impact

of changes to ways of working as a result
of the COVIR-19 pandemic, which cnly
impacted the final quarter of the prior year.

* Data was not avalable for scope 30 2018/20

Methodology
The Group has taken guidance from the UK Government's Environmerital Reporting Guidelines (March 2019), the

Greenhouse Gas Protocal reporting standard, and from the UK Government's Greenhouse Gas Convers.on Factors
for Company Reporting document for calculating carbon emissions.

Energy usage Information {gas and electricity} has been obtained directly from the Grouw's energy suppliers and Half-Hourly
Autormated Meter Reading ("HH/AMR™) data, where avallable, for those suppliers with HH/AMR meters. For suppliers where
energy usage data was not avalable for a full 12 months, flat prof le estimation techrmgues were used to calculate the
annual consumption.

Exclusions

Transport mileage and/or fuel usage data was provided for the Group's and colleagues’ owned vehicles. The Group did not
record grey fleet mileage for the financial year ended 30 June 2021, however we have implemented a process to ensure this
is recorded going forward.

CO, emisgions were calculated using the appropriate emission factors from tne UK Government's UK Greenhouse Gas
Conversion Factors and this is retained within the Group's data file for reference where required,

Normalisation
The Group have chosen to report gross Scepe 1, 2 and 3 emissions in tonnes of CO, equivalent ("tCO,e"} per £m revenue as
this is a common metrnic used in corporate GHG reporting.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the members of CVS Group plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion
In our opin on the finanaial statements of CVS Group ple
{the ‘parent company’} and its subsidiaries (the 'group’):

- give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and
of the parent company's affairs as at 30 June 2021 and
of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

« nave been properly prepared in accordance with
nternational accounting standards i conforrmity witr:
the requirements of the Companies Ac: 2006, and

- have been prepared In accordance with the requirements
of the Companies Act 20086,

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:
- {he consolidated ncome staternent;
« t1e consolicated statement of comprehensive income;

- the consolidated and parent company statement of
financial position;

- the consolidated and parent company stazements of
changes n equity,

- tne consolidated and parent company stateiments of
cash flow, and

« tne related notes 1to 32

The financial reportng framework that kas been applied
in therr preparation is appheable law and international
accounting standards in conforrmity with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006.

2.Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance wth International
Standards on Auditing {UK) (ISAs (UK} and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those siandards are further
descrnbed in the auditor's responsiolines for the audit

of the financial statements section of our report.

We are Independent of the group and the parent company in
accordance with the ethucal reguirements that are relevant to
our auait of the financial staterents in the UK nciuding the
Financial Reporting Councll's (the ‘FRC's’) Eth cal Standard as
applied to listed entitizs, and we have fulfilled our othber ethical
responsibiities ir accardance with these reqguirements

V/e believe that the audit evidence we nave obrained 1s
sufficient and aporopnate © provide a basis for our op mor
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3.Summary of our audit approach

The key audit rnatter that we identified
in the current year was:

Key audit
matters

+  Revenue Recognition - Healthy Pet Club

within this report, key audit matters are
identified as follows:

Newly identified
increased level of risk
Simvlar level of risk

Decreased level of risk

The materiality that we used for the arcup
financial staternents was £2.5m which was
determined on a range of measures based
on various profit measures.

Materiality

Our audit comprised of two components
subyject to full-scope audits and a further
sixteen components subject to audit
nroceduras on specified account
balances. Tha remainder of the group was
subject to review procedures only.

Scoping

There have been no significant changes to
our audit approach in the current year

Significant
changes

in our
approach

L. Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that
the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
N the preparation of the financial statemeants s appropriate,

Our evaluation of tha Directors” assessment of the group’s
and parent company’s ability to contunue to adept the going
concern basis of accounting included:

+ Assessed the financing facilities available to group,
ncludmg repayment date and likelihood of breaching
financial covenants,

+ Evaluated the assumptions used in the forecasts, such
as revenue growth, gross margin improvernents and cash
flow moverrenis, and whetf er these are appropniate in
line with historical performance,

- Assesseda the level of headroom in the financing facilines;

+ Assessed the anthmetical accuracy of the forecast modei
confirrming consistent calculations are ussd throughour,
using internal software;



. Conclusions relating to going concern continued
+ Assessed the histoncal aceuracy of forecasts through comparing actual performance 1o forecast, to assess the historical
accuracy of forecasts prepared by management; and

- Assessed the appropriateness of the going concern disclosures.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any matenal uncertainties relazing to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's ard parent company's ability to cont nue as a
gomng concern for a period of ar least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In relation to the reporting on how the group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material
to add or draw attention 1o in relation to the Directors’ statement in the financial statements about wnether the Directors
considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accountng.

Our responsibiities and the respansibilities of the Directors with raspect to going concern are descnbad in the relevant
sections of this report.

5.Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional jJudgement, were of most significance in our audrit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of matenal misstatement
{whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall
audit strategy; the aflocation of resources In the audit; and diracting the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whale, and in forming our opinon
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1. Heaithy Pet Club - Revenue Recognition

Key audit The group earms revenue via the Healthy Pet Club ("HPC”} scheme whereby customers sign up for

matter a monthly or annual direct debit arrangement in exchange for a range of preventative products and

description  treatments at a discount to the standalone selling price. The group recognised £60.4m (FY20: £46.8m)
of HPC revenue during the year and has 450,000 (FY20- 415,000) actve members as at the year-end.

The revenue recognitron for this scheme 1s jJudgemental since IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers requires revenue to be recorded either at a point In time or over time according to when the
pearformance obligation is satisfied, which in the case of HPC revenus is not aligned to the tim.ng of cash
receipts Revenue must also be adjusted for anticipated animal deaths (wheraby outstanding fees will be
walved) and irrecoverable debts. Additional adjustments are increasingly requ.red for treatments that were
missed due to g combination of COVID-19 restrictions and customers missing appoirtments naturally.

The group’s accounting policy is to record revenue according to the cost profile associated to providing
the services offered in the scheme, as disclosed In note 2 to the financial statements, and due to the
complexities outlined above there is a risk that revenue recognition 1s not In accordance with IFRS 15,
‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’,

How the In response to the key audit matter, we performed the following procedures:
scope of our
audit

responded to + Recalculated the revenue accrual/deferral for all customers and compared tris to management’s own figure.
the key audit

- Obtained an understanding of management's controls arcund HPC revenue recognition.

- Assessed the appropniateness of deferring HPC revenue as a result of missed treatments against

matter IFRS 15 requirements.
- Performed an assessment of management’s assumptions in calculating the deferral, which include
the use of both reminder data and actual sales data to estimate the quantities of missed treatments.
- Recalculated the revenue deferral for a sample of customers based on the r specific payment and
pricing information and compared to management’s calculation
+ Checked that, in instances of missed treatmens that the custorner would not catch up on, deferred
income had been appropriately released to reflect the fact that membe-ship fees are non-refundable
and the group has no obligation to return amounts to customers.
Key Based on the audit proceduras performed, we concluded that revenae recogrition in respect of the HPC

observations s in accordance with IFRS 15.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

6.0ur application of materiality

6.1. Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the
economic decisions of a reasconably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use matenality both
in plarning the scope of our audit work and 11 evaluating the results of cur work,

Based or our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group tinancial statements Parent company financial statements

Materiality £2.5m (FY20: £1.6m) £2 3m {FY20: £1.4m).

Basis for determining 3.8% (FY20:. 4 0%) of adjusted pre-tax profit 1.5% (FY2C: 1.5%) of net assets.

materiality We considerad adjusted pre-tax profit of Parent company matenality was determined
£66.2m (note 10) and revenue of £5101m based on 1.5% of net assets, and capped a: 85%
{consolidated iIncome statement) when of group matenality.

determuning matanality, as well as the growth
of the busmess (as indicatad by revenue
growth) versus FY20 Adjusted ore-tax profit
is calculated as profit before tax adjusted for
amortisation, costs associated with business
cornbinations and excepional items.

Tnisis cons'stent with the pricr year.

Rationale for the We nave considered noth revende and As a holding company, net assets was considered
benchmark applied adjusted pre-tax orofit, reflecting the metrics  the most relevant benchmark to users of the
that are deemed to be of most rportance to parent company financial statements
stakehclders, as disclosed withir note 2

Groun matenality

£2 5m
A?Justed PBT Component
£06m materiality range

£07mto £15m

Adjusten 3T Audit Cammittee
Group materality reporting thraeshold
£0.Im

4.2, Performadnce materiality
we set performance materiality at a level lower than mater.alty to reduce the probability that, 'n aggregate, uncorrected
and undetecied misstatements exceed the matenality for the financial statements as a whole

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Performance
materiality 70% (FY20: 70%) of group matenalivy TQ% (FY20- 7Q%) of parent company matenality
Basis and rationale for  \We nave assessed the quality of the group's The assessment at a group levelis also
determining overell cortrol eny rorment, as well as the low  applicable for the parent company, also noting
performance volume of corrected end uncorrectea that minimal entries are made in the parent
materiality misstaterments int the previous audrr company reducing *he risk of materiat

™Misstatement

6.3. Error reporting threshold

Ve agreea w th the Auait Commttee that we voulz report 1o the Commitiee all aLdit differences in excess of £01m (FY20: £0.1m},
as wel &s differences below that threshald that m our view. warranted reporting or gualitative grounds. We also report 1o the Aucht
Cammittee on disclosure matters that we identfiea when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Identification and scoping of components

Our group audit was scoped by abtaining an understanding of the group and its environment, including group-wide
controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement.

We have focused our work on the UK-based subsidianes which account for 83% (FY20: 85%) of the group’s revenue, 83%
(FY20: 86%) of groun’'s expenses and 90% (FY20: 86%) of net assets. We have subjected two components to full-scope audits
and a further sixteen components to audits of specified account balances. The remainder of the group, including components
located overseas, were subject to revicw procedures only. We have followad z similar approach in the prior year audit,

All audit work was carried out by the UK ergagement team, witn no rehance of components auditors. Testing was
performed to component materiality ranging from £0.7m 10 £1.5m (FY20: £0.3m 10 £1.4m)

The coverage achieved by this strategy 1s as follows.

17% 17% 10%
A%

Revenue Expenses Net assets

22% 21%

61% 82% 86%

Full scope audits Specitied account balances Review at Croup level

8. Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor's repors thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the Annual Report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other Information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 1s materially
inconsistent with the financial staterments or our knowledge obtained in the course of cur audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstaternerts, we are required to determine whetner this
gives rise to a matenal misstatement in the financial statements themselves If, based on the work we have performad, we
conciude that there 1s a material misstatement of this other iInformation, we are requ’red to report that fact

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the oreparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and farr view, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine 1s necessary to enable the preparation of financial staternents that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error,

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the groun's and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern bas:s of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liguicate the group or the parent company or 1o cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so
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Independent auditor’s report continued

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

Our objectves are 1o obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
materal rmisstaterment, whether due o fraud or error, and

to 1s5Ue an auditor’s report that includes our opmior.
Regsonable assurance is a high level of assurance, butisnot
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with I1SAs
(UK will atways detect a material misstaternent when it exists
Misstaternents can arise from fraud or error and are considered
matenal if, incdiv.dually orin the aggregate. they could
reasohably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financizt staternents,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
wywaw fre.org uk/auditorsresponsibilities This descripticn
forms part of our auditor’s report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of nor-compliance
with laws and regulations. We design procedures In Iine with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect ratenal
misstaternents in respect of irregulanities, including fraud,
The extent to which our procedures are canable of detecting
irregularites, including fraud 1s detaled below

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to
irregularities

Inidentify'ng and assess'ng risks of matenal misstatemen: in
respect of irregulanties, including fraud and non-comphance
with laws and reguletions, we considerad the following:

- t1e rature of the industry and sector, control enrvironment
and business performarce including the design of the
group's remuneration policies, key drivers for Drectors’
remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

- the group’s own assessment of the risks that iregulanties
rmay oocul either as a result of frauc or ervor;

- results of our enguinies of management. internal audit and
tne Audit Comm ttee about their own idenafication and
assessment of the rnsks of irregularities:

« any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed
tne groun's documentation of therr policies and
procedures relating to:

< identifying, evaluating and complying with laws ard
regulations and whether they were aware of any
Instances of nor-compliance:

.

detecung and resporading to the nisks of fraud and
whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspecied
or alleged fraud;

.

tne internal controls established to mitgate risvs of fraud
or non-complance witn laws ana reguist ons, and
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» the matters discussed among the audit engagement tearm,
and relevant Internal specialists, Including tax, valuatons
and | specialists regarding how and where fraud might
occur in the financial statements and any potential
indhicators of fraud

As aresult of these procedures, we considered the
opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
crganisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential
for fraud in the following area: Revenue Recognition -
Healthy Pet Club. In common with all audits under 1SAs (UK),
we are also required to perform specific procedures to
respond to the sk of management override

We also obtained an understanding of the legai and
regulatory frameworks that the group operates n, focusing
on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct
effect on the determination of material amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and
reguiations we considered in this context included the
Companies Act, AIM listing rules. corporate gavernance
code, pensions legislation and tax legislation

In addition. we considered provisions of other laws and
regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial
stataments but compliance with which may be fundamental
to the group's ability to operate or to avaid a material
penalty. These included the group’s cempliance with the
RCVS regulations applicable to all practices and qualified
nurses. GDPR, Veterinary Surgeons Act 1966, Anmal Weilfare
Act 2008, Verernary Medicines Regulations 2013 and The
Animal Act 1986.

11.2. Audit response to risks identified

As aresult of performing the above, we identfied Revenue
Recognition -~ Healthy Pet Club as a key audit matter related
(o the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of
our report explains the matter in more detall and also
describes the specific procedures we pesformed in
response 1o tnat key audit matter.

In addhzion 1o the above, our procedures to respond to risks
identified included the following:

- reviewing the financial statement cisclosures and testing
to supporting documentation 1o assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as
having a direct effect on the financial statenents;

« enguinng of management, the Audit Commitiee and
external legal counsel concerning actual ard potential
[tigatior and claims;

« performing analytical procedures to ident fy any unusual
O~ unexpecied relationsmps that rmay indicate nsks of
material m:sstatement due to fraud,

reading minutes of meetings of those charged with
goveriance, reviewirg internal audit reports anc reviewing
carrespondence with HSE and RCVS:

reviewing tne disclosures n the Audit Cornmittes Report
on pagss 65 and 66; and



11. Extent to which the audit was considered

capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

continued

11.2. Audit response to risks identified continued

« In addressing the risk of fraud through management
override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal
entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the
judgemcnts madao in making aceniinting estimates are
indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business
rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual
or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and
regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team
members including internal specialists, and remained alert
to any mdications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regdlations throughout the audit,

Report on other legal and
regulatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

In our cpinion, based on the work undertaken in the course
of the audit.

« the information given in the strategic report and the
Directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistant with
the financial statements; and

- the Strategic Report and the Directors report have been

prepared in accordance with appiicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the
group and the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified
any material misstaternents in the strategic report or the
Directors’ repoert.

13. Corporate Governance Statement

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we
have concluded that each of the following elements of the
Corporate Governance Statement is materially consistent
with the financial statements and our knowledge cbtained
during the audit:

+ the Directors’ statemeant with regards to the
appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis
of accounting and any matenal uncertainties identified
set out on page 79;

- the Directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the
group's prospects, the period this assessment covers and
why the period is appropriate set out on page 79.

+ the Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and
understandable set out on page 81

+ the Board's confirmation that it has carmed out a robust
assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out
on page b0;

+ the section of the Annual Report that describes the review
of effectiveness of risk management and irternal control
systermns set out on pages 50 1o 57; and

- the section describing the work of the Audit Committee
set out on pages 65 and 66

14, Matters on which we are required to report by
exception

14.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting
records

Under the Companigs Act 2006 we are required to report
te you if, in cur opinion:

+ we have not receved all the information and explanations
we require for our audit; or

+ adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have
rot been recewved from oranches not visiced by us; or

- the parent company financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

14.2. Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to
report if In our opinion certain disclosures of Directors’
remuneration have not bheen made.

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.

15. Use of our report

This report 1s made solely to the company’s members,

as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2008. Our audit work has been undertaken
s0 that we might state to the Company’s mambers those
matters we are reguired to state to them in an auditor's report
and for no other ourpese. To the fullest extent parmitted by
law, we do not accept or assume respensibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

Lee Welham FCA (Senior statutery auditor)
For and on behaif of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Cambridge, United Kingdom

23 September 2021
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2021

2021 7920
Note £m £m
Revenue 4 5101 4278
Cost of sales & (288.2) (2577)
Gross profit 219 1701
Administrative expenses 68 (181.8) (121.6)
Operating profit 401 18.5
Finance expense 5 (7.0) (86)
Profit before income tax 331 a8
Income tax expanse 9 (13.8) 4.2
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent 19.3 57
Earnings per Ordinary share {expressed in pence per share) ("EPS")
Basic 10 27.3p 8ip
Diluted 10 211p 81p

All activit.ies derfve from continuing operations

Reconciliation of adjusted financial measures

The Directors believe that an adjusted profit measure, being adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation ard
Amortisation (CEBITDAY), provides additional useful information for shareholders on performance. This is used for internal
performance analyss. Th's measure s not defned by IFRS and is not intended to be a substtute for, or superior to, IFRS

measuremerts of profit, The following table 1s provided to show the comparative EBITDA after adjusting for costs relating

to business combinations, impairment and exceptional items

2021 2000
Non GAAP meas.ure gujustec EBITOS Note Em £m
Profit before income tax 331 93
Adjustrments for:
Finance expense 5 7.0 86
Depreciation and impairrnent of tangible and nght-of-use assets 13.14 24.3 242
Amortisation of intargibie assets 12 23.8 2272
Costs relating to business combinations? 4 9.3 07
Exceptonal items’ — 54
Adjusted EBITDA 975 7Q

1 rrsarmensn e vear endec 30 Janz 020 gre show s excentions) tems

2 includes aprounts DR 1 SIRE T Of B3TOWSIIONE W Lo 12205 Axansan 1 the Doome slatement
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2021

20 2020

Note £m £m

Profit for the year 19.3 57
Other comprehensive income - jterns that will or may be reclassified to profit or loss in future periods

Cash flow hadges:

Net movement on cash flow hedge 0.9 (1.5)

Cost of hedging reserve (0.4) 05

Deferred tax on cash flow hedge and avallable-for-sale financial assets 24 (0.1) 02

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations {0.7) 06

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax {0.3) 02

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the parent 19.0 5.5
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Consolidated and Company statement of financial position

as at 30 June 2021

Company registration number. 06312831

Group Groun Company Comparsy
201 2020 2021 2070
“ote £m £m £m £
Non-current assets
intargble assets 12 228.4 229.8 — —
Property, plant and equinment 13 57.4 516 - —
Right-of-Use assets 14 97.2 931 —_ -
Investments 16 01 01 7.6 094
Deferred income tax assets 24 - 11 - —
Armounts owed by Group undertak ngs 32 — — 82.3 818
3831 3807 153.9 1510
Current assets
lnventones 15 19.5 18.7 — -
Trade and other recevables 20 48.1 434 - —
Current income tax receivable o1 — — —
Cash and cash equivalents 33.7 215 — —
101.4 836 —_ —
Total assets 4 484.5 46843 153.9 1510
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 (86.0) 877} — —
Provisions 72 {3.9) {5.0) -— —
Lease labihues 14 (8.6) (88) - —
Current income tax ligbilites - (G.4) — —
Borrowings 23 - {on — —
(98.5) (102.0) — -
Nan-current liabilities
Borrowings 23 (83.9) (835) - —
Lease liabilities 14 {90.2) (89.8) - -
Derivate financial instraments 17 (0.4) (09 — —
Deferred income tax hahilihes 24 (20.4) (215) — —
{194.9) (1957} - —
Total liabilities 4 (293.4) {2977 - —
Net assets 1911 1666 153.9 1510
Shareholders’ equity
Snare capital 25 041 01 01 01
Snare premium 26 10341 101.9 1031 1019
Capital redemption reserve 0.6 06 0.6 08
Treasury reserves — (Q.3) — —
Cash ‘low hedge reserve {0.5) (1.4} — -
Cost of hadging reserve 01 05 - -
Merger reserve {61.4) (B1.4) — —
Retained earnirgs 149.1 1268 501 484
Total equity 1911 1666 153.9 1510

Tne Company reported a total comprehensive lass for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 of £0.5m (2020 £0.4m).

Tne rotes on nages 97 to 134 are ar integral part of theze consol dated and Company financial statements.

Tne financial smaterments on pages 90 to 134 were authonsed for issue by the Board of Drectors on 23 Septermber 2021

and were signed on its behali by

Richard Fairman Robin Alfonsco
Director Director
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2021

Capital Casn flows Coate
Share Shaie redempton Treasury Fedge hedgimg  kevaluation terger Retarea Tarz
CaR tal premiem reserys TERET v FELEIVE raRatva resRTve rezerve earn rgs en.y
NGte i £m £m £m om £m Cm £m im £
At 1 July 2020 01 1Mo 06 {0.3) (14) 05 — (514 1266 1666
Profit for the year — — — — — — — — 193 18.3
Other comprehensive income
and losses
Cash flow hedges:
Fair value incomeg/{loss) — — — — 0.9 (04) — — — 0b
Deferred tax on cash flow
hedge and available-for-sale
financial assets — — — - — — - — (01} on
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations — — — — — — — — (07 {07)
Total other comprehensive
{loss}/income — — — - 0.8 (0.4) — — (08) (0.3)
Total comprehensive income/
{loss} — — — — 09 (4 — — 185 190
Transactions with owners
Issue of Crdinary shares 25 - 1.2 — — — — — — — 1.2
Disposal of treasury reserve 25 — - — 03 — —_ _ — — 03
Credit 1o reserves for
share-based payments N — — — — — — — — 22 22
Deferred tax relating to
share-based payments 24 — — — — — — — — 1.8 18
Total transactions
with owners — 12 — 03 — — — — 40 55
At 30 June 2021 01 1031 0.6 — {0.5) 0.1 — {61.4) 1491 1911
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

Canal Casn flow Costof
Snare Skao recemton Treasury hedoe hedging Revaaticn Merge: Retamnec! Toia!
s ’1[‘\!(‘ premiam reserye rEarrye ‘|rerye reserve resenye Tesenye ea ngs Bgully
MNaote £m [y m £ £m £m £ £m Lo £mr
At 1July 2019 Q. 997 06 — — — 01 (614) 1220 1631
Profit for the year — - — - — - — — 57 57
Other comprehensive income
and losses
Cash flow hedges:
Farr value (loss}/income - — —_ — *4) 0b - — {03} (10)
Deferred tax an cash flow
hedge and available-for-sale
financial assets — — - — — — — — 0.2 02
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations — - — — — — — — 06 0B
Total other comprehensive
{loss)/fincome — — — — (143 05 - — 07 (e}
Total comprehensive income/
{loss) — - — — (14) Q5 — — 84 55
Transactions with owners
lssde of Ordinary shares 25 — 01 — — - — — — - 0l
Reclassification between
reserves - 21 — (20 — — — - — —
Disposal of revaluation reserve - — — — — - on - — Q1)
Disposal of treasury reserve — — - 18 — — — — {0.9) 09
Credit to reserves for
share-based payments 1 — — — — — — — — 08 0.9
Deferred tax relating to
share-based payments 24— — — — — — — — 01 01
Dividends to equity holders
of the Company 25 — — - — — — — — (3.9) 33)
Total transactions
with owners — 2.2 — (0.3) - — (on — {3.8) (20)
At 30 lune 2020 0N 1019 06 (0.3} (14) 05 — (614) 1268 1666

94 [ CVS Group plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021



Company statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 June 2021

Capital
Share Sha-e reclemnpt on Retainad I ES
Canatal [FrEMILMm reseryC eam gs CauiLy
MNore el m £m £m L~
At1July 2020 01 1019 06 484 1510
Total comprehensive loss for the year - — - (0.5) (0.5)
Transactions with owners
Issue of Ordinary shares 25 — 12 — — 1.2
Credit to reserves for share-based paymeants n — - — 272 42
Dividends to equity holders of the Company 25 — - — - —
Total transactions with owners - 1.2 — 22 3.4
At 30 June 2021 0.1 103.1 0.6 50.1 153.9
Camital
Shere Shae reternptio Reta ned Tl
captal parereium reserye CEINNYS edllly
Mute m o £m £m fre
At 1 July 2019 01 1018 06 518 154.3
Total comprehensive loss for the year — — — (0.4} (C.4)
Transactions with owners
Issue of Ordinary shares 25 — (O} — — o]
Credit to reserves for share-based payments 1 — — — 09 09
Dividends to equity halders of the Company 25 — — — (3.9) 39
Total transactions with owners — 01 — 3Q) (29)
At 30 June 2020 01 1019 06 484 1510
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Consolidated and Company statement of cash flow

for the year ended 30 June 2021

Group Sroup Company Carmpany
2021 2020 2021 2070
vale £m £ £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generatea ‘rom/{used in} operztions 28 80.3 94.8 {1.2) 39
Taxation paid {13.0) (9.5 - —
Interest paid (7.1 (700 - —
Exceptional items paid - o7 — —
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 60.2 776 (1.2) 39

Cash flows fram investing activities
Business combinations (net of cash acquired) 15 (19.4) (7.2) — —
Purchase of property, plant and ecuipment 13 (16.1} mun — —
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.6 — — —
Purchase of intangible assets 12 (0.5} (1.3) — -—
Net cash used in investing activities (35.4) n96) - —

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid - (3.9) — (39)
Proceeds from issue of Ordinary shares 25 1.2 aa 1.2 —
Proceeds from sale of Treasury shares 25 0.3 09 - —
Repayment of obhgations under right-of-use assets {13.0) (14.2) — -
Dept 1ssuance costs — (17) - —
Repayment of borrowings (1.1) (85.2) — —
Increase of borrowings - 350 — —
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities {12.6) (49.0) 1.2 (39}
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12.2 20 — —
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 215 125 — —
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 337 25 - —
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 30 June 2021

1. General information

The principal activity of the Group 1s 1o operate veterinary practices, complementary veterinary diagnostic busingsses, pet

crematoria and an online pharmacy and retail businass. The prncinal activity of the Company s that of a holding company.

CVS Group ple is a public Imited company incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 and domiciled in England and
Wales and 1ts shares are quoted on AIM of the London Stock Exchange. Its company registration number 1s 06312831,

Companies in the consolidated financial stotements
The trading subsidiary undertakings included within the consclhidation are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Principal business

Country of incorporation

Albavet Limited

Animed Direct Limited

Axiom Veterinary Laboratories Limited
B&W Equine Group Limited

Coen Dierenarts BV.

CVS (Ireland) Vetennary Services Limited

CVS (Ireland) Veterinary Services No.2 Limited

CVS (Netherlands) BV.

CVS Netherlands No2 B.

CVS (UK) Limited

Dierenartsenpraktik NOP BV.
Dierenartsenpraktik Zuid-west Friesland BV
Dierenkliniek Schalekamp BV.
Dierenziekenhuis Drachten BV

Diergeneeskundig Centrum Noord Nederland BY.

Endell Veternary Group Limited
Greenacras Pet Crematorium Lirnited
Highcroft Pet Care Limited

Kliniek voor Gezelschapsdieren Dieren BV.
Mi vet Club Limited

Okeford Veterinary Centre Limited

Pet Doctors Limited

Pet Emergency Treatment Services Limited
Pet Vaccination Clinic Limited

Precision H.stology International Limited
Rossendale Pet Crematorium Limited

Ruddington and East Leake Veternary Centre Lirited

Severn Edge Equine Limited

Severn Edge Farm Limited

Severn Edge Veterinary Group Limited
Silvermers Haven Limited

Silverton Veterinary Practice Limited
Sustainable Developments (SW) Limited
The Pet Crematorium Limited

Valley Pet Crematorium Limitad

Vet Direct Services Limited

Whitley Breok Crematorium for Pets Lirmited
Your Vets (Holdings) Limited

Veterinary services and buying club
Onling dispensary

Veterinary diagnostic services
Yelerinary services

Veterinary services

Holding company

Yeterinary services

Holding company

Velerinary services

Veterinary and diagnostic services
Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Velernary services

Veterinary services

Veterirary services

Velernary services

Animal cremation

YVeterinary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary goods and services buying club
Veterinary sernvices

Veternary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary senvices

Veteringry diagnostic services

Animal cremation and provision of bunal grounds

Veterinary services
WVeterinary services
Veterinary serv ces
Veterinary serv.Ces

Animal cremation and provision of bunal grounds

Veterinary serv ces

Praperty development

Animal cremation

Animal cremation

Veterinary Instrumentation supply
Animal cren-ation

Veterinary services

Scotland

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
The Netherlands
Repupnlc of reland
Repuolc of [reland
The Netnerlands
The Netherlands
England and Wales
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
The Netherlands
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2021

1. General information continued

Companies in the consolidated financial statements continued
The darmant subsidiary undertakings included within the consolidation are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Country of incorporation

Alcock Veterinary Services Lirmited”
Alnorthumbria Veterninary Practice Ltd*
Arbury Road vets Limited*

Animal Health Centre Limited

Ambivet Ltd

Astonlee Limited

Beechwood Animalcare Limited®

BYCM Limited*

Campgie Vetermary Centre Ltd”

Charter Veterinary Hospital Group Limited
Cinder Hill Equine Clinic Limited

Corner House Equine Chnie Linited
Cromlynvets Limited

Darboe and Bally Limited

Enterprise Veterinary Services Limited
Greendale Vererirary Diagnostics Limited
Greensands Veteninary Clinic Limited
Gurka Amimal Care Limited

Insight Laboratory Services Limited
Keown O'Nelll Limited

Newlands Veternary Group Limited

Pet Vaccination UK Limited

Pets Holding Limited

Pharmsure UK Limited

Polmont Veterinary Glinic Limited

Severn Edge Holdirgs Limited

Slate Hall Vererinary Fractice Limited
Slate Hail Veteninary Services Limited

St Elmo veterinary Clinic Ltd*

Superstar Pets Limited

Three Valleys veterinary Ltd*

lotal Veterinary Services Limited

vet Direct Holdings Limited

Veterinary Enteronses & Trading Limited
Vetisco Limited*

Werghondge Referral Service Limired
Vestern Counties Equine Hosptal Limited
Vwhite Lodge veter nary Centre Litd

Vivatt Pouliry Veterinary Services bimited

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Scotland

Northern lreland
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Northern reland
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Englend and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Northern Ireland
England and Wales
England ana Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Scotland

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Northern Ireland
England and wales
Northern Irefang
England and Wales
England and Wates
England and Wales
Scotland

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and wales
England and Wales

Czmoanies i o das2n

Apart from CVS (UK Limited all of the above supzidianies are indirectly reld by CVS Group ole.

100% of the Ordinary share cao tal i1s owned “or all equity sharehaldings and therefore all are wholly owned.
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1. General information continued

Companies in the consolidated financial statements continued
The registered office for all Urited Kingdom registered subsidiary undertakings is CVS House, Owen Road, D'ss, Norfolk P22 4ER,

with the exception of the following companies:

Name of subsidiary

Registered office address

Albavet Limited

Alcock Veterinary Services Limited
Alnorthumbria Veterinary Practice Ltd
Arbury Road Vets Limited

Axicm Veterinary Laboratories Limited
Beechwood Animalcare Limited
BYCM Limized

Campsie Vetennary Centre Limited
Cromlyrivets Limited

Kecwn O'Neill Limited

Polmont Vetennary Chnic Limited
Precision Hstology International Limited
St Elmo Veterinary Clinic Limited
Three Valleys Veterinary Ltd

Vetisco Limited

24 Nicol Street, Kirkeeldy, Fife KYTINY

King Street House, 15 Upper King Street, Norwich NR3 1RB

king Streel House, 15 Upper King Street, Norwich NR3IRR

King Street House, 15 Upper King Street, Norwich NR3 1RB

The Manor House, Brunel Road, Newton Abbot, Devon TQN2 4PB
King Street House, 15 Upper King Street, Norwich NR3 1RB

The Vision Building, 20 Greenmarket, Dundee DD1 4GB

17 Clarendon Road, Belfast BT1 3BG

50 Old Coacn Road. Hillsborough, County Down BT26 6PB

11 Church Street, Ballygawley, Co. Tyrone BT70 2HA

Boress Road, Polmont, Falkirk FK2 OX7

The School House, One Eved Lang, Weybread, Diss, Norfolk IP215TT
17 Clarendon Road, Belfast BT1 3BG

17 Clarendon Road Belfast BT1 3BG

The Vision Building, 20 Greenmarket, Dundee DD1 4GB

The registered office for all Netherlands registered subsidiary undertakings is Postbus 176, 8300 AD Emmelcord. The registered

office for all Republic of lreland registered subsidiary undertakings s KPMG, Dockgate, Dock Road, Galway HS1 VERR.

Parent company guarentee

The following wholly owned subsidiaries are exempt from the reguirements of the UK Companies Act 2006 relating to the
audit of individual accounts by virtue of Section 473A of the Act

Name of subsidiary

Company registration number

Albavet Limited

Axiom Veterinary Laboratories Limited
B&W Equine Group Limited

Charter Veterinary Hospital Group Limited
Endell Veterinary Group Limited
Greenacres Pet Crematorium Limited
Greendaie Veterinary Diagnostics Limitea
Highoroft Pet Care Limited

Insignt Laboratory Services Ltd

Mi Vet Club Limited

Okeford Veterinary Centre Limited

Pet Vaccination UK Ltd

Pet vaccination Clinic Limited

Pets Holding Limited

Pets Emergency Treatment Services Limited
Rossendale Pet Crematornium Limited
Ruddington and East Leake Veterinary Centre Limited
Severn Edge Equine Limited

Severn Edge Farm Limited

Severn Edge Holdings Limited

Savern Edge Veterinary Group Limited
Silvermere Haven Limited

Silverton Veterinary Practice Limited

SC275059
02526935
06777468

12941058
08078309
07877237
0513812

07238070
06353163
08365201
03884705
05331973
03252501

mes72

03586933
0409643
04551334
09524486
09521408
09522086
08523786

02187947
081017
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

1. General information continued
Parent company guarantee continued

Name of subsidiary Company registration ntumber
Slate Hall Veterinary Services Ltd 08390276
Sustainable Developments (SW) Limited 05174372
The Pat Crermatorium Lirnited 03442460
Valley Pet Crematonum Limited 04961306 .
Vet Direct Services Limited 05167635
Vet Direct Holdings Limited 06746630
Veterinary Enterorises & Trading Ltd 03485054 !
Whitley Brook Cramatorum for Pets Limitea 04734723 .
Wyatt Poultry Vetennary Services Ltd 05780M7 '
Your Vets {Holdings) Ltd 07071834

2. Summauary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The consolidated and Conrpany financial staterments of CVS Group ple have been prepared in accordance with international

accounting standards and in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The consolidated financia!

statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention, except for certain !
financial nstruments ana share-based payments that have been measured at farr value.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation hat the Group has adeguate resources 1o continue In
opetational existence for the foreaeeable future For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in prepanng
these financial statements. Further detalls are provided m the Directors’ report on pages 78 10 81.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all years presented in these
financial statements, The accounting polic es which follow relate 1o the Group and are applied by the Company as appropriate

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of finarosl statements in conformity with [FRS requires management 1o make judgements, estimates

and assumptions that affect the applicatic of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, ncome and expenses
The estimates and associated assumprions are based on histoncal expenence and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstarces, the results of which form a basis for making the 'udgements about carrying values
of assets and labilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Due to the inherent uncertainty nvolved in making
asgamptions and estimates, actual outcomes will differ from those assumptions and estimates.

Judgement: Leases
Management exercises jLdgerment in determirirg the likelihood of exercising break or extension options in determining the
lease term.

when determining the lease term in accordance witn IFRS 18, ‘Leases’ paragraphs 18-21. management bas applied the
following policy for all Izases:

a} for properties in contract, the lease term nas been determined to be the penod to the end of the contractual lease term,

k) for properties out of contract and therefore cccupied on a rolling basis, n accordance with legislaton that permits this,
the lease term has been determined tc e 75 years from “he end of the contractual lease term: and

for propertias wnere management has committed to close the site, the lease tarm is determined to be untl the next
preak clause.

o

Refer 1o note 14 for additioral disclosures related to leases
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Critical accounting estimates and judgements continued

Accounting estimate: Research and Development Expenditure Tax Credit ("RDEC™}

The Group has recognised mncome in relation to claims made by the Group under HM Revenue & Customs' RDEC scheme
in respect of costs relating to qualifying Research and Development ("R&D") activities. The income 1s recognisad when there
1s reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the relevant conditions of the scheme and that the tax cregits will
be received, which can be some time after the criginal expense is incurred. The Group's assessment of eligible expenditure
and qualifying activities must align with the definiion of R&D for RDEC purposes. The Group has considered the facts and
circumstances relating to each company’s claim in order 1o make a jJudgement as te whether compliurice is reasonably
assurad and therefore receipt is reasonably certain, As this is the first time the Group has claimed under this regime the
Group has applied an estimated discount to the gross claim of £3.9m and recognised only £2.0m in the current year. The
unrecognised amount is therefore £1.9m, which will be recognised when uncertainty has been removed either via formal
acceptance of the claim or the expiry of the enquiry window.

Changes in accounting policies and disclesure

Standards adopted by the Group for the first time

A number of new and revised standards, including the following, are effective for annual penods beginning on or after
1 January 2020:

« Amendment to IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ - COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions (ard from 1 Apnl 2021 COVID-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021)

- Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7. IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 'Interest Rate Banchmark Reform’ - Phase 1
- Amendments to References to the Conceptual framework in IFRS Standsrds

- Amendments to IFRS 3, ‘Definition of a Business’

Adoption of these standards has not had an impact on the Group's financial statements.

Standards and interpretations to existing standards which are net yet effective and are under review as to their impact on
the Group

The following standards and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Group's
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2021 or later petiods but which the Group has not early adopted:

« Amendments to IFRS 8, IAS 39, IFRS 7 IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 'Interest Rate Benchmaik Reform - Phase 2 (effective 1 January 2021}
- Amendments to IAS 18, ‘Property, Flant and Eauipment’ - Proceeds Before intended Use (effective 1 January 2022)

- Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 (effective 1 January 2022}

« Amendments to IFRS 3, 'Reference to the Conceptual Framework’ (effective 1 January 2022)

- Amendmen:s to IAS 37 'Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfiling a Contract’ (effective 1 January 2022)

« Amendments to IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ {effective 1 January 2023)

- Amendments to IAS 1, ‘Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current’ (effective 1 Jaruary 2023}

« Amendments to JAS 8, ‘Definition of Accounting Estimates’ (effective 1 January 2023)

+ Amendments to tAS Tand IFRS Practice Staternent 2, 'Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective 1 January 2023)

» Amendments to 1AS 12, ‘Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilit es ansing from a Single Transaction’ {(effective ™ January 2023)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial information of the Cormpany and its subsidiary undertakings as
at and for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has centrol. The results of companies and businesses acquired are ir¢luded
In the consolidated income statement from the date control passes. They are deconsolidated from the date that cortrol
ceases. On acquisition of a company or business, all assets and liabilties tnat exist at the date of acquistion are recorded
at their fair values, reflecting their condition at that date. All changes to those assets and labilities, and the resulting gains
and losses, which arise after the Group has gained control of the company or business, and that arise after the
measurament period. are credited or charged to the post-acquisition iIncome statement

Intra-group transactions and profits are eliminatad fully on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidianes have been
aligned to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

CVS Group ple Annual Repert and Financial Statements 2021 | 104

SIUSUIPNE |BIDUDUI4



Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Segment reporting

Cperating segments are reperted in a manner consistent with the internal reporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker
{"CODM"Y. The CODM has beer deter-mined to be the Board of Directors, astis prirarily rasponsible for the allocation of
resources to segments and the assessment of the performance of segments. The Group has four operating segments:
Veterinary Practices, Laboratories, Crematona and Online Retail Business. Further details of the Group's operating segments
are provided in note 4 o the financial statements.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accountad for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business comb:nation I1s measured at fair value, whicn is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group and ligbilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree. Acquisition
related costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred. At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at ther fair value.

Goodwillis measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment. the net of the acquisition date amounts
of the identifiable agsets acquired and habilities assumed exceads the sum of the consideration transferred, the excess is
recognised immediately in the income statement as a bargain purchase gain.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes an asset or liability resulting from a
contingent or deferred considerat.on arrangement, this additional considerat-on is measured at its acquisition date fair value and
Included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination Changes in fair value of the contingent or deferred
consideration that qualify as measurament period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with correspanding adjustments
against goodwill. Measurerment period adjustments are acljustrments that anse from additional information obtained during the
"measurement period” (which cannat exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acauisiaon date. Contingent or deferred consineranon thatis classified as an asset or a hahility is remeasured at subseguent
reporting dates in accordance with IFRS @, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, or 1AS 37, Provisions, Cortingent
Liabilittes and Contingent Assets' as appropriate, wih the corresnonding gan or loss being recognised in the Income statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant end eguipment are statad at cost (being the purchase cost, together with any incidental costs of acquisition)
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairmeant losses. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed annuslly, and adjustec as appropriale. Depreciation s provided so as to write of f the cost of propearty, plant and
eguipment, less their estimated residual values, over the expected useful economic lives of the assets in equal annual
instalments at the following principal rates

Freehold buldngs 2% straight line

Leasehold improvements Smraight ine over the life of the lease
Fixtures, fittings and equipment  20%-33% straight line

Motor vehicles 25% straight line

Freehold fard is not depreciated on the pasis that 1t has an urlirmted ife.

Subsequent cos's are included in the asset's carrving arnount or recogrised as a separate asset, as approepriate, only when
it is probable that future economic nenefits associated with the iterm will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured rehiadly All other repars and mantenzance are charged to the income statement during the financial year in which
they are incurred.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Vith the excepuon of the ecouisitior of CyS (UK) Limited. which was accountad for using the principies of merger accounting.
all business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Goodwill arising on acquisitions that have
occurred since 1 July 2004 s stated after separate recognition of mntangible assets and represents the difference betweer
the fair value of the purchase consideration and the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets of an acqu red
entity. In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 July 2004 goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, wh ch represents
the amount recorded under previous Generally sccepted Accounting Practce. Goodwill1s carned at cost less accumulated
impalrment losses, ard s subject to annual impairment testung
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Intangible assets continued

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring into use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful ives of three years and charged to administrative
expenses. Costs associated with maintaining cormputer software programs are recognised as an administrative expense
as incurred.

Patient data records and trade names

Acquired patient data records and trade names are recognised as intangible assets at the fair value of the consideration
paid to acquire them and are carried at hustorical cost less provisions for amorusanon and imoairment. The fair value
attributable to these items acquired through a business combination s determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows to be generated from that asset at the risk-adjusted post-tax weighted average cost of capital for the Group.
The residual values are assumead to ba £nil. Patient data records and trade names are reviewed for impairment if conditons
exist that indicate a review 1s required Amaortisation 1s provided so as to write off the cost over the expected economic lives
of the asset in equal instalments at the following principal rates:

Patient data records 10% per annum
Trade names 10% per annum
Amortisatior is charged to administrative expanses.

Impairment of non-current assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for impairment. Assets

that are subject to amaortigation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement for
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

As permitted by IAS 36 Impairment of Assets for the purposes of assessing impairment, individual cash-generating units
{"CGUs"} are grouped at a level consistent with the Group's operatng segments. Recoverable amounts for CGUs are based
on velue in use, which is calculated frony cash flow projections using data from the Group's latest internal forecasts, being
a one-year detalled forecast and extrapolated forecasts thereafter, the results of which are approved by the Board. The key
assumptions for the value-in-use calculations are those regarding discount rates and growth rates.

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amaortisation, if no
impairment 1oss had been recognised. Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed.

Inventories

Inventories comprise goods held for resale and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a first in, first out
basis. Net realisable value 1s based on estimated selling price less costs expected to be incurred on disposal. Where
necessary, provisior 1s made for obsolete, slow moving or defective inventory.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s consclidated and Company statement of financial
position when the Group becomes g party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised imtially &t fair value and subseguently measured at amortised cost, less provision
for imparment. A provision for impairment of trade and other recevables 1s recagnised if there are considered to be
expected credit losses. The amount of expected credit losses s updated at each eporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. Losses arising from 'mpairmen: are recognised in the income statement
within administration expenses.

Investments

Gains and losses arising from changes in the farr value of available-for-sale investments in equity instruments that have a
quoted market price are recognised directly in other comprehensive income unti the secunty is dispased of or is determined
to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previcusly recognised inequity 1s inciuded in the net result for the year
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Financial instruments continued

Investments continued

In accordance with IFRS 9, available-far-sale investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted markel price

in an active market and whose fair value carnot be reliably measured are measured at cost. The Group assesses at each
consoldated and Company staterent of financial position date whether tnere is objective avidence that a financial asset
or a group of {inancial assets 15 impaired.

Dividends on an aveilable-for-sale equity instrument are recogn sed in the income statement when the Group's nght
to receve payment is established

In the Company’s financial statermnents, investments in subsdiary undertakings are initially stated at cost. Provision 15 made
for any parmanent impairment in the value of these investrants

Financial liabilities and equity

Firancial liabiltties and equity irstruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements

entered into. Financial labilities are obligations to pay cash or other financial assets and are recognised when the Group

becomes a party to the contractual provisiors of the instrument. Financial iablities are recorded wnitially at fair value and

subseguently at amortised cost using the effective Interest method, with interest related charges recognised as an expense ‘
in finance cost In the income statement. A financial habll ty 1s derecognised only when the obligation is extinguished An

equity instrument is any contract that gives a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting alt of its liabilities.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are inttally recorded as the proceeds received, net of associated transaction costs
Subsequent to inital recognition, interest-bearnng borrowings are stated at amorused cost with any difference between cost
and redemption value being recognised N the income statemen: over tha penad of the borrowings using the effective interast
rmethod Borrowings are ¢lassified as current habiities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liabrlity for at least twelve months after the consoldated and Company staterrent of financial position date,

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are recognised irutially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity ‘nstrumenrts issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received. net of direct issue gosts,

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group uses denvative financial ‘nstruments o hedge Its exposure to interest rate nsks arising from financing activities.
The Group does not hold or issue dertvasive financial instruments for trading purposes; however, if derivatives do not qualify
for hedge accounting they are accounted for as such

In September 2019, the IASE 1ssued interest Rate Benchimark Reform (Amendmrents to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7). These
amenaments modily specific hedge accounting reguirernents to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected hedges
during the perniod of uncertainty before the hedged items or hedging instruments affected by the current interest rate
benchmarks are amended as a result of the ongoing intarest rate benchmark reforms.

The application of the amendments impacts rhe Group's accounting 'n refation to a Sterlirg-clenominated fixed rate
debt which it far value hedge accounts vsirg Sterling fixed to GBP LIBOR interest rate swaps The amendments permi:
continuation of hedge accounting even If in the ‘uture the hedgea benchmark interest rate. GBP LIBOR, may no longer
be separately idennfiacle However, this relief ooes not extend to the requ.rement that the designated interest rate risk
component must cont nue to be reliably measarable. If the nsk component is no longer reliably measurable, the
hedging relationship s discontinued.

Denvative financ al mstrurments are recogrised and siated a: far value. The fair value of denvative financial nstruments 1s
determined by reference to market values for similar financial instruments. by discounted cash flows, or by the use of option
valuaton modeis. Tre “air vaiue of interest rate swap arrangements is calculated as the prasent value of the estimated future
cash flows. Where dernatives do not quali®y far hedge accounting, any gains or losses on remeasurement are immediately
recognmsed in the incorme statemert.

Where derivatives qualfy for hedge accounting, recogmiton of any resultart gan or loss depends on the nature of the
hedge relat onshio and the tem being heaged
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Financial instruments continued

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities continued

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items,
as well as its risk management objectives, the strategy for undertak ng varous hedging transactions, the nature of the r'sks
being hedged and the econamic relationship betweer. the item being hedged and the hedging instrument The Group also
documents its assessment, both at hedge incention and on an ongoing basis, of wnather or not the denvatives that are
used i hedging transactions are hughly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged items

The fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or hability when the remaining maturity of the
hedged iterm is more than twelve months and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedgea item
15 less than twelve months.

Cash flow hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when they hedge the Group's exposure to variability in
cash flows that are either attnibutable to a particular risk associated w th a recogrised asset or liability, or a highly probable
forecasted transaction.

The effective elemant of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and gualify as cash flow hedges 15
recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 1s recognised immediately
In the income statement where matenial. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the
periods when the hedged item affects the iIncome statement. The classification of the e*fective portion when recognised
in the income statement is the same as the classification of the hedgec transaction. Any element of the remeasurement of
the derivative instrument which does not meet the critena for an effective hadge s recognised immediately in the income
statement within finance costs.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that ime remains in equity and 18 recognised in the income statement when
the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the Income statement When a forecast transaction 1s no longer expected
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in ecuity 1s immediately transferred to the ncome statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits with matunities of three months or less frem inception.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash rmanagement are .ncluded
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidzted ana Company statement of cash flow

Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax payable, deferred tax and any adjustments in respect of previous periods.

The current tax payable 15 based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable orofit d ffers from profit efore mcome tax as
reported in the Income statement because It excludes some iterms of income or expense that are taxable or deductble

In other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or tax deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated on the basis of tax laws and tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the consohdated and
Company statement of financial position date. Managerment periodically evaluates posizions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet liability metnod, on temporary differences arising between the tax
hases of assets and liabilities used in computation of taxable profits and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax 1s not accountad for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability In a trangaction
other than a business combination that at the ume of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
Deferred tax is also not accounted for if it anses from nitial recognition of goodw I Deferred tax 1s determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated and Company statement of financial pesition
date and are expectad to apply when the related deferred tax asset 1s realised or the deferred tax lability is settled.

Current and deferred tax is charged or credited in the income staterment, except where it relates to 1tems charged or
credited directly to other comprehansive income or equity, N which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or equity respectively.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 15 probable that future taxable profit will be avallable against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Current and deferred income tax continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and l'abilities relate to iIncome taxes levied by the same taxation
authorty on either the taxable entity or different taxable entiies where there is an mtention 10 settie the balances on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s measured in accordance with relevant accounting standards For all contracts within the scope of IFRS 15,
‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, the Group determines whether enforceable rights and obligations have beer
created with the customer and recognises revenue based on total transaction price as estimated at the contract inception,
being the amount which the Group expects to be entitled to and has present enforceable rights under contract. Revenue 1s
allocated propartionately across the contract performance obligations and recognised either over time or at a point in tune
as appropriate.

Service revenue

Revenue represents sales of veterinary services, laboratory diagrostic services and crematoria services which are
recognised In accordance witn IFRS 15, at the po ntin time when the performance obligation 1s satisfied. Revenug is
recognised when the veternnary consultation, veterirary procecure, laboratory test or cremation 13 completed.

Members of cusiomer loyalty schemes, for example the Healthy Pet Club, pay annually or monthly subscription fees and
receve preventative consultations and treatments over a twalve-rmonth period, being the e of the contract. Annual
subscriptionr fees are receved annually i1 advance and monthly subscription fees are receved evanly over a twelve-month
period, Revenue 1s recognised in ine with the cost profile of iIndividual performance obligations as they are comptleted in
accordance with the contract and not in line with the receipt of subscription fees. For the majority of customers who pay
monthly this results in revenue recogmised in advance of cash recewved as performance obligations are weighted towards
the beginning of the tweive-month contrac:.

The adjustrments are rnade througn deferred and accrued INncome and the contract asset and contract hability for this are
shown in note 20 and note 21, respectively Revenue 1s recognised net of the provision to reflect cancellations as a result of
arimal deaths, due to our policy rot to nve ce our customers in such an event. The provision s calculated based on historical
membership data. All other cancellations are accounteq for as an impairment of recewvables within administration expenses

Products
Revenue relafting 1o the sale of vetarinary oroducts is recognised according to the terms of sale, at the point in ime when
the parformance obligations are sansfied.

Rebates received from manufacturers

Consistent with standard industry practice, the Group has agreements with suppliers whereby volume related allowances
and various other fees are received in connection with the purchase of goods from those suppliers in the form of rebates.
Rebates receved from drug and consumable manufacturers in respect of the Group's purchases relating to inventornes are
held by the Group at the reporting date; the rebate 1s included within the cost of those inventaries and recogrnised in cos: of
sales upon sale of those inventories.

Rebates negotiated on benalf of our buyirg aroup members, MivetClub and VetShare, are recorded in the statement of
financial posiion as a recevable and the correspording hability for the rebate due to the member is recorded as a payable
The commussion receivable by the Group 1s recorded as revenudz in the income statement when all obligations attached 1o
the rebate have been discharged anc the renate can be measured reliably based on the terms of the contract which is taken
as at the point ar whick the buying group mermier purchases the drugs and consumables

Leases

The Group as a lessee

Trne Group assesses whether a contract s or contains a lease. at inception of the contract Tne Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a correspondirg lease liability with respect to all lease arrangerments in which it ‘s the lessee. except for short-term
leases {defined as leases with a lease term of twelve months or less) and leases of low-value assets (such as tablets and personal
compdters, smatl items of office fLrniture and telepaones) For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operat.ng expense on a straight-hne basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative
of the ume patterrn 11 which economic benefits from the leased assets ae consumed.

The lease liability ts initially measured a” the: orezent value of the tease payments that are rot pad et the cammercemens
date, discounted oy using the rate impl it n the lease. If this “ate cannol be readily determined, the lessee uses ts Incremental
barrowing rate.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Leases continued

The Group as a lessee continued

Lease payments Included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

« fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

« variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, nitiaglly measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
» the amount expected tn he payahle by the lessee under residual value guarantees,

« the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the ootions; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, If the lease term reflects tae exercize of an option to terminate the lease.
The lease liability 15 presanted as a separate line In the consolidated statement of financial pesition.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
{using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the fease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the relzted nght-of-use asset) whenever:

- the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change 1n circumstances resulting 1n a change in the
assessrment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease lability is remeasurad by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate;

- the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteec
residual value, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged
discount rate (unless the lease payments change 1s due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used); and

+ alease contract is modified and the lease modification 1s not accountad for as 2 separate lease, in which case the lease
hability 1s remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments usirga
revised discount rate at the effective date of the medificaticn

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease lability, lease payments made at
or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives receved and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obhgation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it

is located or restare the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms ard conditions of the lease, a provision

1s recognised and measurad under IAS 37 To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are Included
in the related nght-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce nventorias.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter peried of lease term and uzeful life of the underlying asset. if a lease
transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise
a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset 1s depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation
starts at the comnmencement date of the lease

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate ine i1 the consohdated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset 15 1mpaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss as described in the "Property, plant and eguipment” policy.

Vanable rents that do not depend on an index of rate are not included in the measurement of the lease labilty and the
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense 1 the penoc 1n which the event or condition that
triggers those payments occurs and are included in "Other operating expenses” in the iIncome statement.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease comrponents, and instead account for any
lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group 1es not used this practical expedient.
For a contract that contains a fease component and oneg or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocatas the consideration in the contract to eacn lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there (s reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
atrachirg to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised i the iIncome statement on a systematic basis over the periads in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are recaivable as cormpensaton for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in the income statement in the period
in which they become receivable.

Certain companies within the Group may be entitied to claim tax credits in relation to the Research and Development |
Expenditure Tax Credit ("RDEC”) scherre in the UK. Tax credits receivable under this scheme are determined to have the

substance of a government grant and accordingly these tax credits are accounted for under IAS20, ‘Accounting for

Government Grants’, as described above. The tax creagits are recognised within other income within the Income staterment

when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the relevant conditions and that the tax credits will be

received.

Share-based payments

Certain employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration in the form of share-based payment trarsactions, whereby
employees render services in exchange for shares or nights over shares (equity-settled transactions). UK employees may
also acguire shares in the Company through an HMRC-approved employes Save As You Earn scheme ("SAYE™), where the
employee makes monthly savirgs over a three-year period and has the option to purchase shares at the end of the period.

The fair vafues of eguity-settled transactiors are measured indirectly at the dates of grant using Black Scholes or Monte Carlo
option pricing madels, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the awards are granted. The fair value of
share-based payrments under such schemes s expensed on a straight-hne basis over the vesting period, pased on the
Group's estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted at each reperting date for the effect of non-market-based
vesting conditions. The fair value of options awardeo to employees of subsidiary undertakings is recognised as a capital
contribution and recorded in investments on the Company staterment of financial posttion

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentational currency i
The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary econom’c

ernvironment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consclidated financial statements, the

results and financial pesition of each Group company are expressed in Sterling, which is the functional currency of the :
Compary. and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements, rounded to the nearest £0.1m,

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recogrused at the rates of exchange prevalling on the dates of the transactions

t each consolidated and Company statement of financial position date. monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are trarslated at the rates prevalling at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-moenatary items tnat are measured m zerms of histonical cost in a fareign currency are not retranslated

Exchange differences are recognised in the income statement in the penod n which they arise.

For the purpose of present'ng consolidated financal statements, the asse's and habilites of the Group's foreign operations

are translated at exchange rates preva ling on tne consolidated and Company statement of financial pestion date. Income

and expense iterns are translated at the average exchange rates for tne period. unless exchange ratas fluctuate sigrificantly
durng that penod, r which case the exchange rates at the date of transactons are used. Exchange differences arisirg,

if any, are recogrused in cther comprehensive ncome and accumulated In a separate component of equ ty.

Goodwll and farr value adjustments ar sing on the acguistion of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
fareign entity and translated at the closing rate. The Group has elected tc treat goodwill and fair value adjustments arsing
an acqausttiors aefora the date of transtion to IFRS as Sterling-deromirated assets and liablities. Exchange differences
arising are recognised n other comprebensiva ircome

Retirement benefit costs

The Group makes contributions to stakekolder and emplovee personal pension defined contribution schemes in respect of
certan employees. The Group has no further payrent obligations once the contributions have been pad. The contnbutions
are recognised as ar employee benefit experse in the penod to wh'ch they relate. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asse to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in tne futara payments 1s avallable.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Financing costs

Financing costs comprise intarest payable on norrowings, debt f.nance costs, finance cost on the right-of-use lease hability,
and gains and losses on derivative finaacial instruments that are recogn'sed in the income statement.

Interest expense 15 recognised in the Income statement as it accruas, using the effective interest metnad.

Use of non-GAAP measures

Adjusted EBITDA, adjusted Profit Before Tax {“adjusted PBT”) and adjusted Earnings Per Share (“adjusted EPS”)

The Directors believe that adjusted EBITDA, adjusted PBT and adjusted EPS provide additional useful information for shareholders
on the Group’s underlying performance. These measures are used by the Board and management for planning and internal
raporting and are aligned to our strategy and KPls. A subset 15 also used by management in settirg Director and managemert
remuneération. The measures are also used in discussions with the investment analyst community. These measures are not
defined by IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with other companies adjusted measures. They are not
intended to be a substitute for, or superior 1o, IFRS measurements of profit or eanings per share

Adiusted EBITDA is caloulated by reference to profit before income tax, adjusted for interest (net finance expense),
depreciation, amaoriisation, casts relating to business combinations and exceptional items.

Adjusted profit before income tax s calculated as profit before amortisation, taxation, costs relating to business
combinations and exceptuconal items.

Adjusted earnings per share is calculated as adjusted profit before income tax less applicable taxation anvided
by the weighted average number of Orcinary shares inssue in the periad.

Like-for-like sales

Like-for-like sales comprise the revenue generated from all operations compared to the prior year Revenue 1s included in
the like-for-like caleulation with effect from the month in which it was acquired in the previous year adjusted for the number
of working days, for example, for a practice acquired in September 2319, revenue is includea from September 2020 1in the
like-for-lke revenue calculation.

Net debt
Net debt is calculated as borrowings less gross cash and unamortised borrowing costs,

Share premium
The share premium reserve comprises the premium received over the nominal value of shares issued.

Treasury reserve
The treasury reserve comprisas shares held by an Employee Benefit Trust ("EBT") for the purposes of satisfying the exearcise
of certain share options vesting under the Group's Long-Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP") and SAYE schemes.

Capital redemption reserve
Upon cancellation of redeemable Preference shares on redemption, a capital redemption reserve was created representng
the nominal value of the shares cancelled. This is a non-distributable reserve.

Merger reserve
The merger reservea resulted from the acquisition of CVS (UK) Limited and represents the difference between the value
of the shares acquired (nominal value pius related share premium) and the nomimal value of the shares 1ssued.

Loss for the financial year

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected nct to present its own Income
statement or statement of comprehensive income for the year. The loss attributable to the Company is disclosed in the
footnote to the consolidated and Company statement of financial position.

3. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial nisks: market nsk (being foraign currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risks), credit risk and liquidity nisk. The Group's overali risk management programime focuses or the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The Group uses derivative
instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate moverrents It 1s not the Group's poley to actively trade in derivatives.

Given the size of the Group, the Board monitors financial nisk management. The policies set by the Board of Directors are
implemented by the Group's finance department.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

3. Financial risk management continued

Financial risk factors continued

a) Market risk

i) Foreign exchange currency rate risk

The Group has limited exposure ta foreign exchange risk as the majority of its transactions are denominated in the
Company's functional currency of Sterling. The Group has a policy to minimise forgign exchange currency rate risk through
the regular monitering of foreign currency flows. Currency exposures are raviewed regularly and all significant foreign
exchange trarnsactions are approved by Group managemert, For subsidiaries incorparated in the Netherlands and the
Republic of lreland, a natural hedge 1s applied where both revenue and expenditure is denominated in Eurcs. Aside from
this, the Group does not hedge any foreign currency transactions but contirues to keep this policy under review.

i} Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group has interest-bearing assets and liabilites. The Group's income and operating cash inflows are substantially
irdependent of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow irterest rate risk.

Atthe year end, the Group had interest hedging arrangements in place covering £70.0m of debt. This allows the Group

to mimimise IS exposure to significant interest rate increases whilst enabling the Group to take advantage of interest rate
reductions. The strategy for undertaking the hedge 1s to match a portion of the loan liability with a coterminous derivative that
allows interest to float within an agreecd range and thereby lirmits the cash flow exposure relating to interest.

Excluding the impact of the interest rate swap arrangement. bank borrowings bear interest at 1.45% to 2.7% above LIBOR.
The applicable interast rate 1s dependent upon the net debt 1 EBITDA ratio. During the year the bank borrowings carried a rate
averaging 1.55% above LIBOR.

At 30 June 2021, the Group has considerad the impact of movements in interest rates over the past year and has concluded
that a 1% movement is a reascnable benchmark, At 30 June 2021, if interest rates on Sterling-denominated borrowings had
been 1% higher or lower, with all other vanables held constant. post-tax profit and the movermnent in net assets for *he yvear
would have been agproximately £0.8m (2020- £11m) lower or higher. mainly as a result of the movement in interest rates on
the floating rate borrowings, net of the hedging dervative instrurment in place.

b) Credit risk

Trade receivatles are recognised initially at fair value ard subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables s recognised on trade receivables if there is considered to be
expected credit losses. The amount of expectad credit losses is calcutated using the simplified approach as allowable under
IFRS 9 and 1s updated at each reporung date o reflect changes in credit risk since intial recognition of the financial asset.
Losses arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in other operating expenses.

The credit risk on hquid funds and dernvative financial instruments 1s limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by internatioral credit rating agencles

Concentrations of credit nsk with respect to trade receivables are imited due to the Group’s diverse customer base. Sales

made other than on a cash basis are limited to a small part of the Group’s overail business, and within these business areas
the Group has appropriate credit check ng faciities and procedures in place. Customer accounts are also monitored on an
ongaing basis and appropriate action 1s taken where necessary 1o minirmise any credit sk, The Directors therefore beleve

there 1s no further credit sk provision required n excess of normal prowision for 'mpaired recevables

The maximum exposure to cradit risk at 30 June 2027 1s the fair value of each class of recewvable as disclosed in note 20
to tne financial statements

¢) Liguidity risk

Prudent ligu'dity risk managemert imples mairtaning sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of
fanding through an adequate amount of commitied credit facties The Group actively maintains cash balances and a

rix of long-term and short-term finance facilizies that are designed o ensura the Group has sufficient avallable funds

for operations and acquisitiens. Management monrtors rolling forecasts of the Group's iquidity reserve on the basis of
expected cash flow. The table below surrmarnses the remaining contractual maturity for the Group's firancial lisblities.
The amounts shown are the contractual una:scountea cash flows, which include interest, analysed by contractual maturty,
¥/hen the amount payable or receivable 1 not fixed, the amcurt disclosed has been determined by re*erence to the
projected nterest rates as ustrated by the vield curves exising at the reporting date
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3. Financial risk management continued
Financial risk factors continued
¢ Liquidity risk continued

Inmorethan  Inmorethan  In mare than
one year but  two years but three years but
Inless than not more than  not more than  not more than In more than
one year two years three years five years five years Total
30 June 2021 Mete £m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings - — 85.0 — — 85.0
Trade and other payables (excluding
social security and other taxes) 2 69.1 — — — - 69.1
Right-of-use liabilities 14 12.4 14.2 13.2 237 57.2 120.7
81.5 14.2 98.2 237 57.2 274.8
17 ~ors tkan rmcie thar In mere than
DME year b ToInree vears oul
I |=ss than rot o than rat mare then Iry mare tnan
SRR 14 WG yrars tares years five years fr,e years Total
30 June 2020 Nate £ £ £m m £
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 01 — - 850 — 851
Trade and other payables {excluding
social security and other taxes) 21 584 — — — — 534
Right-of-use liabilities 14 126 139 125 225 a8 1213
721 138 125 1075 588 265.8

Caopital risk management

The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capitai base, definad as bank facilities plus total sharehclders’ equity, 5o as to
maintain investor, crediter and market confidence and to sustain future developmeant of the business. Within this cverall
policy, the Group seeks to maintain an optimurn capital structura by a mixture of debt and retained earnings.

The bank facilities include financial covenants and a number of general undertakings. There have been no oreaches of
the terms of the respective loan agreements. breaches of covenants or defaults dunng tne current or comparative years.

Funding needs are reviewed periodically and also each tme a significant acquisition 1s made. A number of factors are
considered which include the bank test net debt/bank test EBITDA ratio, future funding needs (usually potenual acguisitions)
and Group banking arrangemeants.

2021 2020

£me £mn

Bark test net debt 51.3 636
Bank test EBITDA 75.5 559
Ratio 0.68 114

The ratio above 1s calculated for the bank covenants as drawn brank debt less cash at banx divided by adjusted EBITDA
annualised for the effect of acquisitions, including costs relating to business combinations and excluding share opuon
costs, prior to the adoption of IFRS 18. Adjusted EBITDA is profit before income tax, adjustea for interest (net finance
expense), depreciation, amortisation, costs relating to business combinasions and exceptional items

There were no changes to the Group's approach to capital management dunng the year.

The primary sources of funding for the Group are internally generated cash ard syndicated borrowings. The Group’s £5.0m
overdraft facility and £85.0m revolving credit facility were undrawn at 30 June 2021.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
far the year ended 30 June 2021

3. Financial risk management continued
Fair value measurement
The following table presents the Group's financ al assets and labiiies that are measured at fair value at 30 June 2021

by level of fair value hierarchy:
- quoted prices (Unadjusted} In active markets for identical assets or liabilities {level 1),

- inputs ather than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
{that s, as prices) or ndirectly {inat is, derved from prices) (level 2); and

« nputs for the asset or llability that are not based on observable market data {that is. unobservable inputs) {level 3)

30 June 2021 30 June 2020
Level1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 1otal
hote £m £m £m £rm £rn £m
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 15 01 — ok | Q1 — o1

4. Segment reporting .
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group's business and geographical segments. The primary format,
operating segments, is based on the Group's management and internal reporting structure and monitored by the Group's
CODM. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.

Segment results, assets and liabities incluce items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated
on areasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly interest-beanng borrowings and associated costs, taxation
related assets and habilitizs, costs relating to business cambinations, and Head Office salary and premises costs

Geographical segments

The business cperates predominantly in the UK As at 30 June 2021, it has 25 veter nary prachices in the Netherlands and

6 in the Republic of freland. It cerforms a small armount of laboratory work for Europe-based clients and until December 2020
the Online Retal Business distnbuted a small quantity of goods to Eurcpean countries, In accordance with IFRS 8, ‘Operating
Segments’ no segment results are presented for trade with European clients as these are not reported separately for
management reporting pu-poses and are not considered matenal for separate disclosure.

Revenue comprisas £359 3m of fees and £150.8m of goods (2020: £293 8m and £134.2m respectively). Revenue from
contracts totalled £60.4m in the year (2020. £46 8m).

Operating segments

The Group 1s split iInte ‘our operating segments (Veternary Practices, Laberatories, Crematoria and Online Retail Business)
and a centralised support function {(Heag Office) for business segment analysis. In identifying these operating segments,
management generally follows the Group’s service ines representing 1ts main products and services

Each of these operating segmenrts is managed separately as each segment requires di*ferent specialisms, marketing

approaches and resaurces. Intra-group sales eliminations are included within the Head Office segment. Head Office

includes costs relating to the employees, pronerty ana other overhead costs associated with the centralised sunport '
function wogetrer with finance costs ar sing on the Group’s berrow ' ngs.
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4. Segment reporting continued
Operating segments continued

Veterinary Online Retail

Practices Laboratories Crematoria Business Head Cffice Group
Year ended 30 June 2021 £m Em £m £m £m £m
Revenue 453.4 28.0 8.0 417 {21.0) 5101
Profit/(loss) before income tax 495 8.4 2.4 2.7 (29.9) 331
Adjusted EBITDA 98.4 9.1 2.8 29 (15.7) 975
Total assets 422.4 327 16.9 10.9 1.6 484.5
Total habilities {179.8) {4.0) (1.4) {(3.4) {104.8) {293.4)
Reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA
Profit/{loss) before income tax 495 8.4 2.4 27 {29.9) 331
Finance expense 41 — — — 28 7.0
Depreciation and impairment of tangible
and right-of-use assets 227 07 0.4 — 0.5 24.3
Amortisation 14.0 — — 0.2 96 23.8
Costs relating to business combinations 81 - — — 1.2 9.3
Adjusted EBITDA 98.4 a1 2.8 29 (15.7) 975

Velelirary Onlre Retal

Fraciices Labcratones Creraana Pusiness Head Oftice Cronn
vear ended 30 June 2020 o i £m £ e el
Revenue 3841 211 72 321 (16.7) 4278
Frofit/(loss) before income tax 2689 50 21 24 (26 5) 99
Adrsted EBITDA 723 58 725 25 2.1 no
Total assets 4015 226 14.0 226 36 4643
Total labilities (176.8) {2.8) (1.4) (177} (99.0) (2977}
Reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA
Profit/{loss) before income tax 269 50 21 24 (265) 99
Finance expense 41 — — — 45 86
Depreciation! 27 08 04 01 12 247
Amortisation 147 — — — 75 2272
Caosts relating to business combinations 0.2 — — — 0b o7
Exceptional items (note 6) 47 — — — 07 5.4
Adjusted EBITDA 723 58 25 2.5 (121 710

1 Imparmerts in the year ended 30 June 2020 are shown in exczpticnal items

5. Finance expense
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2021 2020

£m £rr

Interest expense on bank loans and overdraft 25 35
Interest expense on IFRS 16 lease lighilities 41 A1
Amortisation of debr arrangement fees 0.4 10
Finance expense 7.0 86
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

6. Expenses by nature

2021 2020

Note £m £m

Amortisation and impairment of Intangikble assets! 12 238 233
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and eguiprment ard nght-of-use assets’ 13.14 24.3 242
Employee benefit expenses 7 231.5 1980
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales} 7.5 Q99
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on property, plant and eguipment 5.3 4.4
Trade receivables impairment charge 20 0.7 25
Excepticnal items’ - 54
Grant income — (8.2)
RDEC income (2.0) —
Other expenses 68.9 508
Total cost of sales and administrative expenses 470.0 4083

I Irparments in the year endedc 30 June 2020 are shows nexceptioral ters
There was no grant Incore in 2021 relating to the UK Governmert's Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (2020: £8 2m)

There were no exceptional iterms n the yea- ended 30 June 2021, During the year ended 30 June 2020, exceptional items
included costs associated with the Board restructure which amounted to £0.7m and impairment of goodwill and patient
data records in relation 1o the disposal of Ashburn veterinary clinic of £0.5m. In addition, £4 2m included within exceptional
items relatec to the impairment of patient data records, property, plant and equipment, nght-of-use assets, dilapidatior
provisions and redundancy provisions which all specifically relate to the costs associated wth the closures of 33 sites. The
closure of these sites is considerad as exceptional and non-recurring following a review of ou- portfolio of practices during
the COVID18 pandem ¢ lockdown. The decision was taken for these sites to remain closed as they were considered our
worst performing practices. These costs are not related 1o the underlying performance of the business and for this reason
are disclosed as exceptional items. These costs are mcluded within net operating expenses and are shown above. These
costs have been deducted in arriving at taxable profit as disclosed in note 9 with the exception of impairment of patient
data records, which has been offset by a deferrea tax release

Services provided by the Company’s auditor and associates
During the year the Group obtaned the foliowing services from the Company’s auditor at costs as detailed below

2021 2020
£000 £ 000
Audit services
Fees payable to the Group's audhtor for
The audit of the parent company and consolidated financial statements 164 35
The audit of the Company's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 326 365
490 400
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7. Employee benefit expense and numbers

Group
2021 2070
cmplavee henefit exoense for the Group Nete £Em Nl
Wages and salaries 205.0 1759
Soclal security costs 19.3 67
Other pension costs 30 5.0 45
Share-based payig s 11 2,2 (o}e]
2315 198.0

The emplovee benefit expense included within cost of sales1s £160 7m (2020: £1377m). The balance is recorded within
admimistrative expenses.

The average monthly nurmber of people employed by the Group (nciuding Executive and Nonr-Executive Directors} during
the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

2021 2020

Number Mur=lyar

Veterinary surgeons and pathaologists 1,962 1,781
Nurses, practice ancillaries and technicians 4,976 4708
Crematoria staff 84 79
Central support 219 183
721 6,761

The Company has no employeas, other than the Non-Executive Directors The Executive Directors received remuneration
in respect of their services to the Company from a subsidiary company.

8. Directors’ remuneration and key management compensation

Highes paof Direstorn oreciers emolimens
2021 2020 2021 2020
£m frn £m g
Salaries and other short-term employee benefts 08 08 2.2 16
Company contributions to money purchase schemes — - a1l 01
0.8 08 23 17

Retirement benefits are accruing to three Directors (2020 three) under a personal pension plan. The rerruneration of the
Executive Directors, amountng to £2.0m {2020: £1.4m), is borne by the subsidiary company CVS (UK) Limited, without
recharge. The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors, amounting to £0.2m (2020 £G 2m), is borne by the subsidiary
company CVS (UK) Limited and recharged to the Company.

Directors’ remuneration is disclosed on an individual basis in the Remuneration Committee -eport on pages 69 to 77/,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

8. Directors’ remuneration and key management compensation continued

Share options

Under the Company’s SAYE schemeas the Directors have the following options at the consolidated and Company statement

of financial posmion date-

Earlies” exercise date Numher of

SAYF s e Date o grat and vesting date  Exercise pnica shares

R Fairman SAYEN 30 Novernber 2018 01 Jaruary 2022 830p 737
B Jacklin SAYET 30 November 2018 O1 January 2022 830p 737
B Jackin SAYELZ 04 December 2018 01 January 2023 863p 7G8
R Alfonso SAYET 04 December 2019 O1 January 2023 863p 709
R Fairman SAYE13 02 December 2020 01 January 2024 1.00%p 606
B Jacklin SAYELZ Q2 Decamber 2020 Qt January 2024 1,008p 570
R Alforiso SAYEIS 02 Decemper 2020 01 January 2024 1.009p 606

Shares awarded to Executive Directors under the Long-Term Incentive Plans ("LTIPs"} as at the consolidated and Company

statement of financial position date are as follows:

Market p-ce or Eailest exercise date ~uoer of

LTIP Date ot grant dae of grant and vest:ing date she'es

R Fairman LTIP12 12 Cctober 2018 807p 30 June 2021 30,963
B Jacklin LTIP12 12 October 2018 807p 30 June 2021 65,194
R Fairman LTIP13 19 December 2019 1.080p 30 June 2022 46,298
B Jackhn LTIF13 19 December 2018 1080p 30 June 2022 27778
R Alfonso LTIP13 19 December 2019 1,080p 30 June 2022 15,278
R Fairman LTIP14 02 October 2020 1219p 30 June 2023 41,030
B Jacklin LTIP4 02 October 2020 1.219p 30 June 2023 24618
R Alfonso LTIPTd 02 October 2020 1.219p 30 June 2023 13,540
R Alfonso LTIP14{I) 04 January 2071 1485p 30 June 2023 6,733

The exercise price for all shares awarded under LTIPs is O 2p.

LTIPM lapsed i1 the vear, for further detalls of the above schemes sae the Remuneration Committee report on pages 68 to 77,

Key management compensation

Key management Is considered to be those on the Execulve Committee (being the Executive Directors and cther senior
management) and the Non-Execative Directors The employment costs of key management are as follows:

2021 2020

£m £rm

Salanes and other short-term employee benefits 4.0 28
Post-employment benefits 0.2 01
Share-based payments 1.0 o4
5.2 34
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9. Income tax expense
a) Analysis of income tax expense recognised in the income statement

2021 2020
Note £m £m
Current tax
Current tax on profits for the year 12.9 68
Adjustmeants in respect of previous vears 1.3 {1.8)
Total current tax charge 14.2 50
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (5.0) (3.9)
Adjustments in respect of previcus years 0.3 a7
Effect of tax rate change on cpening deferred tax balance 4.3 2.4
Total deferred tax credit 24 (0.4) (0.8)
Total income tax expense 13.8 4.2

b) Reconciliation of effective income tax charge
The total iIncome tax expense for the year differs from the theoretcal amount that would arise using the standard rate
of UK corporation tax of 19.0% (2020 19.0%) as foliows:

2021 9670
£m g
Profit before tax 331 29
Effective tax charge at 19.0% (202C: 19.0%} 6.3 1.2
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2.4 10
Tex rate change on opening deferred tax balances 43 24
Adjustments to deferred tax charge in respect of previous years 03 07
Adjustrments to current tax charge in respect of previous years 13 (1.8)
Utilisation of brought forward losses previously unrecognised (0.1) —
Effect of difference between closing deferred tax rate and current tax rate {0.7) —
Total income tax expense 13.8 4.2

Factors affecting the current tax charge
UK corporation tax is calculated at 19.0% (2020: 19 0%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other
jurisdictions is caleulated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The effective tax rate on reported profits 1s 41.7% {2020; 42.3%). The Group's effective tax rate for 2021 was influenced by the
remeasurement of deferred tax balances in respec: of UK jurisd.ctions from 19.0% to an average rate of 22 6% as & result of
the substantively enacted increase in the UK corporation tax rate 1o 25 0% from 1 Aprl 2023, 1t was further affected by an
Increase in expensas not deductible for tax purposes nredominantly In respect of business ecquisitions.

Changes in tax rates

The UK corporation tax rate for the year was 19.0% (2020: 19.0%). In March 2027, the JK Government announced an increase
in the UK corporation tax rate to 25.0% from 1 Apnit 2023. The increase in UK corporation tax rate was substantively enacted
on 24 May 2021. As a result, the relevant deferred taxation balarces have been re-measured using the rates expected o
apply when the deferred tax balances reverse.

The impact of change in tax rata In the prior year arose due to the previous enacted reduction in the UK corporation tax rate
fram 19 0% to 17.0% from 1 April 2020 being repealed, and the 19.0% tax rate being substantively enacted on 17 March 2020.

The mpact of the change in tax rate has been recognised In total Income tax expense In the Income Statement, except 1o
tne extent that it relates to items previously recognised outside of the Income Staternent 1n which case it has been
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income and Equity accordingly
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 Jung 2021

10. Earnings per Ordinary share
a) Basic

Basic earnings per Ordinary share 1s calculated by dividing the profit after taxation by the weighted average number

of shares in1ssue during the year

2021 2020

Earnings attributable to Ord nary shareholders (Em)

19.3 57

Weighted average rumber of Ordinary shares inissue

70,685,939 706540089

Basic earnings per share {pence per share)

273 81

b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the waighted average number of Ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential Ordinary shares The Company has potentially dilutive Ordinary shares, being
the contingently issuable shares under the Group’'s LTIP schemes and SAYE schemes. For share options, a calculation is
undertaken to determine the number of shares that could have been acguired at fair value (determined as the average
arnual market share price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the subseription nghts attached 1o
outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as above 1s compared with the number of shares that would

have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.

2021 2020
Earnings attributable to Ordinary shareholders (Em) 19.3 57
Welighted average number of Ordinary shares In 1ssue 70,685,939 70,654,009
Adjustment for contingently 1ssuable shares - LTIPs 237,307 109143
Adjustment for contingently issuable shares - SAYE schemes 246,533 3017
Weighted average nurmber of Orainary shares *or diluted eamings per share 768778 70766169
Diluted earnings per share {pance per share) 271 &1

Non-GAAP measure: adjusted earnings per share

Adjusted eanings per Ordirary share 1s calculatad as adjusted profit before income tax less applicable taxation divided by

the weighted average number of Ordinary shares in 1ssue in the period.

2021 2020
“ote £m £m

Earmings attributable to Ord nary shareholders 19.3 57
Add pack taxation 13.8 4.2
Profit before iIncome tax 331 99
Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assels 12 238 2272

Costs relating to business comb nations 4 9.3 07

Exceptional iterms 6 —_ 54
Adjusted profit before income tax 66.2 382
Tax charge amended for tneg above adjustirents {13.1) (8.5}
Adjusted profit after income tax and earnings attributable to owners of the parent 531 297

Weighted average number o° Crdinary shares 17 1ssue
Weighted average nurrber of Ordinary shares for dilutes earnings per share

70,685,939 70654009
169779 70766169

Pence Pence
Adjusted earrings per share (perce per sHare) 75.1p A20p
Diluted acjusted earnings per share (oence per share) T4.6p 419p
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11. Share-based payments
Long-Term Incentive Plans (“LTIPs™)
The Group operates incentive schemes for certain senior executives, the CVS Groug Long-Term Incentve Plans ("LTIPs").

Under the LTIP schemes, awards are made at an effective nil cost, vesting over a three-year performance period conditional
upon the Group's adjusted earnings per share growth and Total Shareholder Return {"TSR"} The LTIP scheme arrangaments
are equity settleq.

Detalls of the share options outstanding during the year under the LTIP schemes are as follows:

suly 2008 senerme July Z018 scheme July 2007 senere

O HI2A30Y) LTI TR

Mamber ol Mumnber of sna-e Mumuve: o sharg

awszris anars awards

Outstanding at 1 July 2020 — 146137 1CG7.080 38,241
Granted during the year 144,038 — — —
Lapsed during the year — — — {38,241
Forfeited during the year (7.383) (mnz) (8,980} —
Exercised during the year — — — —
Outstanding at 30 June 2021 136,655 135,025 9810 —
Exercisable at 30 June 2021 - — 98,110 —

Options are exercisable at 0.2p per share. The weighted average exercise price was 0 2p at the beginning and end of the penod.

The options outstanding at the year end under LTIP14, LTIP14{(b}, LTIP13, LTIP13(} and LTIP12 have a weighted average
remaining contractual life of two years, two years, one year, one year and nil years. respectively.

The share-based payment charge for the year in respect of the options issued under tae LTIP schermeas amournted to £1.4m
(2020: £0.6m) and has been debited to administrative expenses. Employer's National Insurance contributions of £0.6m have
been debited to administrative expenses (2020 £01m) in respect of the LTIP scheme transactions and are treated as cash-
settled transactions.

Further details of the above schemes are included in the Remunerstion Cornmittes report on pages 6810 77,

Save As You Earn (“SAYE™)

The Group operates an incentive scheme for all UK employees, the CVS Group SAYE plan, an HM Revenue & Customs-
approved scheme. The SAYEN0 scherme was openad for sabscripiion in Decembar 2017 (with options granted in January
2018), the SAYEN scheme was opened for subscription in November 2018 {with optiors granted in January 2019), the SAYE2
scheme was opened for subscription in December 2018 (with options granted in Jaruary 2020), and the SAYE13 scheme was
opened for subscription in December 2020 {with options grantaed in January 2021) Under the SAYE schemes, awards have
been made at a 10 0% discount 1o the closing mid-market price on date of invitation for SAYET0, SAYE1 and SAYE1Z, and a
20.0% discount to the closing mid-market price on date of invitation for SAYE13. All of the SAYE schemes vest aver a
three-year period. There are no performance conditions attached to the SAYE schemie. Detalls of the share options
outstanding during the year under the SAYE schemes are as follows:

SArLT3 3AY212 SAYEN FAYEID

Mamiser of Numbar of Nur~oer cf Number of

share awarls shale awiards shate awarcs sha'e cwirds

Outstanding at 1 July 2020 — 274,37 336,536 151,713
Granted during the year 360,269 — — —
Forfeited du-ing the vear {14.306) (30561 {35.976) (23.400)
Exercised during the vear* (9 (249) (1,742} (115,289)
Outstanding at 30 June 2021 345,954 243,561 298,818 13,014
Exercisable at 30 June 2021 — - - 13,014

The weignted average snare pnoe at the date of exercise was £1770
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2021

11. Share-based payments continued
Save As You Earn (“SAYE”) continued

Options are exercisable at 1,008p for the SAYE13 scheme, 863p for the SAYE1Z scheme, 830p for the SAYE1 scheme,

and 1,287p per share for the SAYE10 scheme

The weighted average exercise price at the baginning of the penod for the options outstanding was £9.33 and end of the

period was £8.09.

The opt'ens outstanding at the year end under the SAYE13, SAYE 12, SAYEN and SAYE10 schemes have a weighted average
remaining contractual life of two years ard five months, one vear and five months, nil years and five months, and nil years,

respectively.,

The share-based payment charge for the year in respect of the options issued under the SAYE schemes amounted to £0.8m

(2020: £0 3m) and nas been charged to administiztive expenses

Options for all schemes were valued using either the Morte Carlo or Black Scholes option pricing models. The fair value per

option granted and the assumptions used in the calculation are as follows:

TP LTIPH4(H) SAYELS
Grant date 02 October 2020 04 January 2021 02 December 2020
Share price at grant date’ £1219 £14.85 £1415
Fair value per option £1043 £1338 £6.00
Exercise price 02p 02p 21002
Numiber of employees 32 1 1140
Shares under option at date of grant 137305 6,733 360,269
Vesting periodfoption life/axpected life 3 years 3 years 3 years
Welighted average remaming contractual hfe 2 years 2 years 2 years 5 months
Expected volatity” 3920% .0% 43.3%
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield 033% 0.33% 0.40%
I Shara price calzulatad at avecage of closing srare price for prececiryg & days - Ine with scherna rules
2 bxpected volatility Pas been detervined oy referancs 1o the bistoncal share retur valat ity of CvS Group plc
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12. Intangible assets

lracic Patert data Comp.ater

Coodwall “ames recoras software Total
Groug Note £m {~ £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 uly 2019 947 15 280.7 42 3611
Additions arising through business combinations 43 — 29 — 7.2
Fair value adjustrments in respect of prior perods (0! — — — 01
Foreign currency translation 07 — — — a7
Disposals! ({02 — (0.4} - (0.6)
Other adjustments 06 — — — 06
Other additions — — — 1.3 13
At 30 June 2020 1002 15 263.2 5.5 3704
Additions arising through business combinations 15 141 — 38 — 229
Foreign currency transiation {0.4) — (0.8) - 1.2)
Other additions - — — 05 05
At 30 June 2021 13.9 15 271.2 6.0 3926
Accumulated amortisation
At T July 2019 {08) 14 128 29 166
Amortisation for the year — 01 214 07 222
Forelign currency translation — — 02 — 02
Impairment * — — 11 — IAl
Other adjustments 06 — - — 06
Disposals' — — (on — {on
At 30 June 2020 — 15 1355 36 1206
Amortisation for the year — — 228 10 23.8
Foreign currency translation — — (0.2) — (0.2}
At 30 June 2021 - 1.5 158.1 46 164.2
Net book amount
At 30 June 2021 13.9 — 131 1.4 228.4
AL 30 June 2020 100.2 -— 1277 19 2298
At 1 July 2018 o953 Ol 147.8 1.3 2445

1 The disposals refate to the sale o* Ashburr Veler nary Centre in the year ended 30 Jure 2020

2 The imparrmentin the prior vear relates to the write down of patient data recoras for announced site closures Tae.moalrment charge was inclucked
within exceptional tems in the vear ended 30 June 2020

Amartisation 1s charged to administrative expenses in the income statement

The patient data records and trade names were acquired as a component of business combinations. See note 15 for further
details of current vear acquisiions.

Intangible assets that are ndividually material to the financial statements are disclosed as follows:

Intang ole category Desor pton Carrying arncLnt R~z viny Iife
Patient data records Slate Hall Veterinary Group £69m 7 years
Patien data records YourVets £4.3m 4 years
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

12. Intangible assets continued

The components of goodwiil are disclosed according to the group of CGUs to which they have been allocated. Due to

the integrated rature of the Group, although each veterinary practice, laboratory and crematoriur 18 considered to be an
individual CGU, the monitoring of goodw 115 performed on an aggregated basis for groups of CGUs that are no larger than
the opearating segments, as determined in accordance with IFRS 8.

The mayority of other assets are tested at the CGU lavel, to the extent that an impairmant review is triggered fallowing
identification of an Indicator of imparrment by managernent. A small number of assets (typically patient data records
acquired in a business combination with multiple sites or locations) are sharad between sub-groups of CGUs and are tested
for impairment at that level,

Goodwill per operating segment

2021 2020
£m £m
Vetennary Practices 109.2 955
Laboratones 21 2]
Crematoria 26 26
Total 13.9 1002 i

Impairment tests

The pre-tax discount rete applied 1o the cash flow projections 1s de-ived from the Group's pre-tax weighted average cost
of capital. The risks relating to each of the CGUs ae considered to be the same as a result of the Group's operations being
entirely focused in the veterinary market and, as such, the discount rate applied to each CGU is the same. The use of the ‘
Group's weighted average cost of capital is consistent with the valuation methodology used when determining the offer
price for business combinations and. therefore, is considered an appropnate discount rate. The Directors consider the
growth rate to be broadly consistent between CGUs; a 3.0% growth per annum in adjusted EBITDA has been assurmed for
the purposes of assessing net present value of future cash flows, with adjusted EBITDA used as an approximation 1o cash
flows given the insignificant impact of working capital adjustments The budget for the next financial year isused as a
basis for the cash flow projections. The growth rate used 11 the Impairment tests 1s based upon a prudent assessment

of market-specrfic growth assumptions Further details of the impairment tests are disclosed in note 2.

Estimates are based on past exper.ence and expeciations of future changes to the market Growth rate forecasts are '
extrapolated based on estimated long-term average growth rates for the markets in which the CGU operates (estimated
at 3.0%). The pre-tax discount rate used to calculate value in use is 10.3% at 30 tune 2021 (2020 9.9%).

Based on impairment testing at the indiv dual CGU level, no impairment of patient data records (2020: £17m) and no
impairment of property, nlant and equipment (2020: £0.3m) have been recogrised by the Group in the year ended
30 June 2021 In the year ended 30 June 2020 this charge related entirely to the Veterinary Practices operating segment.

Having assessed the anticipated future cash flows, the Directors do not corsider there 10 be any reasonably possible
changes in assumptions that woula lead to further impairment charges in the year ended 30 June 2021. The 3 0% growth
rate 18 considered the worst case scenanc g ven growth rates experienced in the vetennary market and, therefore, further
sensitivity analysis is not recuired.
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Frectold ard Lessehnld hm:;:e;iz totor

ard balcngs  improver-ents AL TSR vahicles “alal
Group Nore £ £m £m £ £
Cost
At July 2019 124 288 501 27 970
Additions arising through business combinations — — 0.2 — 02
Additions 15 27 59 1.0 n1
Revaluation {Qn — — — [{eh)]
Disposals — {C1) (0.3} {C1) 05)
At 30 June 2020 16.8 34 559 36 1077
Foreign exchange — — (0.2 — 0.2
Additions arising through business combinations 15 — — 06 — 06
Additions 30 57 57 17 161
Disposals (0E) — — (0.3) (0.8)
At 30 June 2021 19.3 an 620 5.0 123.4
Accumulated depreciation
AtT July 2019 15 133 284 14 456
Cepreciation for the year 03 3.4 64 06 107
Impairment’ — — 03 — 0.3
Disposals — {on {0.3) (0N (0.5)
At 30 June 2020 18 6.6 358 19 561
Foreign exchange — — {On — on
Depreciation for the year 0.3 30 6.2 08 10.3
Disposals — — — (0.3) (0.3)
At 30 June 2021 21 19.6 1.9 24 66.0
Net book amount
At 30 June 2021 17.2 17.5 204 26 57.4
At 30 June 2020 15.0 14.8 20 17 516
AtT July 2019 13.9 15.5 207 1.3 514

1 Imparmentsin the year ended 30 June 2020 are shown in exceptional items

Freehold land amounting to £1.7m (2020: £1.2rm) has not been depreciated.

Included within the above classes of assets is £4.6m (2020: £2.2m) of assets which are under construction.

1. Leases
Group as a lessee

The majority of the Group's veterinary practices, speciahst referral centres and support offices are leased, with rermaining
lease terms of between 1and 15 years. The Group also has a number of non-property leases relating to vehicle, equiprment
and material handling equipment, with remaining lease terms of between 1and 4 years. Additions to right-of-use assets
include new leases; extensions to existing lease agreements are disclosed as remeasuraments,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2021

14, Leases continued
Right-of-use assets

W otor

Property Ec:Lipment vehizles Tozal
Eron Mioter £m £m £ £m
Cost
At T July 2019 1050 11 17 1078
Fore.gn currency translation o1 — — o1
Acquired through business combinations 2.2 — — 22
Rermeasurement of |ease term 19 - - 19
Additions 04 01 02 0.7
ALY July 2020 1096 12 18 127
Foreign currency translation {e15)] - — (0.6)
Acquired through business combinations 15 49 — — 49
Remeasurement of lease term 78 — — 78
Additions 12 05 1.0 27
Disposals (21 — — 210
At 30 June 2021 120.8 1.7 29 125.4
Accumulated depreciation
At July 2019 — — — —
Depreciation for the year 122 04 09 135
Impalirment 11 — — 11
At 1 July 2020 133 04 09 146
Depreciation for the year 124 03 09 136
lmpairmeint’ 04 — — 04
Disposals {04) — — (04)
At 30 June 2021 25.7 07 1.8 28.2
Net book amount
At 30 June 2021 851 1.0 11 97.2
At 30 June 2020 963 08 10 9841
AL July 2019 105.0 11 17 1078

1 I parmensinthe year endec 30 june 2020 are shownin oxcept enal temrs,

The impairment loss in the current and prior financial year, relates to veterinary practices which closed or were due to close.
In line with IAS 38, the carrying valug of these nght-of-use assets was assessed for indicators of impairment and the planned
closdre was congidered o be an indicator of impairment. The right-of-use asset was wnitten down 1o its expected recoverable

value and impairment costs of £0 4m (2020: £11m) were charged ir the year 11 the year ended 30 June 2020, these impairment

costs were included within exceptional items.

Lease liabilities

2021 2020
Sroap £m Em
Current 8.6 88
Non-current 90.2 898
Total discounted lease liabilities 98.8 986
Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted lease payments
Less than one year 12.4 128
Between one and five years 511 489
More than five years 57.2 298
Total undiscounted lease payments 1207 1213
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15. Business combinations

Details of business combinations in the year ended 30 June 2021 are set out below, in addition to an analysis of post-acquisition
performance of the respective business combinations. where practicable The reason for each acguisition was 1o expand
the CVS Group business through acquisitions in meeting our strategic goals.

Name of business combination Dare of avousit on
Darboe & Baily Limited 04 Novermber 2020
Astonlee Limited 17 November 2020
White Lodge Velernary Cenlie Linnled 19 Novernber 2020
Charter Veterinary Hospital Group Limited 03 December 2020
Market Hall Vets (trade and assets) 20 February 2021
Animal Health Centre Limited 23 February 2021
Polmont Veterinary Clinic Limited 01 March 2021
Enterprise Veterinary Services Limited 02 March 2021
Greensands Veterinary Clinic Limited 29 April 2021

All businesses were acquired via 100% share purchase agreement unless indicated otherwise in the table above.

Given the nature of the veterinary practices acquired and the records maintained by gucn practices, it is not praclicable
to disclose the revenue or profit or loss of the combined entity for the year as though the acquisition date for all business
cornbinations during the vear had been at the beginning of that year.

The table below summarises the total assets acquired through business comb nations in the year endea 30 June 2021

Book value of

acquired Fair value

assels adjustments Fair value

Note £m £m £Em

Property, plant and equipment 13 0.6 — 0.6
Patient data records 12 — 8.8 8.8
Right-of-use assets 14 4.9 — 4.9
Inventories 0.4 — 0.4
Deferred tax liability 24 (0.1} (2.0} (2.1)
Trade and other receivables 1.4 (0.1} 1.3
Prowvision for impairment of trade receivables (0.1) - (om
Trade and other payables {1.9) — (1.9)
Loans {1.0) — (1.0)
Right-of-use liabilities {4.9) — {4.9)
Total identifiable assets (0.7) 6.7 6.0
Goodwill 12 141 141
Total initial consideration paid (net of cash acquired of £1.3rm) 201
Initial consideration paid (net of cash acguired of £1.3m) 19.4
Deferred consideration pavable 0.5
Contingent consideration payable 0.2
Total consideration (net of cash acquired of £1.3m) 201

Goodwill recognised represents the excess of purchase consideration over the fair value of the identifiable net assets,
Goodwill reflacts the synergies arising from the combination of the businasses; this iIncludes cost synergies arising
from shared support functions and buying nower synergies Goodwill includes the recogiinon of an amount equal

to the deferred tax that arises on the acquired non-tax deductible patent data records.

Post-acqu sition revenue and post-acquisition adjusted EBITDA were £6.1m and £1.3m respectively. The post-acguisition
period is from the date of acquisition to 30 June 2021 Post-acquisition EBITDA represants the direct operating result of
practices from the date of gcquisition te 30 June 2021 prior to the allocation of central overheads, on the basis that iz

18 not practicable to allocate these
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

15. Business combinations continued
Goodwill and Intangible assets recognised n the year relating to business combmations are not expected to be deduct ble
for tax purposes.

The acguisition costs mcurred In relation to the above and prior year business combinations amounzed to £8.3m for the year
and are ncluded within other expenses in note § of the financial statements.

The Directors do not cors’der any individual in-year acguisitior to be matenal to the Group and therefore have not
separately disclosed these.

Business combinations in previous yedrs
Details of business combinations in the comparative year are presented 'n the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 20Z20.

Business combinations subsequent to the year-end

Subseguent to the year end. the Group has made one acquisition on 19 August 2021. The Group purchased 100% of the
share capital of Qualty Pet Care Limited, a company registered in England and Wales, for consideration of £20.4m. This
s a busiress comprising eight companion animal vetennary practice sites across the UK.

The acquisition was purchased for total cash consideration of £20.4m Assets acquired comprised principally goodwill
and intangible patient data records with & provisional fair value of £20.4m.

14. Investments
a) Available-for-saie financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets, which are denominated in Sterling, consist of an investment in managed investment funds.

The Group helds an investment in managed investment funds which have a quoted market price in an active market and are
accordingly measured at “ar value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the farr value are recognised directly m eguity
until the secunty ts disposed of or deemed to be impaired.,

b) Shares in subsidiary undertakings

CompEny Note £m
Cost and net beok amount

AT 1 July 2019 885
Options granted to employees of subs diary undertakings N 09
At 30 June 2020 594
Options granted to emolovees of subsidiary undartakings il 22
At 30 June 2021 .6

The prnncipal subsidiary undertakings of CVS Group plc are set out in note 1

17. Derivative financial instruments

Dernvatives are used for hedging in the managerrent of exposure to market nsks. This enables the optimisation of the overall
cost of accessing debt capital markets, and the mitigation of the market risk which would otherwise anse from maovements
N interast rates.

The ineffective element of cash flow hedges in 2021 was immatenal (2020 immaterial)

Cash flow hedges

On 28 February 2020, the Group entered into ar interest rate swap arrangement imiting the Group's exposure to Interest
rate increases At 30 June 2021, £70.0m of debt was hedged (2020 £70.0m); the remainder of the dent was unhedged
at the year end.

The Group is exgosed 1o Sterhng LIBOR witryt a far value hedge accounting relationship, which 1s subject to interest rate
bencnmark -eform. The Group has appl ed the amendments set out In Interest Rata Benchmark Reform {Amendments to IFRS 2,
IAS 39 ard IFRS 7} and concludea that 1t1s appropriate 1© continue to epply Fedge accounting, as detailed more fully in note 2,

The Group kas closely monitored the market and the output from the various industry working groups managing the transition
to new benchmark interest rates This ncludes announcements made by LIBOR regulators (including the F.nancial Conduct
Authonty ("FCA ) regarding 1he transition away from Sterling LIBOR to the Sterling Overmight Index Average Rate ("SCNIA™)
The FCA has rrade clear that, at the end of 2021, it will e longer seek to persuade or compel banks to submit tc LIBOR.

In response to the announcements, the Group bas idertf ed where LIBOR exposures are within the business and will
prepare snd deliver an act on plar to enabla the smooth trarsit'on to alternanve berchmark rates.
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17. Derivative financial instruments continued

Cash flow hedges continued

For the Group's derivative, the International Swaps and Derivatives Association’s (' I1ISDA") fall-back clauses were made avallable
at the end of 2019 and the Group has begun discussions with its banks with the aim of implementing this language into its
ISDA agreements.

Below are detalls of the hedging instrurnents and hedged items in scope of tne IFRS 9 amendments due to interest rate
benchmark reform. The terms of the hedged items listed match those of the corresponding hedging insiruments

Hedge wpe Ins.ument Ly oe Matuning in Foe-n ol Hedgeo tem

Cash flow hedge Receive one-month Sterling 2024 £700m Sterling fixed rate 1ssued
LIBOR, pay Sterling fixed debt of the same maturity
interest rate swaps and nominal of the swap

The Group will continue to apply the amandments to IFRS 9 untl the uncertainty arising from the interest rate benchmark
reforms that the Group is exposed to ends. The Group has assumed that this uncertairty will not end untll the Group's
contracts that reference LIBOR are amended to specify the date on which the interest rate benchmark will be replaced,
the alternative benchmark rate and the relevant spread adjustment. This wall, 11 part, be dependant on the ‘niroduction

of fall-back clauses which have yet to be added to the Group's contracts and thae negotiation with lenders.

The Group classifies its interest rate swap arrangement as a cash flow hedge and utilises hedge accounting to minimise
income statement volatility in relation to movements in the value of the swap arrangement.

The farr values of the Group's interest rate derivatives are sstablished using valuation technigues. primarily discounted cash
flows, based on assumptions that are supported by cbservable market prices or rates.

The fair values of derivative financiat instruments have been disclosed in the Group consolidated and Company statement
of financial position as follows:

207 2020
Assets Liabilities Aszets Liakil ties
Group and Company £m £m £ £
Non-current
Interest rate swap arrangements - cash flow hadges - (0.4) — 09
Movements in fair values
“lerest
rete swan
arrangemeants
SroLo ana Company |l
Fair value at 1 July 2019 01
Fair value loss through reserves - brought forward on
Farr value loss through reserves - hedged {09)
At 30 June 2020 g
fair value loss through reserves ~ hedged 05
At 30 June 2021 (0.4)

The cash flow hedge reserve represents the cumulative amount of gairs and losses on hedging instruments deemed effective
in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging instrument 1s recognised in the iIncome staterment
only when the hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss, or 1s included directly in the initial cost ar other carrying amount
of the hedged non-financial items.

The cost of hedging reserve includes the effects of the changes in fair value of the time value of option wnen only the
intrinsic value of the option 1s designated as the hedging instrument.

The changes in fair value of the time value of an option in relation to a transaction-related hedged item accumulated in the
cost of hedging reserve, are reclassified to the incemea statement only when the heaged transaction affects profit or loss, or
inciuded as a basis adjustment to the non-financizl hedged item The changes in fair value of the time value of an option I
relation to a time-period related hedged item accumulated i the cash flow hedging reserve, are amortised to the iIncome
statement on a rational basis over the term of the hedging relationshimn.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2021

18. Financial instruments

Assets
2021 2020
Loans and Available Availatle
receivables for sale Total for sale Total
Grour: Mote £m £m £m £ £m
Available-for-sale financial assets — 01 0.1 — 0.1 o)
Trade and other receivables (excluding
prepayments) 20 395 — 39,5 354 — 354
Cash and cash equivalents 337 — 33.7 25 — 215
73.2 (4R ] 73.3 568 01 570
201 2020
Loans and Available Loans and Avoilakle
receivables for sale Total recenables forsae Total
Campany how £m £m £m £m fm m
Arourts owed by Group andertakings 32 823 - 82.3 816 — 816

Amounts owed by Group undertakings of £82.3m (2020: £81.6m) are included ir non
nzerest-free and have no fixea date of repaymert,

-current assets. These are unsecured,

Liabilities
201 2020
Derivative Derivitive:
instruments nptrments
in designated
hedge Other Cnher
accounting financial auoounting finangia’
relationships liabilities Total rekeiorshiss can e, otal
Croarn hote £m £m £m £ £m £m
Borrowings 23 — (83.9) (83.9) — (83.6) (836)
Trade and other payables (excluding
socal security and other taxas) 21 — (69.0) (69.1) — (594) {59.4)
Right-of-use liatalities 14 - (98.8) (98.8) - (98.6) (986)
Dervative financial instruments 17 (0.4} — (0.4) {0.9) (09)
{0.4) (251.8) (252.2) (09) (2416) (242 5)

19. Inventories

All nventonies are goods held for resale. The Directors do not consider the difference between the purchase price of

nventories anc their replacement cost to be matenal
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20. Trade and other receivables

Group Croun Coempany Compan,
2021 2000 2021 00
£m ol £m Er
Trade receivables:
Within their due period 19.2 174 — —
Past due
Mot impaired 78 56 — —
Fully impaired 6.4 69 — —
Total trade recevables 334 299 — —
Less- provision for impairment of receivables {6.4) (6.9) — -
Trade receivables - net 27.0 230 - —
Other receivables 4.4 64 - —
Prepayments 86 80 — —
Accrued income 8.1 60 — —
Total trade and other receivables 481 434 — -
Group

The carrying amount of trade and cther recevables 1s deemead to be a reasonagle approximation to Tair value. The maximuam
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date 1s the fair value of each class of receivable above with the exception of prepayments
which hold no credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral as secunty The Group's trade and other receivables are
denominated in Sterling.

A provision for impairment is established based on credit risk. The amount of the provision was £6.4m {2020: £6.9m)
Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2021 2020

£m £

At the beginning of the year 6.9 50
Charged to the income statement within administrative expenses 07 25
Utilisation of the provision during the year (1.2) (0B)
At the end of the year 6.4 6.9

Other receivables do not contain Impaired assets.

At 30 June 2021, there 1s a contract asset recorded in accrued income of £8.1m (2020: £6.0m), ralating to cusomer

loyalty schemes including the Healthy Pet Club ("HPC"} contract. The contract asset arises from customers having receved
consultations and treatments which are weighted towards the beginning of the twelve month scheme, In advance of cash
paymerts, as detailed more fully in note 2.

Company
Amounts owed by Group undertakings of £82.3m (2020: £816m) are included in non-current assets. These are unsecured
and interest-free and have no fixed date of repayment.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

21. Trade and other payables

Gieap Gompany
2021 2020 2021 2020
£m Em £m £m
Current
Trade payables 40.3 394 — —
Social security and other taxes 16.9 283 - —
Other payables 12.7 5.1 — —
Deferred income’ 28 33 - —
Accruals 13.3 1.6 — -
Total trade and other payables 86.0 877 — —
1 Defoned incorre relates to the contract hatulity relatirg to sne Heal ny Pes Cluk CHPCT) contract
22. Provisions
Gic.p Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m £

At the beginning of the year 5.0 - — —
Charged to the income statement within administration expenseas 0.9 34 - —
Charged to the income statement within exceptional items — 16 — —
Utiised in the pernod (2.0) — — —
At the end of the year 39 5.0 - —

Provisions charged to the iIncome statement relate to annaunced site closures during the year of £0.6m (2020: £1.6rm) and costs
set aside for properties of £0.3m (2020: £3.4m) and therefore satisfy the recognition criteria under 1AS 37. The announced site
closures include amounts charged to the income statement of £0.6rm (2020: £1.6m) comprise £0.6m for dilapidation costs
(2020: £15m) and Enil for redundancies {2020 £0 1m}

23. Borrowings
Borrow ngs comprise bank loans and are denomimated in Sterling The repayment profile is as follows:

2021 2320

Tren £m Em
Within one year or on demand — 01
Betweer one and two years - —
After more than two years 83.9 835
83.9 836

Tre balances above are shown ret of 1ssue costs of £11m (2020, £1.5m). which are being amortised over the term of the
bank loan The carrying emount of borrowings 1s deemed 1o be & reasonaole approximation to farr value

The Group has total faciliies of £170.0m. These facihnies are provided by a syndicate of four banks: Natwest, HSBC, BO!
and AR, and comorise the following elerents:

+ afixed term loan of £85.0m, repayaole on 31 January 2024 via a single oullet "epayment; and
+ a four-year Revolving Credr Facility ("RCF™) of £85 O that runs to 31 January 2024,
In addition the Group nas a £5.0m overdraft fac ity renewable annually.

The two firancial covenants associated with these facilities have remained unchanged, anc are based on the ratios of Group
borrowirgs to EBITDA and Group EBITDA to interest The Group borrowings to E3ITDA ratio must not exceed 3.25x The Group
EBITDA to interest rat o must nat be less than 4 5x The facilites requrre cross-guarantees from the most significant of CVS
Group's trading subsidianies but are not secured an the assets of the Group. EBITDA 15 based on the last twelve months'
adjusted EBITDA performanice adjusted ‘or a twelve-month agjustment for busimesses acquired, transachion costs and
deferred consideration cn bus ness combirauars ard share option experses, pror to the impact of IFRS 16.
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23. Borrowings continued
Bank covenants are tested quarterly and the Group has considerable headroom in both financial covenants and inits
undrawn but committed facilities as at 30 June 2021

Interest rate risk is also managed centrally and derivative instruments are used to mitigate this risk On 28 February 2020,
the Group entered into a four-year interest rate fixed swap arrangement to hedge fluctuations in interest rates on £70.0m
of its term loan

At the consolidated and Company statement of financial position date £70.0m of the tenmn loan was hedged using an
Interest rate swap. | he remainder of the debt is not hedged.

Undrawn committed borrowing facilities
At 30 June 2021, the Group has a committed overdraft facility of £5.0m (2020- £5.0m) and an RCF of £85.0m (2020 £85.0m);,.
Both the overdraft facility and the RCF were undrawn at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020

24, Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax assets and liabiliues are offset where the Group has & legally enforceable nght to do so. Deferred
Income tax balances are calculated using tax rates expected to apply in the period when the Lability or asset is expected
to be realised based on rates enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferrad income tax assets comprised:

2021 2070
Group £m £m

Tax effect of temporary differences:
Share-based payments 2.6 02
Accelerated tax depreciation 0.2 06
Derivative financial instruments 01 0.2
Tax losses 01 —
QOther 01 01
31 11

The Group's deferred tax assets have been recognised based on historical performance and future budgets. The Directors
believe that itis probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits aganst which the assets will reverse.

Deferred income tax liabilities comprise the excess of carrying value over the tax base.

2021 2020
Groug £Em £
Tax effect of temporary differences:
Excess of qualifying amortisation and intangible fixed assets acquired via a business combination 235 215
23.5 215
The movemeant in the net deferred income tax assets and liabil:ties 1s explained as follows:
ACQAEon o°
Crecate Charged ra Creditad o subs dizey anc
(Lnqrged ~ther “steme Tt of doferred tax
ArTIuly 10 INGOrE COMBreneage =langes in recogrised in At 30 June
2020 sialement oeTme 200Uty goouath 2021
Group £ {3 £m £m £ Em
Share-based payments 0z 06 — 1.8 - 26
Derivative financial instruments 0z — ({an — - 01
Other temporary differences o — — — — 01
Property, plant and equipment 06 {0.3) — - {on 0.2
Tax losses - Q1 — — — 01
Intangible assets and fixed assets acquired
via a business comoination {215) - — — (2.0) {23.5)
(204) 04 (01 1.8 21 (20.4)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

24. Deferred income tax continued

Ezquisition ot

tTnargec)f Cred terl 1o Credited o subsidary and

e atner staternent of detered ax
2l 1 Irecme  aormprihensne changes n recann sedn AU3D sune
2018 sratemelt NoOME LTy goodwill 2020
Groa £m £m £m e £m £m
Share-based payments 02 (0N — 01 — Q2
Dervative financial iInstruments — — 0.2 — - 02
Other temperary aifferences — 01 — — — o}
Property, plant and equipment (013] — — — — 08

Intangible assets and fixed assets acguired

vig & business combination (21.8) 08 — — {05) (215)
(210} 08 Q2 ai {0.5) (204}

The deferred tax balarce 1s non-current,

Deferred tax assets have been offset agsinst deferred tax habilities as the nalances relate to the same taxation authority. the
Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and intencs to settle the lablity and realise the asset simultanesusly. In the year
ended 30 June 2020, the deferred tax assets of £1.1m were not offset against deferred tax liabilities. If these had been offset,
the net deferred tax balance at 30 Juna 2020 would have baen a deferred tax lability of £20.4m

The Group has carred forward unutilised tax losses of £4.9m (2020 £1.1m) that are avalable indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of Group companies within the tax jurisdiction n which the losses arose. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised of £0.1m {2020: £nil] 'n respect of some of these losses as it 1s probable that sufficient future taxable profits will
arise against which the asset will reverse The Group has not recognised a deferred tax asset on remaining losses of £3.9m
(2020: £1.1m) as it is not probable that sufficient future taxable profits will anse against which the losses can be utllised.

No deferred tax 1s recognised on tae unremtied earnings of overseas subsidiaries. The earnings are continually renvested
by the Group and there s no mtention for these entities to pay dividends, no tax s expected to be pavable on them in the
foresesable future.

25. Share capital

202t 2020
Cormnpary £m £m
Issued and fully paid

70,753,782 (2020: 70,654,959) Ordinary shares of 0.2p each 01 (o)

Durng the year, snares were 1ssuea for a total consideration of £1.2m (2020- £0.m) as follows. 318 shares (2020: 19,019 shares)
in respect of SAYES, 97,296 shares (2020 nil shares) in respect of SAYE10: 1,053 shares (2020: nil shares) in respect of SAYEN;
147 shares (2020 nil shares) in respect of SAYET2, and 9 shares (2020: nil shares) in respect of SAYET3.

Details of snares under option are providec in note 11 to the finarcial statements
The authorsed share caoitat o° the Corrpany s 352 000,000 Crdrary shares of 0.2p each.

Dividends
The Directors have proposed a final o aend of 6.5¢ (2020: £-ul) ver share, g ving & total of £4.6m (2020. £nil). During the vear
no divided was paid (2020, £3 8m)

EBT own shares
The Group operatas an EBT which holds 710 shares (2020 24,279 shares). 195 000 shares were bought at open marke: value
for £2 1m in the year ended 30 June 2017,

Ir the year erdec 30 Jure 2017 the Group established an Emplayee Benefit Trust ("EBT”) for the purposes of satisfying
the exercise of certain share options vestng under tThe Groun's LTIP and SAYE scnemes The Group has accounted for the
ourchase of the shares held by the EBT as Treasury shares and has decucted these from reserves.

During the vear, the Group did rat sell shares (2020, 56,350 shares) to satisfy shares vesting under LTIP schemes. The Group
scld 23,569 shares (2020 114 371 shares) to satisfy shares vesting under SAYE schemes for proceeds of £0.3m (2020 £0.9m).
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26. Share premium
The share premium reserve comprisas the premium received over the nominal value of shares issued.

27. Analysis of movement in liabilities from financing activities

Ax1luly Lyt s on MNon-casn At 30 June

7020 Casb tlow Mow leises cisaosen leases MoVErTent 2021

Group £ i cm £rm £m Em
Right-of-use lease liabilities (986) 171 (154} 21 (4.0) (98.8)
Borrowings on 01 — —_ - —
Bank loans (83.5) 10 — - 1.4 (83.9)
Total liahilities from financing activities (182 2) 18.2 (15.4} 21 (5.4) (182.7}

Liabnies on

&7 July adorton and Lian hbes on MNon-casn AL 30 June

27019 sk flow new leasas Jdisposed leases ~ovament 2020

Groups i £ £im £rm fim £
Right-of-use lease liabilities — 183 (Mm2.8} — (4.0 (986)
Borrowings {0.3) 0.7 — — — o
Bank loans (14.2 317 — — (10} (835)
Total liabilities from financing activities {114.5) 50.2 Mz 8) — (51 {(182.2)

Non-cash movements on right-of-use assets mainly compnise interest on ngnt-of-use lease liabilities. Non-cash movements
oh borrowings and Bank loans mainly include amortisation of 1ssue costs on bank loans, bank debt acquired and transfars
between categories of borrowings.

28. Cash flow generated from operations

Groun Company
2021 2020 200 202G
£m £ £m “m
Profit/(loss) for the year 19.3 57 {0.5) (0.4}
Taxation 13.8 42 - —
Total finance costs 7.0 86 - —
Amortisation of intangible assets 238 222 —_ —
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets! 24.3 2472 — —
Increase in inventories (0.4} 1.4} — —
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (3.4) 285 (0.7) 473
{Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (5.2) 15 — —
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (1.1) 50 - —
Share option expense 2.2 09 - —
Exceptional items! - 54 — —
Total net cash flow generated from/{used in) operations 80.3 948 (1.2) 39

1. Imparrmenis in the vear ended 30 June 2020 are shown in excaptional tems
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

29. Guarantees and other financial commitments
Capital commitments
The Group had no capital commitments as at 30 June 2021 (2020: £nil).

Bank guarantees

The Company s a member of the Group's anking arrangement. under which it 1s party to unlimited cross-guarantees
in respect of the banking facilines of other Group undertakings, amounting 1o £175.0m at 30 June 2021 (2020: £175.0m).
The Directors do not expect any matenal loss to the Comobany to arise in respect of the guarantees.

Contingent liabilities
A letter of support has been provided to certain subsiciaries indicating the intention of the Company to support them,
if required, for a period of a mimmum of twelve months from the aate of signing their financial statements.

30. Pension schemes

The Group contnibutes to certain employees’ personai pension schemes in accordance with therr service contracts. The
amounts are charged to the income staternent as they fall due. The amounts charged during the year amounted to £5.0m
(2020: £4 5m). The amount outstanding at the year-end included in trade and other payables was £0.9m (2020:; £0.8m),

31. Events after the reporting period

On 19 August 2021, the Group completea the purchase of 100% of the share capital of Quality Pet Care Limited, a cornpany
registerad in England and Wales, for considerauon of £20.4m This i1s a business comprising eight companion animal veterninary
practice sites ac-oss the UK, aligned with the Group’s strategic goals. Further information can be found in note 15

32. Related party transactions
Drectors” and Key Management's compensation is disclosad in note 8.

Company
During the year the Company had the following transactions with CVS (UK} Limited:
2021 2070
£m Em
Recharge of exnenses incurred by GVS (UK) Limited on oshalf of the Companry (0.5) (0.4
Cash advanced to fund payment of dividend - (39
The following balances were owed by related companies:
2021 J0U%
Receivable Payable Recawable Payable
£m £m £m jalas]
CVS (UK} Limited 82.3 — 816 —

Amounts owed by CVS (UK) Limited are unsecured and interest free and have no fixed date of repayment.

Transactions with Directors and key management

During the vear, no dividends were paid to the Directors of the Group (2020: The following dividends were paid to the
Directors: R Connell - £3.954, D Kemp ~ £381, M McCollum - £2,127 R Fairman - £80 and B Jacklin - £40. Dividends were
also paid to the spouse of R Fa rman of £550)

Ultimate controlling party
The Directors consider therg is no Jltimate controlling party
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Five-year history — unaudited
for the year ended 30 June 2021

20m 2020 2010 2018 701}
Em fm £m £m e

Revenue 510.1 4278 4065 3273 2Nn8
Gross profit 2219 1701 1689 1516 1245
Operating profit 401 185 15.6 177 17.2
Finance expense (7.0} (8.6) 39 (38) (27}
Profit before income tax 334 99 1.7 141 14.5
Income 1ax expanse (13.8} (4.2) {35} (3.4) {30}
Profit for the year 19.3 57 82 10.7 nk
EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA 975 71.0 545 476 421
Adiusted profit before income tax 66.2 382 414 36.0 3356
Cash generated from operations 80.3 948 521 467 372
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets {16.6) (12.4) (12.9) (10.7) (12.8)
Proceeds from sale of property. plant and eguipment
and intangible assets 086 — — - —
Repayment of obligations under nght-of-use assets (13.0} (14.2) — — —
Business combinations (net of cash acquired) {19.4} (7.2) (b6.6) (50.3) (46.9)
Loans and borrowings acguired through
business combinations (1.0} — {15) (31) {15}
Taxation paid (13.0} (95) (7.3} {6.2) (5.4}
Interest paid (7.1} (7.0} (3.4) {3n (2.1
Amortisation of debt 1ssue costs (0.4) 10 {0.5) {04) 108)
Proceeds from Ordinary shares 1.2 0] 06 61.0 306
Proceeds from Treasury shares 0.3 0.9 — — —
Purchase of own shares — — — — 20
Exceptional items — (0.7) — — -
Dividends paid — {39 {3.5) (2.9} (21}
Reduction/(increase) in net debt 1.9 399 (330) 310 (6.9)
Year-end net debt 50.2 621 102.0 69.0 1000

Pence 2nnne Perce Pance Pence
Basic earnings per share 273 81 1.6 16.0 185
Adjusted basic earnings per share 751 42.0 487 424 428
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